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Financial Highlights
MBIRE

2022 2021
St - =
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Revenue e 9,614,330 11,755,908
Gross profit EF 1,288,929 3,679,965
Profit for the year FRm=F 423,992 1,821,303
Profit attributable to owners of the Company A &HEA A &G F 420,072 1,768,307
Gross profit margin FF= 13% 31%
Earning per share BRAF
— Basic — EHK RMBO0.268 RMB1.129
AER® 0268t AR 1.1297¢
Total assets BEHE 21,146,284 21,416,855
Net assets BEFE 17,390,864 17,673,840
Liquidity and Gearing REBERRER
Current ratio BN % 1 5.10 3.43
Quick ratio REPLL X 2 4.69 3.07
Gearing ratio BELE 3 0.18 0.17
o
Noté;.r' B
1. Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities. 18 BRI B B ER B B (EAE o
2. Quick ratio is calculated as current assets less inventories divided by current 2. FEI R B S E R R B B (EEE -
liabilities.
3 Gearing ratio is calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets. 3 BB FIRE BEER BERETE -
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHS

To our shareholders,

In 2022, China’s economy, despite under pressure, moved forward and
made steady progress, with an annual GDP growth rate of 3.0%. Judging
from the major macroeconomic indicators, the foundation of economic
stability in China was still solid. However, affected by multiple factors
including severe epidemic prevention and control situation, continuous
decline of the real estate market and abnormal climate changes in certain
areas, cement demand had been sluggish throughout the year, leading
to a downward cement market price trend. All this coupled with rising
production costs driven by increasing coal and electricity prices had caused
the industry's profits to shrink.

For the “dual carbon” goals, 2022 was a year that continued with the
plans/work carried out in the previous years and paved the way for
achieving the goals in the following years. Relevant policies for various
industries were promulgated by local governments after the introduction
of policies at the central government level. The main goals of “carbon
peak” and phased tasks during the “14th Five-Year Plan” and “15th Five-
Year Plan” were clearly set out in the “Building Materials Industry Carbon
Peak Implementation Plan”, while a green, low carbon and healthy
development of the cement industry was promoted with the release of
the “Technical Guidelines for Carbon Emission Reduction in the Cement
Industry”. The cement industry now ranks the second highest in carbon
emission among all industrial industries. It is thus necessary for the industry
to actively respond to the “dual carbon” policy, adjust industrial structure,
accelerate green transformation, and achieve low-carbon development.

Facing such a challenging year, Asia Cement (China) was determined to
move towards a high quality development, and scientifically coordinated
orderly and stable production and operation. By setting synergy between
pollution control and carbon reduction as an important task, the Group
pushed forward works including cement kilns treating waste, ultra-
low emission modification and alternative raw materials and fuels; it
also steadily carried out industrial digitalization, intelligentization, green
mines and green factory construction and planned for the extension
of aggregate industry chain to accelerate the pace of transformation.
Asia Cement (China) adopted a prudent approach in the fight against
COVID-19; it made all-out efforts to protect employees’ life, health and
safety, and continued to invest in public welfare undertakings with an aim
to give back to society.

Affected by the macro environment, Asia Cement (China)’s revenue
in 2022 amounted to RMB9,614,330,000, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 18%. Owing to soaring coal price, the gross operating
profit and net operating profit amounted to RMB1,288,929,000 and
RMB532,702,000, representing year-on-year decreases of 65% and
82% respectively. The gross operating margin and net operating margin
were 13.4% and 5.5% respectively. The Group maintained profitability
thanks to the dedication of the management team, but performance had
dropped significantly compared with that of the same period in 2021.
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Chairman’s Statement F/ERE

Looking into 2023, with effective epidemic prevention and control
measures, and the implementation of the spirit of the 20th National
Congress of the CPC and the Central Economic Work Conference, a new
round of economic boost is expected to start, and the annual GDP growth
rate is estimated to be approximately 5%. With the property market
expected to stabilize after hitting rock bottom and fixed asset investment
sustaining stable growth, cement demand will have strong support for the
entire year, which is conducive to the balance of production and sales in
the cement industry. Coupled with a rebound in cement price and coal
price returning to a reasonable level, the operating efficiency of cement
enterprises will increase when compared with that in 2022.

Under the general trend of “carbon peak”, “carbon neutrality”, energy
transformation and promotion of circular economy, the cement industry
bears a great responsibility for green development in 2023. At the
same time, the degree of digitalization and intelligentization determines
whether the cement industry can enhance its competitiveness and move
towards the long-term goal of high-quality development. In the next few
years, the competition model of the cement industry will change. The
acquisition of mine resources, construction of carbon and consumption
reduction projects, and promotion of a high integration of energy saving
and intelligence will become the key to sustainable development and
competition. Enterprises might be eliminated from the market if they
cannot adapt fast enough to cope with the changes.

Asia Cement (China) will proactively face the opportunities and challenges
brought forth by changes in the macro environment. It will focus on
innovation and sustainability, and reset its business mindset. In the next
five years, the Group plans to concurrently carry out production capacity
expansion, safety and environmental protection, internal improvement
and development of non-business activities. For instance, the Group
will achieve the goal of “40, 20, 10" million tonnes for production
capacity of cement, aggregates and products; advanced digitalization
and intelligentization that will empower the Group to realise low-
carbon environmental protection transformation and energy saving,
emission and consumption reduction technological modification; all the
cement and clinker production lines will meet the environmental grade
A standard. The Group will optimize the existing logistics and improve its
distribution center capacity to expand market coverage. The Group will
also comprehensively raise its awareness of corporate social responsibility
and actively work with the government in the construction of “Zero-
Waste City”. Adhering to the main theme of high-quality development,
the Group pays high regard to comprehensive talent cultivation, continues
to develop new competitive edges and core competitiveness, create
trends and new situations, achieves a quality, efficient and sustainable
development of the Group, and strives to create long-term value for
customers, employees and society!
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Vice Chairman’s Statement

BIERHE

Facing multiple unexpected factors such as sporadic outbreaks in various
areas and extreme heat in 2022, the government coordinated epidemic
prevention and control as well as economic and social development to
maintain macroeconomic stability. The cement industry was affected
by the continuous decline in the real estate market and increasing
downward pressure on the economy and other factors, which led to an
unprecedented plunge in demand. All this coupled with the rising prices of
raw materials and coal caused the industry’s profits to decline significantly.

Despite encountering a series of severe and complex challenges, Asia
Cement (China) had shown great sangfroid in response. Adhering to
scientific coordination, the Group stabilized production and operation
in various aspects. Internally, the Group focused on talent management,
accumulated development momentum, formulated employee license/
certification management measures, timely adjusted leave policy,
carried out online and offline dual-mode training management, and
stimulated employee’s innovation and vitality. Externally, the Group fine-
tuned its market position, strengthened study and analysis of market
situation, reset its business strategy’s focus back to market share, actively
developed markets such as Jiangling in Hubei, enhanced promotion and
sales of packaged cement, expanded market coverage, increased end
market dominance and customer engagement. Spurred on by the “dual
carbon” targets, Asia Cement (China) has been upholding the concept
of sustainable development; it deeply integrated ESG into the Group's
strategic development, continued to carry out air pollution and emission
reduction facility modification, and researched on the use of grinding
aids, composite powder blending and other technologies to reduce the
proportion of cement clinker, pushed forward the production of low-
carbon cement, further promoted the upgrading and modification of
desulfurization and denitrification systems to reduce the emission of
NOy, SO, and other air pollutants. In terms of alternative fuels, the Group
implemented circular economy, by using cement kilns to treat industrial
solid waste, increasing the proportion of industrial waste residues and
converted by-products to replace natural minerals as raw material,
reducing coal consumption and stepping up efforts in energy conservation
and carbon reduction. While improving its operations, the Group also
followed closely the progress of digital development; it accelerated the
pace of intelligent transformation of its production by establishing an
intelligent energy management system and used digital technology to
escalate industrial progress; all this continued to facilitate the development
of the Group.

The cement industry is currently in the doldrums. The task of achieving
high-quality development of the industry is imminent. From the
“Comprehensive Work Plan for Energy Conservation and Emission
Reduction for the 14th Five-Year Plan” to the “Implementation Guidelines
on Energy Conservation, Carbon Reduction Modification and Upgrades in
Key Areas for Industries with High Energy Consumption” and the “Building
Materials Industry Carbon Peak Implementation Plan”, the green and
low-carbon development path of the cement industry has been further
elaborated and further advancement has been made.
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Vice Chairman’s Statement Bl ¥ &

Looking into 2023, the State Council has issued the Outline of Strategic
Planning for Expanding Domestic Demand (2022-2035), which sets
the restoration and expansion of domestic demand as its top priority.
With the adjustment of the epidemic prevention and control policy, the
external influence of restricted consumption has been removed, and
the necessity for infrastructure to boost the economy will be weakened;
this coupled with the sharp rise in coal and electricity prices will put the
industry’s profitability to the test. However, as various departments have
issued favorable real estate policies, the real estate industry is expected
to recover. In addition, the release of new production capacity in the
industry is not as fast as expected, while the efforts put in off-peak season
production has been stepped up; meanwhile, corporate mergers and
acquisitions have accelerated, environmental protection and low carbon
requirements continue to increase, and both supply and demand sides
have improved. Industry’s profit is likely to show significant improvement.

In 2023, Asia Cement (China) will focus on environmental protection,
digitalization, and intelligentization. With people as its foundation, the
Group will unswervingly implement innovation-driven development,
promote green and low-carbon development, and constantly create new
development momentum and new competitive edges to achieve strong
principal business, develop new business, strive to be a national first-class
company, and embark on a new journey of high-quality development.
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CEQO’s Report
TSRS

In 2022, the cement industry faced unprecedented challenges. Although
infrastructure investment increased significantly, its growth was hampered
by the property industry and hence its support to the cement demand was
weak. Moreover, sporadic outbreaks and extreme weather also caused
demand to remain stagnant. Cement output hit new lows in recent years.
The price of coal fluctuated at high levels for the entire year, leading to
high production costs. The industry’s profits decreased drastically, and was
expected to drop by over 50% in 2022.

During the year under review, Asia Cement (China)’s 15 kilns produced
23.63 million tonnes of clinker, representing a year-on-year decrease of
3%, and 24.61 million tonnes of cement (including slag powder). The
total sales volume amounted to 28.24 million tonnes, including 24.04
million tonnes of cement, 3.94 million tonnes of clinker, 0.26 million
tonnes of slag powder, and representing a slight decrease from that of the
previous year. The Group’s cement price decreased by RMB55 per tonne
year-on-year to RMB324 per tonne (excluding tax). The unit cost of coal
consumption increased from RMB1,009 per tonne in the previous year to
RMB 1,284 per tonne (excluding tax).

Asia Cement (China)’s revenue for 2022 amounted to RMB9,614,330,000,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 18%, with gross operating profit
and net operating profit of RMB1,288,929,000 and RMB532,702,000,
representing year-on-year decreases of 65% and 82% respectively. The
gross operating margin and net operating margin were 13.4% and 5.5%
respectively, representing substantial decreases from those of the same
period last year.

In 2022, in view of the increasing pressure faced by high energy
consumption industries to transform under the “dual carbon” policy, the
cement industry seized the opportunities to accelerate the planning for
mineral reserves and aggregate business; industry players had reached
the consensus on transformation to new energy business, and started
to formulate plans for photovoltaic and energy storage businesses and
stepped up efforts in the field of new energy, while being proactive in
transforming and upgrading to increase operating efficiency. In response
to the severe and complicated situation, the Group had dedicated its
efforts to the following areas:

1.  MANAGEMENT

Adhering to its people-oriented philosophy, the Group regards its
people as the most important asset. The Group had implemented
the strategy of “talented workforce, strong company” by
continuing to optimize its incentive mechanism and stimulate
people’s innovation and vitality, so as to support high quality
development.

The Group also formulated “employee licence/certification
management measures”. Should an employee'’s licence/certification
be used by the Company, the employee shall receive allowance
in accordance with the type of licence/certification used by the
Company. Such is aimed to motivate employees to obtain licence/
certification. This could increase the income of employees, while
helping the Company to improve its qualification list and thus
increase its competitiveness.
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CEQ's Report THABE 5

To strengthen communication between the Company and its
employees, develop harmonious labour relations, enrich employees’
benefits and life outside work, and improve cohesiveness of the
Company, the staff unions of the Group’s subsidiaries were active
in carrying out various related activities and continued to fine-tune
the management system.

In view of the recurring epidemics in 2022, the Group, in
accordance with the state and local government’s requirements,
made timely adjustment to the leave policy during the epidemic,
thus addressing the issues of employees’ taking leave and
safeguarding staff’s legal rights.

The outbreak had made it no easy task to arrange off-line training.
Nevertheless, the Group, against all odds, completed the phase
two elite training, grooming a new batch of mid-level and top-
level managers and replenishing the talent pool. Simultaneously,
the Group actively explored online training approach, e.g. English
training, safety training, etc. Satisfactory results were obtained
from these training programs, which laid a solid foundation for the
Company to diversify the mode of training in future.

BUSINESS

The Group’s business strategy was kept flexible to respond to
competition, and seizing market share was its top priority. The
Group strengthened study and analysis of market situations,
rationally controlled the pace of production and sales, deepened
strategic cooperation with key customers, increased end market
dominance, and supervised all subsidiaries to get back to the
cement-based core strategy.

The Group reformed its sales employees’ bonus system. It abolished
the bonuses granted according to the receipt of payment/sales
revenue generated and used sales volume as the measurement
for performance, thereby encouraging sales employees to increase
sales volume.

The Group also actively adapted to modern sales methods by
innovating and upgrading its customer APP. It transformed the
traditional sales and marketing method of cement and focused on
end users. The Group developed new functions according to end
users’ feedback, thus achieving swift and effective customer service
response.

Fine-tuning market planning and expanding market coverage.
To cope with intensifying market competition, the Group fully
leveraged its geographic advantage along the Yangtze River
and Ganjiang River. It had developed Jiangling market in Hubei,
enhanced the promotion of bagged cement, actively enlarged
market coverage and strengthened cohesiveness in marketing.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, LOW
CARBON AND INTELLIGENTIZATION

Under the guidance of the “dual carbon” policy, the industry has
reached the consensus on low carbon development. The Group
has also accelerated its progress in green development, achieving
green and low carbon development through a wider scope, at
greater depth, and at a higher level.

With respect to reducing air pollutant emissions, the Group
effectively lowered dust emission by carrying out emission and dust
reduction modification such as fully enclosed belt conveyor retrofit,
fully enclosed storage silo retrofit, modification of the spray system
in silos to prevent dust emissions. The Group continued to invest
in the green upgrade and modification of cement production
lines. Through pursuing alternative raw materials, final production
process environmental management, centralizing heating
systems, demolishing boilers and utilizing residual heat, the Group
reduced nitrogen oxide emission and persevered with harmonious
development with the Nature.

The Group advocates circular economy. It used industrial waste
in the mixture of raw meal, increased the proportion of industrial
waste and converted by-products used in production to replace
natural minerals as raw material, so as to reduce reliance on
natural mineral resources. The Group adhered to the development
based on the concept of using waste and converted alternative
fuel; it assisted local governments to treat various wastes,
including industrial solid waste from the paper industry, domestic
waste, municipal sludge, limestone powder waste, water-based
drill cuttings, etc., and treated 73,000 tonnes during the entire
year, thus greatly enhancing the utilization rate of resources and
effectively facilitating green and sustainable development.

Against the backdrop of “Made in China 2025" policy, the smart
transformation of the construction industry has been accelerating.
The Group escalated the progress of smart transformation of its
production; it built a smart energy management system by starting
with energy saving and consumption reduction; and based on the
energy management system, it developed intelligent projects. The
Group continued to develop and build data analysis platforms, and
established smart factories with Asia Cement’s characteristics.

2022 saw an unprecedented plunge in cement demand. The
annual production volume dropped to its lowest in almost 10
years, and industry’s profits declined significantly. Looking into
2023, with the adjustment in epidemic prevention and control
measures, a new round of economic boosts is expected to start;
infrastructure investment will grow rapidly, while the property
sector is expected to stabilize after hitting rock bottom; factors
such as the normalization of off-peak season production, carbon
peak and electricity restriction will help suppress cement supply;
the industry’s profitability is expected to significantly improve.
The Group is fully confident in seizing the prevailing development
opportunities; it will push forward the implementation of its
transformation and upgrade strategy; it will be audacious in
making changes, create new situations and achieve great results to
give back to shareholders and the public.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBERE 2

1.

BUSINESS REVIEW:

(1

Macro perspectives of China and the industry:

2022 witnessed the cumulative impact of 100-year unseen
great changes and a pandemic of the century. The domestic
economy continued to be hit hard by numerous unexpected
factors including multiple outbreaks, extreme weather of
severe heatwave, etc. The pressure of declining demand,
supply disruption and expected weakening of the economy
continued to evolve, while the level of complexity, severity
and uncertainty of the development environment increased.
Facing internal and external challenges, the entire country
strove to maintain continual development of the national
economy despite under pressure. As a result, China’s gross
domestic product (“GDP”) reached new heights, reflecting
the results of quality development. In 2022, the GDP of
China rose by 3.0% year-on-year to RMB121 trillion,
ranking the world’s second largest and signifying further
growth in China’s comprehensive national strength. The
fundamentals of the national economy’s strong resilience,
enormous potential and vast room to grow, as well as a
positive long-term outlook remained unchanged.

The key national macroeconomic indicators in 2022 in
general were stable. However, the indicators related to
real estate remained weak: China’s fixed asset investment
increased by 5.1% year-on-year; infrastructure investment
increased by 9.4% year-on-year; property development
investment decreased by 10.0% year-on-year; added value
of industries above designated size increased by 3.6%
year-on-year; total profit of industrial enterprises above
designated size decreased by 4.0% year-on-year to RMB8.4
trillion.
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(2)

2022 is a crucial year in the “14th Five-Year Plan” as it links
the previous year and the following years. Since early 2022,
the carrying out of appropriate and forward - looking
infrastructure construction investment had been providing
strong support to boost infrastructure construction
investment. However, affected by the severe downturn
in property investment, coupled with shocks caused by
unexpected factors such as stringent epidemic control
measures, cement demand in 2022 rapidly decreased at an
unprecedented rate, and demand remained low throughout
the year. Demand, in general, was characterized by
“demand not robust during peak season, and even lower
in low season”. On the one hand, low demand led to a
downtrend in cement price for the entire year; on the
other hand, the price of coal (raw material) continued to
rise. Under the downward pressure on price and rising
cost pressure, the phenomenon that the cement industry
continued to realize high profit in recent years was no
longer to be seen, while profits declined significantly. In
2022, the national cement output amounted to 2.12 billion
tonnes, representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.8%;
cement industry profit was expected to be approximately
RMB68 billion, representing a decrease of approximately
60% year-on-year.

In 2022, there were 13 new cement and clinker production
lines in China put into operation, with actual clinker
capacity of 23.188 million tonnes in total, representing a
decrease of 27.3% year-on-year. By geographical region,
11.873 million tonnes of new clinker capacity were put
into operation in Guangxi, which ranked the first in China
in terms of new clinker capacity put into operation; 4.185
million tonnes, 3.41 million tonnes, 2.48 million tonnes and
1.24 million tonnes in Hunan, Shandong, Jiangxi and Tibet
respectively, ranking second to fifth.

Overview of the Group's business:

In 2022, affected by the macroeconomic environment,
downstream demand remained low. Cement price in
China fluctuated and was on a downward trend. The
development trend for the cement industry in 2022 in the
central and downstream regions of the Yangtze River and
Sichuan region, being the two major long-term markets in
which the Group has key operating activities, is as follows:

The central and downstream regions of the Yangtze River:
January and February are traditional off-peak season. After
Spring Festival, industry players along the river began to
shut down their kilns for overhaul, leading to decrease
in clinker inventory; coupled with factors such as rise in
coal price, increase in imported clinker price, clinker price
along the river and downstream region surged rapidly.
Up till mid-March, the price had risen by RMB110 per
tonne, while cement price had increased by RMB30-50
per tonne during this period. In late March, the epidemic
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spread across provinces in the downstream region. Local
governments adopted stringent epidemic control measures,
which caused disruption to road transportation; cement
deliveries dropped and the market soon became glutted.
Major enterprises scrambling for market share began to
cut price to boost sale. Such situation continued up to the
end of June. During this period, the price of clinker saw
an cumulative decrease of approximately RMB150 per
tonne, while cement price dropped by around RMB100-
150 per tonne. Prices had basically reached rock bottom.
In the second half of the year, with the recovery of the
downstream market and the arrival of the traditional
storage cycle of grinding stations, the clinker market
along the Yangtze River showed a recovery in July.
However, no significant improvement was seen in cement
demand, leading to clinker price higher than cement
price. Downstream grinding stations had low incentive to
pick up products; cement price fluctuated and was on a
downward trend. Entering September and October, being
the traditional peak season, enterprises actively raised
cement price by RMB50-80 per tonne to improve profits.
However, cement demand had not been fundamentally
improved, and the price surge could not sustain. Industry
players started to lower price in early December. Before the
Spring Festival, cement prices had declined to their levels in
August, just prior to the price hike.

Sichuan region: Cement demand in the off-peak season of
January and February was low, with selling price decreased
by RMB120 per tonne from its high level. Cement from
outside basically withdrew from the Chengdu market.
Entering March, with nice weather and gradual recovery of
private market demand, operating rate increased gradually.
Shipments from cement enterprises resumed to 80% to
90%, while selling prices rose by RMB60 per tonne. In late
March, cement from outside hit the market again. Local
enterprises gave rebates or discounts to their customers to
maintain stable price. In May, cement demand weakened,
and price gradually decreased. Entering June, which is
a traditional low season, Sichuan experienced extremely
hot weather and droughts. Construction projects at the
sites surrounding Chengdu were hampered, resulting in
continued low demand. This was followed by electricity
rationing and production suspension of industries and
enterprises from July to September as well as unexpected
factors including more stringent epidemic control measures
due to the spread of the epidemic. The recovery of demand
in Chengdu and its neighbouring markets was severely
affected, resulting in market fluctuations. In October,
with the relaxation of epidemic control measures, cement
demand previously suppressed rapidly released after
the holiday. Inventories of local enterprises significantly
reduced. Moreover, the local cement association planned to
promote in November the rigid execution of kiln suspension
among local enterprises (13-14 days for each set). Industry
players in general were optimistic about the subsequent
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market trend, and demand outlook was positive. As such,
in November cement price was pushed up twice, with
a cumulative increase of RMB80 per tonne. However,
since mid-November, there had been sporadic outbreaks.
Cement demand was again adversely impacted. Industry
players executed off-peak season production for the second
time and pushed up the price. In December, Sichuan issued
three orange alerts for severe pollution; this coupled with
the lifting of the “zero-COVID" control, slowdown in the
work progress of a large amount of local projects and the
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continuous influx of low-priced cement from outside into
the local markets had caused the price to move downward.
Up until prior to the Spring Festival, the cement price had
cumulatively decreased by RMB40 per tonne.

In 2022, the Group’s clinker output amounted to 23.63 20224 - REBHAEE2,363
million tonnes, representing a decrease of 3.5% from that BHE - B2021FHA3.5% ' K
of 2021, which was less than the average declining rate NEBEFEHETHRIEE  KEE
of output in China. Total sales volume of cement products mm(KEN AR #SEE2,7988
(cement and clinker) amounted to 27.98 million tonnes, Mg - 8520214F NF£5.2% °

down by 5.2% when compared to that of 2021.

Table 1: Total sales Volume (Unit:’000 tonnes)

£ MRS (EL : TH)

Cement IKJE 24,037 27,337 ®2.1)
Clinker 2t 3,940 2,167 81.8
Blast-furnace slag powder =IETEED 262 325 (19.4)
28,239 29,829 (5.3)
Table 2: Sales volume of cement by region R KiRSEHERET
(Unit:'000 tonnes) (BRI - )

Southeastern region REE 12,245 13,728 (10.8)
Central region AR 4,510 5,765 (21.8)
Southwestern region PislEa] 7,282 7,844 (7.2)

24,037 27,337 (12.1)
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£=  BEWRRKES SR
(BEfL - i)

Table 3: Sales volume of high grade and low grade
cement (Unit:’000 tonnes)

2022
—E_—fF

Sales

volume Percentage Percentage
:4:0) Ee I
WE (%) (%)

High grade cement [SIEYSE 22,851 95 25,889 95
Low grade cement EAZIKE 1,186 5 1,448 5
24,037 100 27,337 100

Table 4: Sales volume of bagged and bulk cement FM : 8#EKEHEHK:
(Unit:’000 tonnes) (BEf - T mg)

2022
—E_HF
Sales
volume Percentage Percentage
24! 1
(%) (%)
- Bulk cement B KR 21,779 91 24,772 91
Bagged cement BEIKE 2,258 9 2,565 9
24,037 100 27387, 100
Operating Results ReExE
Revenue W
The Group's principal business activities are manufacture and sale NREBZFEEKEEBEEERIEE K
of cement, concrete and related products. As shown in the table e BT RMEBER - TR

16

below, for 2022, the Group’s revenue amounted to RMB9,614.3
million, representing a decrease of RMB2,141.6 million or 18%
from RMB11,755.9 million in 2021. The decrease in revenue was
mainly attributable to the decrease in the sales quality and average
selling price of the Group’s products during 2022.

R 2R2FAXAEBZ2REZTREAR
¥ 9,614,300,000 JT © #8 2021 £ A
R ¥ 11,755,900,000 7T 3§ 2 A R #&
2,141,600,0007C 8% 18% ° W zsim 4 =
DHRAEBEREERFHEER
2022F NFEFTER ©

RMB’000

AR¥®TT
Southeastern region g 5,182,554 54 6,135,729 52
Central region RS 1,515,268 16 2,190,460 19
Southwestern region pisfea)i 2,916,508 30 3,429,719 29
9,614,330 100 11,755,908 100

In respect of revenue contribution for 2022, sales of cement
accounted for 81% (2021: 88%) and sales of concrete accounted
for 3% (2021: 3%). The table below is a sales analysis by product
for the reporting period:

M2022FWREBERME - KEHER
1581% (20214F : 88%) * MIEKE T 84
EFHAE3% (20214F : 3%) © i #E
RS HREIRE RS D 2 HEES T
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2022 2021
ol St T

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTIT
Cement IR 7,790,743 81 10,367,972 88
Clinker 2hoet 1,180,834 12 701,551 6
RMC TERREE LT 252,706 3 327,980 3
Blast-furnace slag powder  SJEIEEH 54,633 1 87,209 1
Others HAith 335,414 3 271,196 2
9,614,330 100 11,755,908 100

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit HERARER

The Group’s cost of sales primarily includes cost of raw materials,
fuel expenses (consisting of coal and electricity costs), employee
compensation and benefits, depreciation and amortisation and
other overhead costs. In 2022, the Group’s cost of sales increased
by approximately 3% to RMB8,325.4 million from RMB8,075.9
million in 2021 due to the increase in coal cost.

The gross profit for 2022 was RMB1,289.0 million (2021:
RMB3,680.0 million), with a gross profit margin of 13% (2021:
31%). The decrease in gross profit was mainly attributable to the
sales volume and selling price of the Group's products declined
and the increase in coal cost of the Group’s products compared
with that of the previous year.

Other Income

Other income mainly comprises government grants, transportation
fee income, interest income and sales of scrap materials. For
2022, other income amounted to RMB212.1 million, representing
an increase of RMB38.2 million from RMB173.9 million in 2021.
The increase in other income was attributable to the increase in
government grants and interest income.

Other Expenses, Other Gains and Losses

Other expenses, other gains and losses mainly comprise net foreign
exchange loss, government penalties and related surcharge,
impairment loss on investment in an associate, gains in fair
value of investment properties and loss on disposal/write-off of
property, plant and equipment. For 2022, other expenses, other
gains and losses amounted to RMB31.5 million, representing a
decrease of RMB307.0 million from RMB338.5 million in 2021. The
decrease was principally attributable to the government penalties
and related surcharge and impairment loss on investment in an
associate.

20224 FEHE | EMKIR (PE)EEAT
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Distribution and Selling Expenses, Administrative
Expenses and Finance Costs

The distribution and selling expenses decreased from RMB473.8
million in 2021 to RMB437.2 million in 2022. Mainly attributable
to a decrease in transportation costs and handling charges during
2022.

Administrative costs, including employee compensation and
benefits, depreciation expenses and other general office expenses,
increased by approximately 11%, from RMB288.6 million in 2021
to RMB319.0 million in 2022.

The 10% increase in finance costs was mainly due to the increase
in bank borrowing and interest rate compared to 2021.

Profit before Tax

As a result of the foregoing factors, the profit before tax for
2022 decreased by RMB1,875.8 million, constituting a profit of
RMB689.0 million (2021: profit of RMB2,564.8 million).

Income Tax Expense

In 2022, income tax expense decreased by RMB478.5 million or
approximately 64% to RMB265.0 million, from RMB743.5 million
in 2021.

Non-controlling Interests

In 2022, non-controlling interests amounted to RMB3.9 million,
representing a decrease of RMB49.1 million or approximately
93% compared with RMB53.0 million in 2021, primarily due to a
decrease in profit contribution from Jiangxi Yadong and Wuhan
Yaxin.

Profit for the Year

For 2022, the net profit of the Group amounted to RMB424.0
million, representing a decrease of RMB1,397.3 million from the
profit of RMB1,821.3 million in 2021.
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

The Group maintained a strong financial position for the year ended
31 December 2022. Total assets decreased by approximately 1% to
RMB21,146.3 million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB21,416.9
million), while total equity decreased by approximately 2% to
RMB17,390.9 million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB17,673.8
million).

Bank Balances and Cash

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately RMB8,900.4 million (31 December 2021: RMB7,495.4
million), of which approximately 99% was denominated in RMB, with
the remainder denominated in US dollars and Hong Kong dollars and
Singapore dollars.

Cash Flow

The Group derived its cash inflow from operations primarily through the
receipt of payments for the sale of its cement and concrete products.
The Group’s cash outflow from operations was used primarily for raw
material purchases, payment for fuel and power, distribution costs and
staff salaries. Cash generated from operating activities decreased from
RMB2,498.9 million in 2021 to RMB1,614.7 million in 2022.

The Group's cash inflow from investing activities primarily consisted of
interest income, withdrawal of USD Notes and proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment. The Group’s cash outflow from investing
activities primarily consisted of purchase of financial assets, purchases of
property, plant and equipment. In 2022, cash from investing activities of
the Group amounted to RMB257.3 million (2021: cash from RMB1,394.2
million).

In 2022, the cash from financing activities of the Group amounted to
RMB138.9 million (2021: cash used in RMB2,395.1 million). This was
primarily due to raising of bank borrowings in 2022.

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted
to approximately RMB379.6 million (31 December 2021: RMB347.6
million), and capital commitments as at 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB57.7 million (31 December 2021: RMB44.6 million).
Both capital expenditure and capital commitments were mainly related
to the purchases of plant and equipment for new production lines.
The Group anticipates that such commitments will be funded by future
operating revenue, bank borrowings and other sources of finance as
appropriate.
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Borrowings

The Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are
summarized below:

B8

NEEER2022F 202112 A31 B 2 B E#]
R

As at 31 December

Short-term borrowings EHEE 1,014,000

Long-term borrowings REIEE 1,361,646

Currency denomination FIEE

- RMB —AR# 2,306,000

- US dollars —%7T 69,646

Borrowings BE

- unseclred and unguaranteed  — S K EIER 2,375,646

Interest rate B

— fixed-rate RMB - AREEERBE 1,791,000
bank borrowings

— fixed-rate USD —-ETEBEE 69,646
bank borrowings

— variable-rate RMB —ARKEERBE 515,000

bank borrowings

»+=-A=+—H
2021
—E-—F
RMB’000
ARETIT
43 1,118,299 76
57 350,664 24
97 672,000 46
3 796,963 54
100 1,468,963 100
2.15% to 672,000 3.06% to
3.51% 3.15%
2.15%EF 3.06% %
3.51% 3.15%
5.09% 796,963 0.67% to
0.70%
0.67%%
0.70%
2.48% to - N/A
3.29% i A
2.48%FE
3.29%

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had unutilized credit facilities in the
amount of RMB9,785.0 million.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
18% (31 December 2021: 17%). The calculation of the gearing ratio was
based on total liabilities and total assets as at 31 December 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not have any pledge or charge on assets as at 31 December
2022.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Board
of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is not aware of any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2021: Nil).

R2022F12A31H » AEBARSHZZER
& B AR #9,785,000,0007T °

R2022F 128318 » AEBEZBELERY A
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Human Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 3,702 employees. The Group
participates in retirement insurance, medicare, unemployment insurance
and housing provident fund scheme according to the applicable PRC laws
and regulations for its employees in the PRC. The Group remunerated
its employees based on their work performance and experience.
Remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

In addition, the Group also adopted the Share Option Scheme, under
which eligible directors and employees are entitled to various share
options to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the Company according to
their past and potential contribution to the growth of the Group, on 27
April 2008. The Share Option Scheme was expired on 26 April 2018.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries and
Affiliated Companies

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no significant investment,
material acquisitions or disposals for the year ended 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: Nil).

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Group’s sales and purchases during the reporting period were mostly
denominated in RMB.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates of RMB
may vary significantly from the current or historical exchange rates as a
result of controls imposed by the PRC government. The exchange rates
may also be affected by economic developments and political changes
domestically and internationally as well as the demand and supply of RMB.
The appreciation or devaluation of RMB against foreign currencies may
have an impact on the operating results of the Group.

The Group currently does not maintain a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the Group’s management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.
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2.

22

BUSINESS PROSPECTS:

(1

Industry challenges

The cement industry in 2023 continues to face various risks
and challenges, arising from the following:

First, the property sector remains weak. It still takes time
for market demand to release. As at the end of 2022,
various departments and regulatory bodies promulgated
favourable policies for the property sector. Efforts to
stabilize the property market are expected to be strong. The
favourable financial measures will provide strong support to
property developers. However, the existing policies mostly
focus on “ensuring timely deliveries of presold homes”,
ensuring supply and construction and completion of quality
projects. It is expected that it would not be easy for the
property market to reverse from a downturn. In 2022, the
newly started residential area across the country declined
by 39.4% year-on-year; land acquisition area decreased
by 53.4% year-on-year (data source: National Bureau of
Statistics). Transaction area of the land auction market
significantly reduced. The newly started area in 2023 will
continue to be affected. It is expected that in 2023, the
property sector will remain the biggest drag on cement
demand but its adverse impact will lessen when compared
with that in 2022.

Second, the supply-demand imbalance poses the biggest
issue for the industry. Cement demand in 2022 remained
sluggish; simultaneously, despite the continued optimization
of the industry’ s capacity structure, the total cement
capacity remained high. The problem of excess capacity
became more severe. In 2022, cement and clinker capacity
utilization rate was excepted to be around 65%, which was
10 percentage points lower than 2021 (data source: Digital
Cement). From a long-term perspective, as the structure of
the national economic development continued to optimise,
the trend of a steady decline for cement demand will
become the future normal. The entire industry will face the
grave challenge of excessive capacity.

Third, enterprises continue to find themselves under cost
pressure. The price of coal and other raw material had
once surged to RMB1,600 per tonne in 2022. The cement
industry faced tremendous business pressure. Although
the coal price gradually decreased to RMB1,200 per tonne
since November, it was still at a historic high. Moreover,
extreme weather may occur again in 2023. There is still
the risk of coal price going up again. Meanwhile, energy
consumption, safety, environmental protection, carbon
emission reduction requirements continue to increase,
driving enterprises to increase investment in technological
modification. Against the backdrop of a weakening cement
demand, it remains a big challenge for cement enterprises
with regard to whether they could successfully shift their
costs to downstream successfully.
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(2)

Industry trend

Despite various risks and challenges facing demand and
supply, there are also numerous positive factors. Challenges
and opportunities coexist in 2023. The Group maintains
a cautiously optimistic attitude. The main positive factors
include the following two points:

On the demand side, it is expected that cement demand in
general in 2023 will decline. However, the rate of decline
will narrow when compared with 2022. In view of the entire
year, cement demand will remain low at the beginning
and rise later, weak at the start and become stronger
later. Although it will take some time for demand from
the property sector to recover, infrastructure construction
investment maintained rapid growth in the previous year
and, since the fourth quarter, macroeconomic policy has
continued to be supportive. Market demand for building
materials such as cement and steel is expected to continue
to grow in the coming year. With further opening up of
financing channels for infrastructure projects, infrastructure
construction will become one of the important drivers
of economic growth in 2023. Infrastructure demand is
expected to remain robust, which will help lift cement
demand.

On the supply side, it is expected that environmental
protection and low carbon policies in 2023 will continue
to deepen. Factors such as “normalisation of off — peak
season production”, “carbon peak”, “power restrictions”
remain effective in suppressing cement supply in most of
the regions, further adding cost pressure on backward
enterprises. With the decline in cement demand in 2022,
the industry realized that the original scale of restricting
cement production was hard to make significant
improvement in the prevailing market disequilibrium. It is
expected that in 2023 off-peak season production policies
in different areas will emphasise greater efforts to be
made in kiln suspension. This will accelerate the phase-
out of obsolete capacity in an intensely competitive market
environment. Clinker replacement projects will further
reduce. Cement price for the whole year is likely to recover
slightly, while industry profits is expected to remain stable.
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(3)

The Group’s outlook:

The Group expects that the overall cement market will
continue to decline in 2023. However, such decline will
significantly narrow, especially in the second half of the
year, with the gradual implementation of key construction
projects and the release of various favourable real estate
policies. Cement demand is expected to stabilize and
industry profits will improve slightly.

Considering various factors including economic situation,
market demand and industry supply, the Group plans to
sell 28.10 million tonnes of cement products (cement and
clinker) in 2023, which is almost the same amount as 27.98
million tonnes in 2022.

In 2023, the Group will continue to adhere to the
operational strategies of high efficiency, high quality,
excellent service, high environmental protection and low
cost. The Group will uphold emphasis on customer services,
enhance customer service efforts and customers experience;
continue to promote cost efficiency, and increase brand
competitiveness under the premise of product quality
assurance. The Group will also flexibly adjust sales
strategies, improve employee incentive mechanism, secure
sales channels, and consolidate its share in core markets.
As an ambitious, innovative and sustainable international
company with strong fundamentals, Asia Cement (China)
will embrace its longstanding corporate culture of “Integrity,
Diligence, Austerity, Prudence and Innovation”, and create
greater value for the country, society, shareholders and
employees with its outstanding performance.
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Corporate Governance Report

EREIWE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices to safeguard the interests of the Company’s
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. These
can be achieved by an effective Board, segregation of duties with clear
accountability, sound internal control, appropriate risk assessment
procedures and transparency to all the shareholders.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to ensuring
that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and
developing robust corporate governance practices that are intended to
ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded,

- that overall business risk is understood and managed appropriately;
and

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the satisfaction
of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

The Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry with each
of the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year
under review. Details of the shareholding interests held by the Directors as
at 31 December 2022 are set out in pages 55 to 56 of this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the business strategy,
reviewing and monitoring the business performance of the Group,
approving the financial statements and annual budgets as well as
directing and supervising the management of the Company. Execution
of operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated to the
management by the Board with clear directions.

The Board has a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors to ensure independent viewpoints in all discussions. The Board
currently comprises of eleven Directors, including six executive Directors,
one non-executive Director and four independent non-executive Directors.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, Board members are listed
below:

Executive Directors

Mr. HSU, Shu-ping (Vice Chairman)

Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung

Mr. LEE, Kun-yen

Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LIN, Seng-chang

Ms. WU, Ling-ling

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic
Mr. WANG, Wei

Mr. LEE, Kao-chao

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming

Biographical information of the Directors is set forth on pages 44 to 49 of
this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with the
Company, Mr. HSU, Shu-ping has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 13 March 2020,
each of Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung, Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen and Mr. LIN,
Seng-chang has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years commencing on 27 April 2020, Ms. WU, Ling-ling has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 1 April 2022, and Mr. LEE, Kun-yen has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
on 10 June 2022, all of which may be terminated in accordance with the
provisions of the service contract by either party giving to the other not
less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

The Company has issued an appointment letter to Mr. HSU, Shu-tong,
non-executive Director, for a term of three years commencing on 27 April
2020, which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof
by either party giving to the other not less than one month’s prior notice
in writing.
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The Company has issued an appointment letter to each of the independent
non-executive Directors for a term of three years. The Company has issued
an appointment letter to Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic, Mr. WANG, Wei,
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao and Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming commencing on 7 April
2020, 13 April 2021, 13 April 2021 and 1 October 2021 respectively, all
of which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof by
either party giving to the other not less than two months’ prior notice in
writing.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence and the
Company considers each independent non-executive Director to be
independent. To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
individual non-executive Director who has served on the Board for more
than nine years will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
shareholders.

Mr. TSIM, Tak-Lung Dominic has served as a director of the Company
for more than 9 years. As independent non-executive Director with an
in-depth understanding of the Group’s operations and business, he has
expressed objective views and provided reliable independent guidance to
the Company over the years and continues to demonstrate commitment
to his role as independent non-executive Director. In view of this, the
Board considers that the long-term service of this director would not affect
his exercise of independent judgement.

The independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors
have attended general meeting of the Company to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the view of the Shareholders.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement or
further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what actions
of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board
performance, for instance, addressing individual training and development
needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board
will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board Independence
Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board which will collectively
discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if appropriate.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, all Directors has completed
the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually
and supplemented by individual interviews. The Board Independence
Evaluation Report was presented to the Board and the evaluation results
were satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. To ensure a balance of power and
authority, the Company has appointed Mr. HSU, Shu-tong as Chairman
and Mr. CHANG Chen-kuen as Chief Executive Officer.

The relationship between the Board members is disclosed on page 53 of
this annual report.

The Chairman of the Board held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors during the year.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. All Directors,
including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The Group’s
senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Group's business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation,
business development, finance, marketing, and operations.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly in person or by means of electronic
communication. The Board planned to meet at least four times a year
and four meetings were held in 2022. Regular board meetings scheduled
at the beginning of the year to give all Directors adequate time to plan
their schedules to attend. Directors received at least 14 days’ prior written
notice of regular Board meetings and an agenda. The Board resolutions,
including supporting analysis and relevant background information, were
sent to all Directors at least three days before the Board meeting. For
other Board meetings, Directors were given as much notice as possible in
the circumstances.

The table below sets out the details of Board meeting attendance of each
Director in 2022.

Director

EEEER

S THANSE HEFRIHFEREE
BB ART - EERFEBFRIVET
MREE  MN20202F28ROAEH - &
ZERABNFNLE UETERESR
EEERFLERHEER EFERNEFSER
SHRBTRIRD TR RS R MEE
EEERER  BEXBINTIERERE
B —RREEEGRBTARL=ZRERE
BEE -PHMEFEEEME - ARFHN
ARBATERFRNRES -

TR0 ZEFHREFTERLF

=

Number of Board
meetings attended

EEg
HlmHERB

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong BIBRSTE 4/4
Mr. HSU, Shu-ping BBFEE 4/
Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung RA S E 4/4
Dr. WU, Chung-lih (retired on 10 June 2022) KRep 718 (2022F6 A108RE) 2/4
Mr. LEE, Kun-yen (appointed on 10 June 2022)  ZEHiA %4 (2022466 A 10 B {E8%) 2/4
Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen RIRE AL 4/4
Mr. LIN, Seng-chang MABRE 4/4
Ms. WU, Ling-ling RI#EL+ 4/4
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEELA 4/4
Mr. WANG, Wei FREE 4/4
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao FatE 4/4
Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming TEIERIE L 4/4

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests due to a substantial shareholder or a
Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. The Company's articles of association (the
“Articles”) also contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

According to Article 86 of the Articles, any Director appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to re-election by the shareholders
at the first general meeting after their appointment and any Director
appointed as an addition to the existing Board should be subject to re-
election by the shareholders at the next following general meeting after
their appointment. According to Article 87 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at annual general meeting at least once every three years.

The non-executive Director is engaged on an appointment letter for a term

of three years and shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every
three years.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

The Company will provide a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
to each of the newly appointed Directors on his/her first appointment
in order to enable him/her to have an appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and to be fully aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Directors
are continually updated on developments in the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. The Company has provided timely technical updates,
including the briefing on the amendments on the Listing Rules and the
news release published by the Stock Exchange to the Directors.

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

The individual training record of each Director received for financial year
ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

557
AARABREUHEEESEAE - RBHt2
B EXFHARMR AR - UE%E
FHADRZ EBREEDEEE Z2R - U
REDERHANE ETRARAEWEERTE
FER 2 BAERER -

ARPBBAEES2EBBEFEEER - U
R E 2 R B RE - EEISEELREM
ERNEEREZBR - ANEBIRRZ &
Bl - UipBIEITEEE - ARBEIE RERMH
RATE# - BRAESEE EHRANETZHE
R S B S P T B B ER R

FR - ARAREIREEBESHEAREEE
B E R MR AR RO R -

REZE202F N2 AN BIFEREEETE
Sz EAGEREHIIT

Type of CPD

Directors FHREXZREN
Executive Directors BITESR
Mr. HSU, Shu-ping TRIBF ek AandB AJB
Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung SRAMEEE AandB AJB
Dr. WU, Chung-lih (retired on 10 June 2022) K718 (2022F6 A108RE) B B
Mr. LEE, Kun-yen (appointed on 10 June 2022)  Z=3hk %4 (202246 A 10 H {£E%) AandB AKB
Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen RIRE L AandB AKB
Mr. LIN, Seng-chang MAZSLE B B
Ms. WU, Ling-ling R+ AandB AKXB
Non-executive Director FRTESE
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong BRIBRSTE AandB AKB
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFERITES
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEELA B B
Mr. WANG, Wei FREE B B
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao FRRAKE B B
Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming TEIRRIE L B B

Notes: Wit

A attending briefings/seminars/forums/workshops/conference relevant to the ~ A: HEEMEBRESRE 2 MRS Mg/

business or directors’ duties wiE/ T &
B: reading regulatory updates on laws, rules and regulations relating to directors’ B : REAHEEAERBANER  RAKER

roles and functions

HEE FIREHER
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the internal audit division or
external auditor before submission to the Board;

To review the relationship with the external auditor by reference
to the work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor; and

To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Audit Committee include:

making recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of
the external auditors, as well as approving the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors;

reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;

monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company and the Company’s annual report and accounts, interim
report and quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgments contained in such reports; and

overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to, review of financial control, risk management and
internal control systems, consideration of actions to be taken in
respect of any findings of major investigations of risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or at its
own initiative and management'’s response thereto, and review of
the Group'’s financial and accounting policies and practices.

The Audit Committee comprises of Mr. HSU, Shu-tong who is a non-
executive Director and Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic and Mr. LEE, Kao-chao
who are independent non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is
chaired by Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic.
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Four meetings of the Audit Committee were held with the management
and/or the external auditors in 2022. Members of Audit Committee
attendance at committee meetings held during their term of office are
listed below:

Committee members

Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic (chairman) EEE LA (EE)
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong BRIBRSCE
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao TEELE

R2022F ZRITMRGH - EEE R I
HMEBESELELT S c BRLZEENE
HETHMRBITZZESERIBERNT

Number of
Audit Committee
Meetings

attended/held
EREAT
EEHE S2THE

4/4
4/4
4/4

A set of written terms of reference, which described the authority and
duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by the Board on 16 March
2012 and amended on 28 December 2015 and the contents of which are
in comp,lia]pce with the CG Code. The said terms of reference of the Audit
Con;frifftee adopted by the Board are available on Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited’s (“HKEx") website at www.hkexnews.hk and on the
Company’s website at www.achc.com.cn.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration ‘policy and
structure and remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the
senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
establishing transparent procedures for formulating such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the individual
and the operating results of the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Remuneration Committee include:

- making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management, and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent process for developing the remuneration policy;

- determining the specific remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior management, as well as making
recommendations to the Board in relation to the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

- reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time; and
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- ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee comprises of Mr. HSU, Shu-tong who
is @ non-executive Director and Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic and Dr.
WANG, Kuo-ming who are independent non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming.

One meeting was held in 2022. Members of Remuneration Committee

attendance at committee meeting held during their term of office are
listed below:

Committee members

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming (chairman) TERABL(EE)
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong BRBREE
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEEELE

- R EE R 2 T REEA
ETEARG 2 F

FHZE S RRIFMTEERBRAENARE
UIFMTERERELE R TEAE L - ZHH
ZEEMIEABLEETR -

R20N2FEBRIT—REgZ FIETHWEZES
MELERERARTZZESSHRBRAN
T~

Number of
Remuneration
Committee
Meetings

attended/held
FHZEAE
TRHE BTH

1M
11
11

A set of written terms of reference, which described the authority and
duties of the Remuneration Committee, was adopted by the Board
on 16 March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance
with the CG Code. The said terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee adopted by the Board are available on the HKEx's website at
www.hkexnews.hk and on the Company’s website at www.achc.com.cn.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Full disclosure of remunerations of Directors with disclosure by name,
amount and type is set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

The remuneration of the members of senior management by bands in
2022 is set out below:
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128 E 2 S - SENERTARE -

BREEEKRBER2022F M E B E 5| 0
B

Number of

persons

Remuneration bands A8

HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T —1,500,000/5 7T 2

HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 7T —2,500,000/8 7T 1
20204 FEHRE | THiMKIR (B R AT 33



Corporate Governance Report (> ¥ &4 E

INDEPENDENCE COMMITTEE

The primary functions of the Independence Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board in relation to the connected
transactions of the Group.

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Independence Committee include:

reviewing all transactions between the Group, Asia Cement
Corporation, Far Eastern New Century Corporation and Far Eastern
Group to ensure that they are conducted on normal commercial
terms and in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, and to recommend to the Board the corrective measures
in such transactions if needed or not to proceed with such
transactions;

establishing, where applicable, guidelines for management to
follow in its ongoing transactions between the Group, Asia Cement
Corporation, Far Eastern New Century Corporation and Far Eastern
Group;
5l
- reviewing and assessing ongoing relationships between the Group,
Asia Cement Corporation, Far Eastern New Century Corporation
and Far Eastern Group to ensure compliance with the Committee’s
guidelines established as aforesaid and to ensure the continuation
of such relationship remains fair to the Group; and

analyzing and assessing any potential conflict of interests between
the Group, Asia Cement Corporation, Far Eastern New Century
Corporation and Far Eastern Group.

The Independence Committee comprises of Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic,
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao and Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming who are independent non-
executive Directors. The Independence Committee is chaired by Mr. LEE,
Kao-chao.

One meeting of the Independence Committee was held in 2022. Members

of Independence Committee attendance at committee meeting held
during their term of office are listed below:

Committee members

Mr. LEE, Kao-chao (chairman) ek E(EE)
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEELA
Dr. WANG Kuo-ming TEIRAE L
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11
11
11
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transaction” in the Director’s Report, no additional ongoing relationships
or potential conflict was identified during the year.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

° To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
make recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

o To identify suitable candidates for appointment as Directors;

o To make recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of and succession planning for Directors; and

o To assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision.

During the year under review, a summary of the work carried out by the
Nomination Committee include:

- assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

- recommending to the Board on the re-election of Directors; and

- reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, to recommend to the Board the proposed
changes to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee comprises of Mr. HSU, Shu-tong who is a
non-executive Director, and Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic and Mr. WANG,
Wei who are independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. HSU, Shu-tong.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the authority and
duties of the Nomination Committee, was amended and adopted by the
Board on 1 September 2013 and the contents of which are in compliance
with the CG Code. The said terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee adopted by the Board are available on the HKEx's website at
www.hkexnews.hk and on the Company’s website at www.achc.com.cn.

2022 FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDEZE AT

BEFERMEHEMER S| —HRBE -
A5 B PO R BT T E A R R B R
fEflze -

REZEE
REZARHITWENT -

. BEEERMRIE  RERAKKE - I
SMEMERNESRLER

. MESBENAEBAZERES

. RESNSERELRGEHEIAES
GiH R

. FHEBLIFRITESR 2B -

RABEZBEREHNE - &8 - BBe - UARAI
ABFEIMAE 7 LARBTT B 22 R s AR
FEFLETIE - REZESNHBERMER
ERREFSERE

CEFEA  RRREENTIFRGEEE
- EEUIERTEEZBEIEND

-  EEREFREFERARZE K

-  RIEEEAE REEKE  YRA
BEERT > MEFSEZNEEIEY
b=t RPN o= AN RS

RARBEHIIFNTESRBRITEANEL
FRTEZERELEREIREELERK - RI8
REERREZRBEER -

EEER2013F9A1BIEFT REMH—HE
VIRBLZEEBRNINBECERMBESRE -
ERARNEBERMEEATI c EFERN
2 biliiR & B 2 B 6 B n] 12 B A P A U
www.hkexnews hk & & 2 & # U
www.achc.com.cn& i o

35



Corporate Governance Report 1 ¥ & 8RS

One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held in 2022. Members
of Nomination Committee attendance at committee meeting held during
the year are listed below:

Committee members

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong (chairman) BREAE(EE)
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEE LA
Mr. WANG Wei FEEE

R202FBET—REH - MIARKEZES
KREHFERFAZZEEEREBERWT

Number of
Nomination
Committee
Meetings

attended/held
REEAE
EEHE S2THE

171
11
171

Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules requires the Board should have a board
diversity policy. The Nomination Committee has adopted a policy
concerning diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on
25 October 2013 and amended the same on 31 December 2018, which
is ac;iljfi'éx'/e%[ through consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience of the Board members. Annually, the Nomination
Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy and will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such reV|5|Qns to the
Board for consideration and approval.

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. As of
the date of this annual report, there is a total of 1 female and 10 male
directors on the Board of the Group. The Nomination Committee will also
identify suitable female candidate(s) for appointment to the Board on
merit against objective criteria.

The Board had targeted to achieve at least one female Director and
appropriate balance of female employees at all level of the Group and
considers that the Company’s current gender diversity is satisfactory.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a Director Nomination Policy on 31 December 2018
setting out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment
of Directors of the Company and ensure that the Board of the Company
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the Company, and also ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination
Committee should consider criteria including but not limited to character
and integrity, qualifications, diversity of the Board, requirement for the
Board to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules,
potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board.

Under the Director Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee should rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate. The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship. Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate governance
duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as follows:

(i) developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements (where
applicable);

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and

compliance manual (if any) applicable to the employees and
Directors; and
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(v) reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG code and disclosure
requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board's annual review of the Company’s corporate governance
practices for the year ended 31 December 2022 has covered the aforesaid
matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for making
sure that the financial statements for each financial year are prepared to
reflect the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash flow
of the Group in compliance with relevant law and disclosure provisions of
the Listing Rules. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and applied them consistently; made judgement and estimates
that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also ensure that the
financial statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.
The statement by the external auditors of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities of the financial statements of the Group is set
forth in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on page 64 of this annual
report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged Tricor Services Limited, an external services
provider, and Ms. Mok Ming Wai (“Ms. Mok"”) has been appointed as the
company secretary of the Company during the year. Ms. Mok's primary
contact person at the Company is Mr. WU Shen-hsin, the Secretariat
officer. During the year 2022, Ms. Mok undertook over 15 hours of
professional training to update her skill and knowledge.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

Note:  On 5 August 2022, Ms. Chow Yuk Yin, Ivy (“Ms. Chow") resigned as the
company secretary of the Company. Immediately after the resignation of Ms.
Chow, Ms. Mok was appointed as the company secretary of the Company with

effect from 5 August 2022.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Group appointed Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Group's
principal external auditor. The acknowledgement of their responsibilities
on the financial statements is set forth in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 65 and 66 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid to Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for services
rendered in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 was as follows:

BR¥ %A B

Service Category

SN R BHED
AEEDEEEY o BERT BT ATE
B2 BINERHA - RERUBRRELH
(2 REN A FRECST6H 2 B KK
R -

HE202F12A831HIEFE  SiZEH e =
PRSI TIRERBRAE S ZEBEnT

2022
-

RMB’000
AR®TR

2021

RMB’000
ARETT

Audit Services EAZ AR 6,000 5,600
Non-audit Services IEEIZ RS 0 0
Total st 6,000 5,600

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and for reviewing its effectiveness. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Annually, the Board, together with the Group’s internal audit department
and management, conduct reviews of the effectiveness of the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems, including those of its
subsidiaries. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and opinion
from the Group’s risk management and internal audit department and
management on the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems, and reports to the Board on such reviews. In
respect of the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board considered the
risk management and internal control systems effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern which might affect Shareholders were
identified.

The risk management and internal audit division of the Group should
ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective risk management
and internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
the Company's assets. The main functions of the risk management and
internal audit division are to audit the operating efficiencies of each
of the operating units, to carry out audit upon resignation of any key
management personnel, to assist Board in reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and to
review risk management and internal controls of business processes and
project based auditing. Evaluation of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls covering financial, operational compliance controls and
risk management functions had been done on an ad hoc basis.
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Besides, the Internal Audit Department reviews the material controls of the
Group on a continuous basis and aims to cover all major operations of the
Group on a cyclical basis so as to identify major risk area and control issue.
Overall, internal audits are designed to provide the Board with reasonable
assurance that the internal control systems of the Group are sound and
effective. The Board also reviews regularly the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.
Audit Committee has evaluated the performance of the risk management
and internal control system during the year and was satisfied with the
effectiveness of the function.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for employees of
the Company and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the Head of Internal Audit or the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in any matters related to the
Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to safeguard
against corruption and bribery within the Company. The Company has an
internal reporting channel that is open and available for employees of the
Company to report any suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can
also make anonymous reports to the Head of Internal Audit or.the Audit
Committee, which is responsible for investigating the reported incidents
and taking appropriate measures. The Company continues to carry out
anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity,
and actively organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to ensure
the effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE AND CONTROL
MEASURES

With respect to inside information, the Group has adopted from time to
time certain regulatory measures as appropriate to prevent violation of the
disclosure requirements of the Group, including:

- Only a limited number of personnel (mainly the senior management
and Directors) have access to inside information upon request.
Employees having access to the inside information are fully aware
of their confidentiality responsibilities.

- All employees (including the Directors of the Group) must
strictly comply with the employment provisions regarding the
administration of confidential information.
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The Group complies with the requirements of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (SFO) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless
the information falls within the safe harbours as provided in the SFO.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that
the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensuring
that information contained in announcements or circulars is not false or
misleading as to material facts, or false or misleading through the omission
of material facts, and presenting information in a clear and balanced way,
which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to
shareholders in a timely manner. Annual and interim reports offer
comprehensive information to shareholders on operational and financial
performance whereas annual general meetings provide a forum for
shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. The Company
regards annual general meetings as important events and all Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors), senior management
and external auditors shall make an effort to attend such meetings to
address shareholders’ queries. All shareholders are given a minimum of
21 clear days' notice of the date, venue and agenda of such meetings. All
resolutions put to vote at the Company’s general meetings are taken by
poll. Poll results are published on the websites of the Company and the
HKEX.

In accordance with Article 58 of the Articles, one or more shareholders
holding, at the date of the deposition of requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at
general meetings may request by writing for the attention of the Directors
or the Company secretary to convene extraordinary general meetings and
put forward proposals at such meetings within 21 days of such deposit.
The purposes of the meetings and the businesses to be transacted in the
meeting must be specified in the requisition and lodged with the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 11/F, Lippo Leighton
Tower, 103 Leighton Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director, please refer to

the procedures as set out in the guidelines entitled “Director Nomination
Policy” on the Company’s website at www.achc.com.cn.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings.
The Chairman of the Board, all executive Directors, independent non-
executive Directors, and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their
delegates) will make themselves available at the annual general meetings
to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Board adopted a shareholders’ communication policy on 16 March
2012 to set out the Company’s procedures in providing the shareholders
with prompt and equal access to information about the Company, in order
to enable the shareholders to access the Company's overall performance,
exercise their rights in an informed manner and engage actively with the
Company.

The 2022 annual general meeting of the Company (2022 AGM") was
held_ﬂ,"o'ff 1'6 June 2022. The notice of the 2022 AGM was sent to the
shareholders of the Company at least 21 clear days before the 2022 AGM.

The attendance record of the Directors at the general meetings.is set out
below:
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Attendance/
Number of
general meetings
HE BT
Directors BREXERE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. HSU, Shu-ping RIBFESAE ”n
Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung RAMESE ”n
Dr. WU, Chung-lih (retired on 10 June 2022) S+ (20226 A 108 R F) 1/1
Mr. LEE, Kun-yen (appointed on 10 June 2022)  Z#A 54 (2022456 A 108 1E) 7
Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen RIRE A 11
Mr. LIN, Seng-chang MAELE 7
Ms. WU, Ling-ling RIgkEL+ ”n
Non-executive Director ERITES ”n
Mr. HSU, Shu-tong RIBREE 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BAERTES 17
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic EEELA A 11
Mr. WANG, Wei FEEE ”n
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao TEELE 171
Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming TERAELE 1/1

The Company'’s external auditor also attended the 2022 AGM.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at http://www.achc.com.cn, where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are posted.

The Group believes that investor relations are important to a listed
company to enhance its transparency and corporate governance. During
the year, the executive Directors and senior management of the Group
maintained sound communications with the investment community by
actively participating in various investor-related activities and meetings. On
these occasions, the Group's investor relations representatives introduced
the Group’s strengths and growth strategies in order to gain support
and recognition from the market and investors. Investors are welcome to
share their views with the Board by writing to the Company at its Hong
Kong headquarters or sending enquiries to the Company’s website at
www.achc.com.cn.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board established a dividend policy and adopted it on 31 December
2018 setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply when considering the declaration, payment or distribution of
its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company. The
Company is subject to the Articles and all applicable laws (including the
Cayman Company Laws), rules and regulations, during declaration and
payment of dividends to Shareholders.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, the Company has not made any changes
to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
“Memorandum and Articles of Association”). The Company will amend
its Memorandum and Articles of Association to update with the latest
changes in the Listing Rules at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Details of the amendments are set out in the circular dated 25 April, 2023
to the shareholders.

2022 FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDEZE AT

RIREBXER  ARAREB/UW
http:/Awww.achc.com.cn ° % 48 uh TI/E AR 7]
M ER 2 B RENER REELRE
RREAMER o

REERE  BKEEBERY LT ARRARE
AENRTCEESAMEWEEE - F1 AEE
WITEELRSREEABRBEG2ESHER
BEEMBEESNSHE  HEEEREBRITE
B RZEEET  AEBZEREERERRX
BENBAEEZERRIBRKREE - BRER
MIGRREESTHRET - AEBEIKEE
BEARNBEBEE  AESFSRRER &
BB BB Ihwww.achc.com.cnfEH & ©

R EBR
E2EOHEREEBE - WMN2018F 12 A31
BERANZECGE » 7IAAQ R EREFFEIEA
RAR TR EMRIZAERR - R DI
W FEB 1R 2 RAINIES] o FEMZAA RIAR R B R
MORAT A% BB - AR BB ST AR RH 48 45
ERMMEEAEE(BIERASEEEARIE) X
JERR ©

REXHEE

REIEFER - AARIEH AN ABER
KHAR R 4081 ([ A AE AR A K AR B ) /B AT fm]
1B - NARERENEEAFRNREEFAE £
EFTHAKMER MM ME] - ERFESET
BRI RFE - (EETFBHN A A2023
FAR258 2 BB o

43



Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEAR

DIRECTORS

The Company has six executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
four independent non-executive Directors. Their details are set out below:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong (#X/B2), aged 81, is the chairman of the Group.
Mr. HSU's principal responsibilities involve leading the overall strategy and
business development of the Group in China. Mr. HSU is also the chairman
of Far Eastern Group, conglomerates based in Taiwan. It comprises of 247
companies extending into China with operations in countries including
America, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam.
Far Eastern Group has a workforce of 60,000, and in 2022, it has total
assets of US$101.4 billion and annual revenues of US$24.7 billion.

Far Eastern Group has nine public companies, which are leaders in their
respective fields including Petrochemicals & Energy; Textile & Polyester
Fiber; Cement/Building Material; Sea/Land Transportation; Financial
Services; Construction; Telecommunications; Retail/Department Stores and
Hotels. Group Foundations are committed to social responsibilities and
include the establishment of Taiwan'’s leading private university, technical
institute, and medical center/hospital. Mr. HSU is also the chairman of Far
Eastern New Century Corporation, U-Ming Marine Transport Corporation,
Far Eastern Department Stores Ltd., Oriental Union Chemical Corporation,
Far EasTone Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Asia Cement Corporation,
the vice chairman of Far Eastern International Bank and a director of
Everest Textile Co., Ltd., which are listed in Taiwan.

Outside Far Eastern Group, Mr. HSU'’s professional and other affiliations
in prominent organizations include: Director of MasterCard Asia/Pacific
Regional Advisory Board, Member of Asia Business Council, Director
of Asian Cultural Council, Advisor of International Advisory Council for
Wuhan Municipal People’s Government, Director of Chung-Hua Institution
for Economic Research, Director of the Straits Exchange Foundation,
Director of Chiang Ching-kuo Foundation for International Scholarly
Exchange, Board Member of National Cultural & Arts Foundation,
Chairman of Asian Cultural Council Taipei, Trustees Emeritus of University
of Notre Dame, former President of International Textile Manufacturers
Federation (ITMF), and former Co-Chair of Nature Conservancy Asia Pacific
Council.

Mr. HSU graduated from the University of Notre Dame, IN (BA, MA) with
post-graduate studies in economics at Columbia University, NY in the US.
Since 2002 he holds an honorary doctorate of management from Chiao
Tung University in Taiwan. Mr. HSU is brother of Mr. HSU, Shu-ping,
executive Director of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HSU, Shu-ping (% B3F), aged 77, is an executive Director and the
vice chairman of the Group. Mr. HSU's principal responsibilities involve
formulating the overall business strategy of the Group in China. Mr.
HSU is also the director of Far Eastern New Century Corporation, and
the director of Asia Cement Corporation and the director of Far EasTone
Telecommunications Co. Ltd. and the director of U-Ming Marine Transport
Corporation, all of which are listed in Taiwan. Mr. HSU graduated from
Stanford University with a master degree in Operation Research. Mr. HSU
is brother of Mr. HSU, Shu-tong, Chairman and non-executive Director of
the Company.

Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung (iR %), aged 98, is an executive
Director of the Group. He is mainly responsible for the formulation and
implementation of the overall business strategy and the planning and
supervision of the Group’s overall operation in China. Mr CHANG is
also an executive director of Asia Cement Corporation and a director of
U-Ming Marine Transport Corporation, companies listed in Taiwan. Mr
CHANG has more than 60 years of experience in the cement industry in
both Taiwan and Mainland China. He has devoted enormous efforts in
introducing advanced production techniques and highly efficient operation
management to the cement industry in Taiwan and Mainland China. Under
Mr CHANG's supervision, the production scale and operation efficiency of
the Group’s production in Mainland China continue to increase. In recent
years, together with the management team of the Group, Mr CHANG
actively promoted the implementation of energy saving and environmental
protection measures during the cement production process, while utilizing
cement production facilities to solve urban waste problem. Mr CHANG
joined Far Eastern Group, Asia Cement Corporation, since 1963 and later
joined the Group in October 1997. During his tenure with the Company,
Mr CHANG had taken various positions including engineer, deputy
factory head, factory head, chief factory head, deputy general manager,
general manager and officer-in-charge of factory construction and chief
operation officer of the subsidiaries of the Group, vice chairman and the
position as the advisor of the Group. Besides serving as engineer in various
companies in Mainland China in his early years, Mr CHANG was also hired
as engineer, factory head of maintenance plant and division head of ship
machinery by Keelung Harbour Bureau and Hualien Harbour Bureau in
Taiwan.
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Mr. LEE, Kun-yen, aged 82, is currently the Director and general
manager of Asia Cement Corporation. Mr. LEE is also the director of
U-Ming Marine Transport Corporation and Ya Tung Ready Mixed Concrete
Co., Ltd respectively. Mr. LEE also acts as chairman of Taiwan Cement
Manufacturers Association and director of Chinese National Federation of
Industries.

Mr. LEE joined Asia Cement Corporation since 1954. He started as a
general staff and took up the position of general manager since 2000.
Mr. LEE has more than 60 years of experience in cement and concrete
related industries. He is a professional manager specializing in corporate
management and business marketing. Mr. LEE is engaged in industrial
upgrading work such as the operation management, technology and
resource efficiency improvement of cement, ready-mix concrete, precast
and construction projects. Mr. LEE is also experienced in the management
of industries such as transportation, electric energy, and stainless steel.

Ms. WU, Ling-ling (R¥%#), aged 56, has served as an executive
Director since April 2016. Ms. WU is also the chief financial officer and
executive vice president of Asia Cement Corporation, the controlling
shareholder of the Company and a limited liability company incorporated
in Taiwan with its shares listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation,
and its affiliate, Far Eastern Group of Taiwan (“FEG"). Ms. WU serves as
a director and supervisor for more than 30 companies including being a
supervisor and former member of the board of directors of Oriental Union
Chemical Corporation, a company listed on the Taiwan Stock-Exchange
Corporation, and a supervisor of Chia Hui Power Corporation, a subsidiary
of Asia Cement Corporation and Ms. WU is the former Executive Director
of China Shanshui Cement Group Limited serving from 14 October 2015
to 1 December 2015 and since 23 May 2018. From June 2001 to July
2007, Ms. WU served as Vice President of Internal Audit Department and
Corporate Controller of Far EasTone Telecommunications Co., Ltd., which
is also a listed affiliate of the FEG. Ms. Wu has more than 30 years of
experience working with international public accounting, manufacturing,
telecommunications and internet service provider and she has extensive
experience in the cement industry in the People’s Republic of China as well
as abroad.

Ms. WU has financial expertise in mergers and acquisitions, working capital
management, process control, and regulatory accounting and reporting.
She specializes in supporting corporate strategy including streamlining,
controllership, and growth initiatives. She has been successful in leading
both corporate turnarounds and rapid growth expansion through two
initial public equity offerings and multiple acquisitions. In addition, with
her experience in public and private companies in United States, Hong
Kong and Taiwan, Ms. WU also has in-depth experience and knowledge
of corporate governance and best practices.

Ms. WU is a certified public accountant registered in the United States and
Taiwan. She received a Master of Business Administration degree having
majored in Accounting from the California State University, Los Angeles
in 1993 and a Master of Business Administration degree from Chengchi
University in Taipei in 2008.
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Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen ((R#RE), aged 75, is an executive Director,
the chief executive officer of the Group. Mr. CHANG is responsible for
all the top management work of the Group. Mr. CHANG has more than
50 years of experience of engineering and management in the cement
industry. Mr. CHANG is also a director of Asia Cement Corporation, a
company listed in Taiwan. Mr. CHANG joined Asia Cement Corporation
in 1968 and joined the Group in December 1997. Mr. CHANG graduated
from Taipei University of Technology majoring in mechanical engineering.

Mr. LIN, Seng-chang (# &%), aged 78, is an executive Director,
the business consultant of the Group. Mr. LIN is primarily responsible
for providing consultations on the sales and marketing strategies of the
Group as well as overseeing its sales and marketing activities. Mr. LIN has
more than 60 years of experience of sales and management in the cement
industry. Mr. LIN joined Asia Cement Corporation in 1962 and joined
the Group in October 1999. Mr. LIN graduated from Taipei University of
Business in October 1962.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic (&), JP, aged 76, has served as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since April 2008.
Mr. TSIM runs his own consultancy business which provides macro-level
economic and political analysis to clients. Mr. TSIM served two terms on
the Central Policy Unit of the Hong Kong Government in the 1990's. Mr.
TSIM graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1968 with a Bachelor
of Arts degree in English.

Mr. LEE, Kao-chao (Z£5#), aged 84, has served as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since April 2015. Mr. LEE
completed his M.A. from Agricultural Economics Graduate School of
Taiwan University in 1960. In 1973, Mr. LEE went to Vanderbilt University,
Tennessee, USA, for his second M.A. in Economic Development, before
returning to his position as the Director of Economic Research Department
in Council for Economic Planning and Development (“CEPD"), Executive
Yuan, Taiwan. Later on, Mr. LEE was promoted as Vice Chairman, or
Deputy Minister of CEPD, which position he had stayed for eight years
and he was responsible for coordination of economic policies. Mr. LEE has
been a director of the board of Taipei City Bank, now privatized Taipei —
Fubon Bank, for eight years, and a director of the board of Chang Hwa
Bank for three years, well contributing his knowledge on economic and
financial development at home and abroad. Mr. LEE has long been the
adjoint professor in Taiwan University, teaching Inter-industry relationship,
or Input-output Study, which area he has well practicing the interactions
of industries. He had been teaching managerial economics in the Business
School of Yuan Ze University after retiring from government sector. Mr.
LEE served as an independent director of Asia Cement Corporations from
June 2005 to June 2014.
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Mr. WANG, Wei (E£1&), aged 66, has served as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since April 2015. Mr. WANG was
the vice president of China National Materials Company Limited (“Sinoma”)
and retired in 2016. Mr. WANG served as a director and the president
of Sinoma International Engineering Co., Ltd from December 2001 to
December 2009 and as the chairman of the board of Sinoma International
Engineering Co., Ltd from December 2009 to September 2014. Mr.
WANG served as the supervisor of Sinoma from July 2007 to March 2010
and was appointed as the vice president of Sinoma in March 2010. Mr.
WANG joined the Sinoma group in 1984 and held various positions,
such as deputy head of Nanjing Cement Industry Design and Research
Institute. Mr. WANG served as the deputy general manager and general
manager of China National Non-Metallic Materials Corporation from June
2001 to March 2002. As a nationwide outstanding entrepreneur in the
building materials industry entitled to a special government allowance
provided by the State Council, Mr. WANG has extensive knowledge of the
industry. Before he retired, he also served as the vice chairman of China
Chamber of Commerce for Import and Export of Machinery and Electronic
Products, an executive member of the Mergers and Acquisitions Financing
Committee of the China Association for Public Companies, the China
director of.the BRICS Business Council, the vice president of China Building
Materials Federation and the vice president of China Cement Association.
Mr. WANG graduated from Nanjing University of Technology in January
1982, majoring in cement engineering. He is currently a professorate
senior engineer.

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming (EE8f), aged 78, has served as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since October 2015. Dr. WANG
graduated from the Kansas State University with a master degree and PhD
degree in Industrial Engineering. Following graduation, he returned to
Taiwan and joined Taiwan Tsing Hua University, where he was an associate
professor, professor, head of the department of industrial engineering,
and secretary general. In 1989, Dr. WANG was appointed as the founding
president of Yuan Ze University. Under his 10 — year leadership from 1989
to 1999, Yuan Ze University developed into the best private university in
Taiwan. Dr. WANG then returned to Taiwan Tsing Hua University and
served as the dean and professor of Technology Management College
from 2000 to 2003.

With regards government service, Dr. WANG served as chief consultant
to the Minster of Education from 1986 to 1988. He also had one year
of experience with the central government of Taiwan as director of the
Control Department and the Managing Information Systems Division of
Research and Development, Control and Evaluation Commission. Being the
first PhD in industrial engineering in Taiwan, Dr. WANG was the founding
convenor of the Industrial Engineering Division of the National Science
Council. He was also the first recipient of the Industrial Engineering Medal
awarded by the Chinese Institute of Industrial Engineers.
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In 2004, Dr. WANG was elected president of Nan Kai University of
Technology. During his 6-year tenure there, Dr. WANG devoted himself in
gerontechnology and service management and built Nan Kai University of
Technology into the first university in Taiwan focusing on this area. He also
found the Chinese Society of Gerontechnology and Service Management
in 2009, and served as the president of the society for four years. Dr.
WANG is currently the University Emeritus Professor of Yuan Ze University
and he keeps leading the promotion and development in gerontechnology
in Taiwan.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YU, Jen-ping (&1%IR), aged 72, is the deputy chief executive
officer. Mr. YU is primarily responsible for production technology and
research and development. Mr. YU graduated from Taipei University of
Technology. Mr. YU joined Asia Cement Corporation in August 1974
and joined the Group in July 2004. He has over 40 years of experience in
production management in the cement industry.

Mr. YU, Dong-lin (RE ), aged 71, is the deputy chief executive
Officer, and is primarily responsible for managing human resources of the
Group, and is in charge of the daily administration and procurement of
the Group. Mr. YU has over 40 years of experience in human resources,
administration and operation in Asia Cement Corporation, the parent
company of the Group, and joined the Group in November 2014.

Mr. SHEN, Chia-hsing (LX), aged 49, is the senior financial officer,
and is primarily responsible for the accounting duties of the Group. Mr.
SHEN graduated from the Department of Accounting, Taipei University.
Mr. SHEN joined Asia Cement Corporation in November 1999 and joined
the Group in October 2008.

Mr. Ouyang, Li-ming (B[ #8), aged 44, is the operations officer
of the Group, and is primarily responsible for the sales and marketing
duties of the Group. Mr. OU YANG graduated from Nanjing University of
Chemical Technology. He joined the Group in July 2000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Mok Ming Wai (E83£) was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on August 5, 2022, which took effect on the same day.

Ms. Mok is currently an executive director of Corporate Services of Tricor
Services Limited. She is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and a fellow of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators). Ms. Mok holds a degree of Master of
Science in Applied Accounting and Finance. She has over 25 years of
experience in the corporate secretarial field and has been providing
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as
multinational, private and offshore companies.
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Directors’ Report

EFERT

The Directors are pleased to present their Annual Report, including the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group’s
principal business activities are manufacture and sales of cement, concrete
and related products. The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set
out on pages 187 to 191 of this annual report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year
under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business and financial performance, including
the principal risk and uncertainties facing the Group, the important events
affecting the Group that have occurred for the financial year ended 31
December 2022, and the likely future development in the Group’s business
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5
to 6 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 24 of the
annual report. Details about the Group's financial risk management are
set.out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. This discussion
forms part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS . AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 67 of this annual report.

The Board of Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMB16.0 cents per ordinary share, totaling RMB250,696,000 in respect
of the current year to shareholders on the register of members on 14 July
2023. The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022
has been approved at the Company’s Board meeting on 3 March 2023.
Details of the dividends for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
forth in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

A final dividend of RMB45.0 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year
2021 was paid on 22 July 2022.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
6 June 2023 to Friday, 9 June 2023, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at
the annual general meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 5 June 2023.
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Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 11
July 2023 to Friday, 14 July 2023, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered for the purpose of determining the
entitlement of shareholders to receive the final dividend. The proposed
final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company after close of business at 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 14 July 2023 being the record date for determination of
entitlement to the final dividend. In order to qualify for the proposed final
dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 10
July 2023.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year under review are set forth in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 70 to 71 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, amounted to approximately RMB3,113,111,000, which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB9.8 million (2021: 1.4 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movement of property, plant and equipment of the Group,
during the year in the fixed assets are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Share capital of the Company during the year are set forth in note 34.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Details of the Group's transactions with its major suppliers and customers
during the years 2021 and 2022 under review are set out below:

Aggregate purchase attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total purchase of the Group in
both the years of 2021 and 2022.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
were less than 30% of the total turnover of the Group in both the
years of 2021 and 2022.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, at no time during the year
under review did any Director, their close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) or any shareholder of the Company that
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares, had direct
or indirect interest in any of the Group's five largest suppliers or
customers.

RELATED.PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, none of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
. WU, Ling-ling

Ms

HSU, Shu-ping (Vice Chairman)

CHANG, Tsai-hsiung

LEE, Kun-yen

CHANG, Chen-kuen (Chief Executive Officer)
LIN, Seng-chang

Non-executive Director

Mr.

HSU, Shu-tong (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic
Mr. WANG, Wei

Mr.

LEE, Kao-chao

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming

Note:

Dr. Wu, Chung-lih retired as the executive director on 10 June 2022.
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In accordance with the Articles, one third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
Also, any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. A circular containing
the explanatory statement on repurchase by the Company of its shares,
the biographical details of the Directors eligible for re-election and the
notice of annual general meeting will be sent to shareholders of the
Company in due course.

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong, Chairman and non-executive Director and Mr. HSU,
Shu-ping, Vice Chairman and executive Director, are brothers.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors has any financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENTS’
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 44 to 49 of this annual report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

There are no changes to the Director’s information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS OF THE COMPANY

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Company in 2022 are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director nor any connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which a controlling
shareholder of the Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party at any time during the financial year ended
31 December 2022.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries or a controlling shareholder of
the Company was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 or at any time during the financial year ended
31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with the
Company, Mr. HSU, Shu-ping has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 13 March 2020, Mr.
CHANG, Tsai-hsiung, Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen and Mr. LIN, Seng-chang
have entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing on 27 April 2020. Ms. WU, Ling-ling has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
on 1 April 2022. Mr. LEE, Kun-yen has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 10 June 2022,
all of which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions of the
service contract by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing.

The Company has issued an appointment letter to Mr. HSU, Shu-tong,
non executive Director, for a term of three years commencing on 27 April
2020, which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof
by either party giving to the other not less than one month'’s prior notice
in writing.

The Company has issued an appointment letter to each of the independent
non-executive Directors for a term of three years. The Company has issued
an appointment letter to Mr. TSIM, Tak-lung Dominic, Mr. WANG, Wei,
Mr. LEE, Kao-chao and Dr. Wang, Kuo-ming commencing on 7 April
2020, 13 April 2021, 13 April 2021 and 1 October 2021 respectively, all
of which may be terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof by
either party giving to the other not less than two months’ prior notice in
writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given an annual
confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors meet the independence guideline set forth in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and the
“Share Option Schemes” below, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding company or subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or their spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (b) were required to be and
were entered in the register required to be maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (c) were required, pursuant to
the Model Code, as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

EERFRTBRAERAQAHA
) ywja'lzﬂxfﬁ AEBARES
ZHEBRAR

M2022F 128318 » EFERAR TIEﬁB{
ABRARRSHETHEEEE(FEERE
FERE GBI ([FH R EAEEG ) EXVER) 2 I
7 HERDEREST  BEQIBEESR
HH/E\1I7'<1§|J%XV*I3%7&8"4 FRik—l /NI
BTz Em AR (BIERIEES M E K
fﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂu&g%&”‘{’Emﬁ{’ﬁ%&ﬁmfé&ﬁn&m
B Sb)BIEE SR EEIEDIZE 352157875
ARRBIFAEGFEE MRS AR -+ (o)
RIFIEAE —rﬁ'J/,\J%ﬁﬁﬂFT%ﬂﬁ*zﬁ AR
izt AR mT

RAXARGREBRG 2FE

Number of ordinary shares

BERBA % of the

Personal Equity Total Company'’s

interests derivatives interests issued shares

BELH

B RTERR

Name of Director BAfEz BRFETEIR Bk

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong RER & 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 0.19%

Mr. HSU, Shu-ping BBFLRE 200,000 = 200,000 0.01%

Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung 3R A HESE 4 219,500 = 219,500 0.01%

Mr. LEE, Kun-yen ES IS e 200,000 - 200,000 0.01%

Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen SRIRE 54 713,000 - 713,000 0.05%

Mr. LIN, Seng-chang MAZLE 628,000 - 628,000 0.04%

Ms. WU, Ling-ling Biki+ 50,000 - 50,000 0.003%
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Long positions in shares and underlying shares of associated
corporation

REEEE 2RO REBERND 258

Type of interest % of

BT Total no. of shareholding

shares in the in the

Name of associated Through associated associated

Name of Director corporation Personal spouse Corporate  corporation  corporation

HEEE {5HBEE

Eupd HEEE R EA EBEE 7] gt | BEESL

Mr. HSU, Shu-tong Asia Cement Corporation 23,278,334 6,352,467 - 29,630,801 0.84%

("Asia Cement”)
RERLE TEMRERHBRAR
(TR

Mr. HSU, Shu-ping Asia Cement 13,454,981 - - 13,454,981 0.38%
R4 TR

Mr. CHANG, Tsai-hsiung ~ Asia Cement 459,350 110,877 - 570,227 0.02%
B o TR

Mr. LEE, Kun-yen Asia Cement 3,333,557 - = 3,333,557 0.09%
AL BiAR

Mr. CHANG, Chen-kuen  Asia Cement 29,745‘? 5,358 - 35,103 0.001%
RIRE LA MK

Mr. LIN, Seng-chang Asia Cement 16,892 476 - 17,368 0.0005%
MAELE MR

Ms.WU, Ling-ling Asia Cement 180,000 - - 180,000 0.005%
REgRt R

Dr. WANG, Kuo-ming Asia Cement = 1,841 = 1,841 0.00005%
TEHREL EMKE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company and their associates had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS” AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTEREST IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022 and to the best knowledge of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company, persons (other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position, in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company, as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions in Shares
Substantial shareholders

Capacity
59

FERRREAMA RIS KEEE
B in P2 s

R-Z-—F+-A=+—H BEEKARQ
BAIETEBTHRAEBMFEHN  BREESAARRTE
THABIN - RARR R MR D R A
BB H RS 053361538 E e AR A
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RO z2HFR
FERR

Approximate
percentage of

holding
#hsRaSl

Number of
Shares

BB

Asia Cement (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,061,209,202 67.73%
MR (HTaET) EnEEA
Interest of corporation controlled 83,652,798 5.34%
THAE 2 s
1,144,862,000 73.07%
Far Eastern New Century Beneficial owner 1,061,209,202 67.73%
Corporation (Note 2) ExREAA
R AR (B E2) Interest of corporation controlled 83,652,798 5.34%
TR 2 s
1,144,862,000 73.07%
Notes: s
1. Asia Cement beneficially owns approximately 67.73% interest of the Company. 7. TMAKEE S E R RGIAI67.73%1E 25 -

Asia Cement Singapore holds approximately 4.07% interest in the Company,
which is approximately 99.99% owned by Asia Cement. Asia Cement is deemed
to be interested in approximately 4.07% interest of the Company by virtue of
its corporate interest in Asia Cement Singapore. Asia Engineering Enterprise
Corporation holds approximately 0.20% interest in the Company, which is
approximately 99.74% owned by Asia Cement. Asia Cement is deemed to be
interested in approximately 0.20% interest of the Company by virtue of its
corporate interest in Asia Engineering Enterprise Corporation. Further, Falcon
Investments Private Limited holds approximately 1.07% interest in the Company
and is owned as to 100% by U-Ming Marine Transport (Singapore) Private
Limited, which is in turn owned as to 99.99% by U-Ming Marine Transport
Corporation. U-Ming Marine Transport Corporation is owned as to 39.25% by
Asia Cement. Asia Cement is deemed to be interested in approximately 1.07%
interest of the Company under the SFO.
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2, As at 31 December 2022, Far Eastern New Century Corporation held
approximately 21.17% of the issued share capital of Asia Cement and together
with certain companies which Far Eastern New Century Corporation is entitled
to exercise or control the exercise of more than one-third of the voting power at
their general meetings, held approximately 25.51% of the issued share capital
of Asia Cement.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company) who also had interests or short positions on the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme approved and adopted by the Company on 27
April 2008 expired on 26 April 2018. No options have been granted under
the Share Option Scheme.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
human resources department of the Group on the basis of their merits,
qualifications and competence.

The emolument policy of the Directors is determined by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,-individual
duties and performance and comparable market statistics.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme under
rules and regulations of MPF Schemes Ordinance for all its employees in
Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to
join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ salaries and are charged to consolidated income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years as of 31 December 2022.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the applicable
regulations of the PRC, participated in a state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the local government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specific percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement
benefits schemes. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total amounts contributed by the Group to the
schemes and costs charged to the consolidated income statement
represent contribution payable to the schemes by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to promoting awareness and decisions that
contribute to achieving environmentally sustainable development. We
will comply fully with all applicable environmental laws and regulations.
We will use fuel, water and other natural resources efficiently and
conservatively. We recognise this to be a continuous process of
improvement and we seek to actively look for environmental friendly
options and carry out environmental friendly practices whenever
appropriate and possible.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees are remunerated equitably and competitively. Continuing
training and development opportunities are provided to equip them to
deliver their best performance and achieve corporate goals. During the
reporting period, our staff members continuously pursued training and
career development through our training system.

Customers’ feedback and advice had been taken into account via
customer communication channel.

The Group uses suppliers that reflect its values and commitment. The
Group has policies and procedures to select suppliers and contractors who
share our social, environmental and labour practice standards.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with Asia Cement”
and “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus, no additional ongoing
relationships or potential conflict of interests was identified during the
year. Besides, the independent non-executive Directors conducted an
annual review on the compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition (as
defined in the Prospectus) which was amended by an amendment deed
entered into between Asia Cement Corporation (“Asia Cement”), Far
Eastern New Century Corporation (“Far Eastern New Century”) and
the Company on 24 June 2014, and approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company on 6 August 2014 (the “Amended Deed”).

In determining whether each of Asia Cement and Far Eastern New
Century had fully complied with the non-competition undertakings during
the year ended 31 December 2022 for the annual review, the Company
noted that (a) each of Asia Cement and Far Eastern New Century declared
that they had fully complied with the terms of the Amended Deed at 31
December 2022, (b) no new competing business was reported by each of
Asia Cement and Far Eastern New Century as at 31 December 2022; and
(c) the independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the compliance
of non-competition undertakings by each of Asia Cement and Far Eastern
New Century as the part of the annual review process.

2022 FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDEZE AT

BPEERRER

RESEMEEEMRM  ARERMEEZTH
VEBTHARERHEMNEEFEATE M
BERNER - FR - AREHEBESERERK
TNETERERRER

REHR
AREENREEEDERRATHERRE Y
B2 R » RS2 ERTAHAE AR
RIEKR - ABREDRLR T RIRIME - k&
BEEMERER - RIERISSE 0
BouE 2R - BRFISREBSIORRZ TR
WA T 2R T TRIRIEN -

BES FRFRHEEEMAMAL
ZEREE

EBETVEBATEREAHF N M - AAFH
EEREFESIRERREUS RS EHT
EREXRARERAAEE - NEEHE - R
12 8 TBIB A7) 2 Sl 5 A R B R
BEEERRE -

BREFPBEBREEREP ZRENME -

AL EIR A R EEER FoRE 2 e -
AL ERAE THR M2 P AR ZRBAFIES
MRS RERERREZHER AR
o

NV
BERSBE S MACEMEER I M EER S ]
—EREEI  FRAMESEEMIFERERSN
BIEFZREZE o AN B IEITESRCER
e MARRRD AR AT (MR ~ 'BE
AR D BR AR (MREFHAD 1) RAAF]
R2014F6 A24 BT WA AR R BB IR
2014F8 A6 B 2 &EAEFT RIBEFERT 21
ﬁ%%@%(Mw}éﬂj)(i%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%&)iﬁﬁ%
TEH -

MEBETRNMNKERERRITELSARER
2022F 12 A3IHIEFE FEENHEES
REETFTIRFEAR  ARFVEEE(a)Zz M
KERERFHLEEERBEEDR2022F
12A3MBEZETFTLEBIIREBEZET )R
2022412 A31 B 52 M KE B i 3Rt 40 37 £
IR ER  MOEAFERMBRE—HS
B IEMITE R RBE MR MR E AT
BBEHETIBEBAGZZIEN

59



Directors’ Report & & & HRE

In view of the above, the Company confirmed that all of the non-
competition undertakings in the Amended Deed have been complied with
by each of Asia Cement and Far Eastern New Century for the year ended
31 December 2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events after the end of the reporting period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered
into or in existence during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors of the Company
was not in force during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the related party
transactions as stated on page 52 constitutes connected transactions as
defined under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to
the best knowledge information and belief of the Directors, at least 25%
of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public, as at
the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The Company has appointed Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
auditor of the Company for the year under review. Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their reappointment
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Hsu Shu-tong
Chairman

3 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WAL BEN R S

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ASIA CEMENT (CHINA) HOLDINGS
CORPORATION
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Cement
(China) Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 195,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA™). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters MREHER

Estimated provision of expected credit losses for trade receivables

X5 B R A ARG R 1A

With the impact of the PRC government’s tightening the
property market regulation and the downward pressure
on the economy in 2022, the property developers and the
constructors who were the indirect and ultimate customers
of the Group respectively faced massive debt and cash
flow issues. As at 31 December 2022, the trade receivables
of the Group was approximately RMB374,280,000, net
of allowance amounting to RMB287,693,000. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group reversed
RMB30,425,000 of expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade
receivables.

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to the significance of trade
receivables to the Group’s consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL of the Group’s
trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.

As disclosed in note 40(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables based on a
provision matrix through grouping of various debtors that
have common risk characteristics, after considering debtors’
aging, repayment history and past due status of respective
trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information. Trade
receivables that are credit-impaired are separately assessed
for ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the credit
impaired trade receivables is measured as the difference
between the asset’s gross amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows with the consideration of
expected future credit losses.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters EPWET MO EEREEHFR

Our procedures in relation to allowance for ECL included: F A B WG IEH R EN ENTHEFEE

Obtaining an understanding of the relevant key
controls over the assessment and monitoring of credit
risks, and determination of allowance for ECL;

Evaluating the model used by management in
determining the allowance for ECL with the support of
internal valuation experts;

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on trade receivables
as at 31 December 2022, including their identification
and provision of credit-impaired trade receivables,
the reasonableness of management’s grouping of the
remaining trade debtors into different categories in
the provision matrix, and the basis of estimated loss
rates applied in each category in the provision matrix
(with reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information);

Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix,
including trade receivables aging analysis as at 31
December 2022, on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant sales
invoices and other supporting documents.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors of the Company’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threat or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Shun Yu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
3 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e RakH M2 minR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 52022412 431 H [F &

2022 PAYA
—ECF B —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
Revenue Wz 5 9,614,330 11,755,908
Cost of sales SHERA (8,325,401) (8,075,943)
Gross profit EF 1,288,929 3,679,965
Other income E A A 7 212,108 173,868
Reversal of (allowance for) credit losses on %5 R EAM EWFIBEZE
trade and other receivables, net TR O] (B4 ) 558 30,425 (130,248)
Other expenses, other gains and losses HEMER - Bk kER 8 (31,460) (338,487)
Distribution and selling expenses DIE R EERY (437,244) (473,832)
Administrative expenses THRX (318,983) (288,591)
Share of losses of associates FE(EEZ R R EE 21 (4,516) (16,086)
Share of profits of joint ventures FEME A E R EET 20 6,812 10,097
Finance costs RUE RN 9 (57,070) (51,915)
Profit before tax 4 58 A& ) 689,001 2,564,771
Income tax expense PSR X 10 (265,009) (743,468)
Profit for the year F A A 11 423,992 1,821,303
Other comprehensive income Hih2EEA
Item that will not be reclassified HAETSE S
subsequently to profit or loss: BmmEE -
Share of revaluation reserves FE(REE N B E (L
of an associate &% - 155,741
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZEW A 4258 423,992 1,977,044
Profit for the year attributable to: FEIEE AT :
Owners of the Company RAREEA 420,072 1,768,307
Non-controlling interests IR 3,920 52,996
423,992 1,821,303
Total comprehensive income IS REMALLEE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company NABER A 420,072 1,924,048
Non-controlling interests JEFEAR RS 3,920 52,996
423,992 1,977,044
RMB RMB
AR% AREE
Earnings per share sl epl
Basic HAR 14 0.268 1.129
20224 FERE | EmiMKiR (hE) R A 67



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ReEMBIKAR

At 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

FRBDEE

2022
ot ~ St -

RMB’000
AR®TT

PAYA

T —F
RMB’000
AREFIT

Property, plant and equipment ME - B N ERE 15 6,583,410 7,040,755
Quarry ] 16 878,641 941,673
Right-of-use assets FREESE 22 748,504 783,805
Investment properties KB 17 134,142 132,286
Goodwill 6 18 554,241 554,241
Intangible assets HEmEEEE 19 3,760 4,378
Interests in joint ventures REEDE 20 84,640 67,252
Interests in associates Jr kN ey 21 799,824 804,340
Deferred tax assets RIEFIEEE 32 161,804 175,706
9,948,966 10,504,436
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE

Inventories =g 23 905,512 1,140,753
Trade and other receivables R 5 N E b EWGRIE 24 1,252,660 2,180,413

Financial-assets at fair value through B FEFARRS
‘profit or loss (“FVTPL") TREE 27 117,156 65,202
Tax recoverable B ek 8,303 16,532
Amount due from an associate FE B N B TR IE 25(a) 7,778 7,944
Amount due from a joint venture IS E R 25(b) 5,461 6,217
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR MRS 26 8,900,448 7,495,358
11,197,318 10,912,419

CURRENT LIABILITIES mENARE

Trade and other payables R 5 R EAM R FIA 28 948,248 1,476,351
Amounts due to joint ventures EEEhERIE 25(c) 19,567 14,226
Amount due to an associate PR B2 R R FIE 25(d) 256 =
Tax payables FERI IR 58,900 383,404
Borrowings — due within one year BE—-—FNEH 30 1,014,000 1,118,299
Lease liabilities HEBE 317 6,112 6,068
Contract liabilities cRBE 29 148,141 183,948
2,195,224 3,182,296
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEERE 9,002,094 7,730,123

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEREATDAR
LIABILITIES 18,951,060 18,234,559
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 458 BATSAA R
At 31 December 2022 72022912 H31H

2022 PAYA
St - T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERBDEE
Borrowings — due after one year BE——F&IH 30 1,361,646 350,664
Lease liabilities HEEE 37 88,767 94,955
Provision for environmental restoration RIBIRIE R 33 58,168 51,845
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEE 32 51,615 63,255
1,560,196 560,719
NET ASSETS EERE 17,390,864 17,673,840
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEERER
Share capital &R 34 140,390 140,390
Reserves i 16,847,069 17,132,080
Equity attributable to owners of RRAEEE AEML
the Company by 16,987,459 17,272,470
Non-controlling interests JEFEAR RS 43(b) 403,405 401,370
TOTAL EQUITY ESEE 17,390,864 17,673,840

The consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 195 were approved #67E£ 19582 G AV BRECHESER
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 3 March 2023 and 20233 A3 B8 #/& RIEETIE - WHATA

are signed on its behalf by: TREEZE

HSU, SHU-PING

wEF RIRE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF

20224 FEHE | EMKIR (PE)EEAT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeEaEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

Attributable to owners of the Company

AT ARK

Share
Capital

Share
premium

Statutory

reserves reserves

23
RMB'000

ARRTR

RiER
RMB'000
AE%%%
(note )

ERRR
RABO0D

ARETTL
(note b)

RtE
RABO00

ARETR

note )

Other Revaluation

reserve

Efte
RMB'000

ARRTR

(note d)

Attributable
to non-
controlling
interests
ik
L
RMB'000
ARETT

Retained
earnings

Special
reserve Sub-total Total
|
RVB000
NRETT
(notee)

R
RABO00
ARRTTL

It
RMB'000
NRETTL

Rit
RMB'000

ARETR

At 1 January 2021 MNEIRBER 10390 1308721 3017719 286,038 - 163%%6 9700309 16,149,083 ®2045 16,531,208
Proft or he year EREH - - - - - - 178307 1768307 .99 1821303
Share of comprefensie ncome (RS ATE
of associate BtE - - - Y - S Y - 1M
Total comprehensiveincome 2 ENALE
for the year - - - - 155,741 - 1768307 1924048 59% 197,044
Appropriaton & - - 6h4988 - - - (6h9%) - - -
Diidends recognised as BB RE W 15)
dist[iilg_ui@oﬂ fhote 13 - (B00g61) - - - - - (Bo0ge1) - (Booge1)
Dividends pac o AR RRRE
non-controling nterests - - - - - - - - (33, (33,71
At31 December 2021 MONERRNE LR 140,390 508060 3732707 286,038 155740 1635906 10813628 17.272470 401310 17673840
Proft and fota cor'hp'rehensive EnEHRaEN) 28
income for the year - - - - - - am o a00m 390 42399
Appropriation & - - M - - - (512108 - - -
Dividends recognisedas BABARIRE W 13)
distribution (note 13) - (508,060) - - - - (197,023)  (705,083) - (705,083)
Dividends paid to R ERERR RS
non-controling nferests - - - - - - - - (1,885) (1,885)
At 31 December 2022 RNENANAZES 140,390 - 4204811 286038 155741 1,635,906 10524573 16987459 403405 17,390,864
Notes: Bt -
a. In accordance with the Cayman Islands Companies Law, share premium is one  a. RIFFEFHE L A)E - [R5 & EEL A Al 7B
of the Company'’s reserves available for distribution. HIEEZ — °
b. In accordance with the relevant laws and requlations of the People’s Republic of ~ b. RIEFEAN LT ([FE ) FETAZEREH
China (the “PRC"), the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to provide for PRC TNEE (B BB B 2 Bl 5 R AR B BT - BB B
statutory reserves, including enterprise expansion fund and general reserve fund, B L ale B AT HHREANERESEETE
by way of appropriations from their respective statutory net profit (based on the FIBHZ T AR ERBERECT R —REEES
subsidiary’s PRC statutory financial statements) but before dividend distributions. EH BT F B EL R -
All appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the subsidiaries’ BRI BN BRI EESHIEIEL - £
board of directors. The board of directors shall decide on the amounts to be EEARIEENE L A FEFIGE BN
appropriated based on the profitability of each subsidiary each year. BH o
The enterprise expansion fund may be used to increase registered capital subject LEETE 2 A FIEENAHER - AR
to approval from the relevant PRC authorities. The general reserve fund may B AT HRIE R E IR IE T8 2 Al A
be used to offset accumulated losses or increase the registered capital of the K IERE G EEE B BT HLE
subsidiary subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities.
The above reserve funds are not available for dividend distributions to the At R % T A E RN B 23 B IR R 5 R AR
shareholders of the subsidiaries. B e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 43 & x5 & 8K
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

Notes: (continued) Wizt - (#)

Other reserves as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 mainly comprise (i) capital
contributions from Asia Cement Corporation (“Asia Cement”), immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company, and the non-controlling
shareholders; (i) the remuneration paid by Asia Cement to certain employees
of Asia Cement and its subsidiaries for their service provided to the Group (the
“Payments”), and (iii) a waiver of advances from Asia Cement in relation to the
audit fees of the Group for the three years ended 31 December 2004, 2005
and 2006 paid by Asia Cement on behalf of the Group. The Payments were
not recharged to the Group and therefore the Payments were treated as capital
contribution from Asia Cement.

Revaluation reserve represents an associate of the Group, Yuan Ding Enterprise
(Shanghai) Limited, transferred its property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets to investment properties on 31 December 2021, and the respective
sharing of difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets was recognised in the
other comprehensive income.

Special reserve as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 represents mainly (i)
approximately RMB1,623,254,000 as the difference between the nominal
value of the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the aggregate of
share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company
through the exchange of shares during the Company’s reorganisation in
2004; (ii) approximately RMB3,577,000 as the difference between the capital
injected by Der Ching Investment Co. Ltd. (“Der Ching Investment”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Asia Cement, and the increase in carrying amount of the
non-controlling interest as a result of the deemed disposals in 2007. After the
capital injection, Der Ching Investment’s interest in Sichuan Yadong Cement
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Yadong"”) was further increased from 18.92% to 36.84%;
(iii) approximately RMB54,216,000 as the difference between the consideration
in acquiring the remaining 36.84% equity interests in Sichuan Yadong from
Der Ching Investment and the decrease in the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest as deemed contribution from Asia Cement in 2008; and
set off by (iv) approximately RMB37,987,000 as the difference between the
decrease in the non-controlling interests of approximately RMB60,076,000 (being
the reduction in the proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net assets
of Wuhan Yaxin Cement Co., Ltd. (“Wuhan Yaxin”)) and the consideration paid
of approximately RMB98,063,000 in relation to the acquisition of additional
20% equity interest in Wuhan Yaxin from non-controlling shareholder.
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ZR DA BEEYE - BERZEARLHER
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R2022F 202112831 A2 #5IfEEL ZE
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F BB BN  ZATUE 2 11/E 2 AR A %
R 17 i (B AR FE], 2 2 BEAIA R 1,623,254,000
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I ZEFR R T36.84% A8 At s & L 1E 4128 M 7K JE
R2008F 12 1EF & .2 FE 12 A% 1 7 R ] 1B )5, 17 [E]
ZEFLARHE4,216,0007T i K H(iv) AR
2SR IEAIA R #60,076,0007T (BIE Z 58K
JEBRAF([REEE)EEFEREERZILY
DENG) B I R R B IR B R R
BESI20% R A7 1T 1B A R 98,063,000
JLI#Z ZEBAIA R H#E37,987,0007T 45 °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERESRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 52022412 431 H [F &

2022
ot =St

RMB’000
AR®TE

2021

T —F
RMB’000
AREFIT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEER
Profit before tax MR BT A 689,001 2,564,771
Adjustments for: KeEE
Depreciation and amortisation e N o 842,310 901,130
Finance costs RhE KA 57,070 51,915
Gains on fair value change on WEWEZ A ENE
investment properties (200) (6,845)
Loss (gain) on fair value change on AP ENENEMEE
financial assets measured at FVTPL NHEZENEL (W) 23,009 (1,462)
(Reversal of) allowance for credit losses EEIBLEE FRE
on trade and other receivables, net (30,425) 130,248
Losses on disposal/write-off of HE M - BRE &
property, plant and equipment JiEBE 2,806 20,599
Interest income on bank deposits HRITEFHEUA (159,102) (121,366)
Share of profits of joint ventures JE15 & S EE A (6,812) (10,097)
Share of losses of associates i SNGIE RS 4,516 16,086
Impairment loss, net of reversal — M - BERRERERX
property, plant and equipment 87,817 -
Loss on disposal of quarry IR EEX - 15,544
Impairment loss on investment in HEE N R AR REERKX
an associate - 53,340
Loss on idle land recovered by the ETUR e 8BS B 218k
government = 27,293
Interest income from USD denominated  LAZETTEHE 8 E E F) =&
fixed-rate note receivables (“USD SERHMEWA(ELRE)
Notes”) - (19,851)
Operating cash flows before movements  &&E &S E B2
in working capital IR B R EIL N 1,509,990 3,621,305
Decrease (increase) in inventories ZEGEM R 235,241 (532,385)
Decrease in trade and other receivables R 5 K H At e Uk R IE R > 888,003 75,582
Decrease (increase) in amount due from FE UGBSt a5 B J T (3 hn) S5 >
an associate 166 (3,720)
(Decrease) increase in trade and R 5 R H b FIEE O )
other payables (415,832) 288,883
Increase in amounts due to joint ventures  JE{T & 44 1b 2 FRIE I AN 5,341 736
Increase in amount due to an associate JE - Bk 8 1 S5 FRIE R > 256 =
Decrease in contract liabilities SRAERD (35,807) (45,362)
Increase in provisions LI 6,323 13,684
Cash generated from operations KEMSRE 2,193,681 3,418,723
Income taxes paid EATETER (579,025) (919,774)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING BEEGREAEPH
ACTIVITIES 1,614,656 2,498,949
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 28I ERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

2022 PAOYA
—E__%F T —F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TE AEBTT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE¥% « E R E1E (359,574) (282,730)
Investments in bank deposits with — @A EE#EFER

maturity of more than three months (925,844) (1,531,677)
Redemption of bank deposits with SO =18 A A - EHER

maturity of more than three months 1,531,680 810,000
Purchase of intangible assets BERTEE (953) (1,187)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BEARABEFEEEIHHA

EHERNSREE (74,963) (63,740)
Interest received from bank deposits RITE Rz EUWF B 95,515 117,967
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEYE  BMEMREZ

plant and equipment FriS 518 1,299 3,113
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary WREF R RIS R (HE28)

(note 28) - (15,090)
Dividends received from a joint venture BUREEE AR ZIRE 8,180 1,643
Investment in joint ventures WEEENT (18,000) (4,500)
Early redemption of USD Notes AR X T EE = 2,397,451
Interest received from USD Notes ETTEBFEMWA - 23,563
Purchase of quarry BB B SRR = (14,745)
Purchase of right-of-use assets B £ b (F A - (48,232)
Proceeds on disposal of right-of-use assets Bz { A& AU ES - 2,406
NET CASH FROM INVESTING BRETHMERLPEH

ACTIVITIES 257,340 1,394,242
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 28 E& R ER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

2022 2021
St - T —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES S EE
Bank borrowings raised IGEE 6,980,141 5,849,128
Repayments of bank borrowings EBEEE (6,073,458) (7,352,324)
Interest paid BRFE (49,901) (47,541)
Dividends paid EARIRE (705,083) (800,661)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests &) JEZE A% #E 25K < A% B, (1,885) (33,771)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHERRE (10,887) (9,949)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) M TEME(FA)REBE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 138,927 (2,395,118)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRB&EEMIBMBHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,010,923 1,498,073
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNHRERAEEED
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 5,963,681 4,465,608
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FEXEERASEEHY
AT END OF THE YEAR DBRITHERFA AR 7,974,604 5,963,681
Represented by Rk
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR IS 8,900,448 7,495,358
Bank deposits with maturity of =B A EEHER
more than three months (925,844) (1,531,677)
7,974,604 5,963,681
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Asia Cement (China) Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
7 April 2004 under the Companies Law (2003 Revision), Chapter
22 of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) with effect from 20 May 2008. The immediate and
ultimate holding company is Asia Cement Corporation, a company
incorporated in Taiwan with its shares listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation. The address of the registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place of
business of the Company is at Portion of Unit B, 11th Floor, Lippo
Leighton Tower, 103 Leighton Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively
the “Group”) are manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and
related products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-2020

Amendment to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Amendments to IFRSs
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fr e MR RIE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #,Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 454 B 73R 3= (15T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs"”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to IFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

IFRS 17 (including the June
2020 and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?2

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback3
Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current3

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates!

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction!

Amendments to IAS 12

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B #83R 3= (13T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs"”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs
15 and 24 of 1AS 12 Income Taxes (“IAS 12") so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, for
leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 requirements to
the relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary differences
on initial recognition of the relevant assets and liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group’s annual reporting
period beginning on 1 January 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which
are subject to the amendments amounted to RMB96,385,000 and
RMB94,879,000 respectively, in which the Group will recognise
the related deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities of
RMB24,640,000 and RMB23,584,000 respectively. The cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments will be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 454 B 73R 3= (15T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZEBHmRNERERA

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT EDN-RIE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 31 HREVBBRNERER
statement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared AR IRIE BRI
in accordance with IFRSs. For the purpose of preparation MELEARH - SiREGRE M
of the consolidated financial statement, information is BHRRME » HEAEEHZE
considered material if such information is reasonably BT EXTZERP 2RE - A
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. ZERWRBEKN o AN 0 4R
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include EUMBERRBIEBIES
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the MR RBBRTHEGIFTRE
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong ZEARE -
Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared BRizSmEBEERIRFE
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties HEZKREMENTIXFEE
and financial instruments that are measured at fair values STBCRFTRI) I - 476 BT TR
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the REBRBELKAERE -
accounting policies set out below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the FE 52 AR — BB 1B AR EVE
consideration given in exchange for goods and services. ERBANHRE A FER
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an NTFEEMSLEE ZBRE
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly-transaction EHHEEFRSPHEEE
between market participants at the measurement date, B ER sk EE A EE 2B
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or o MAwmZERER B
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating BESHEAS—HEAR
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into BB - RETEES AR
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market NFER  KEBEEEZHE
participants would take those characteristics into account EEXRBENRGTEBHAZE
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. B ZEGAMEHRERTAE
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in FER SEBERRZAFE
these consolidated financial statements is determined on BRI EEETE B ERE
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions R E LR E 258 F < R 17
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, AR5 BREERERE
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance HAF16REEBE 2 HER
with IFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities 5 UREANFEEEFEESRTHE
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable PEEIIEAFEDINER e
value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 FHERIE 25077 & 2 Al IR F A
Impairment of Assets. S BIFR G RERIE36 K EE R

B2 B REE) ZFTERIN -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B #83R 3= (13T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B 783 2= (13T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

80

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
where the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases-when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the years are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income
and expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.
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£ 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The acquired processes are considered substantive if they
are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay
in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is
on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued by International Accounting Standards
Board in March 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework")
except for transactions and events within the scope of
IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, in which the Group applies IAS 37 or
IFRIC 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at their fair value.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpose and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating unit
within a group of cash-generating units), the amount
of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or
the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate and a joint venture is described as below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZEBHmRNERERA
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT BERISFTBER(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group'’s
share of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZEBHmRNERERA

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT BEREFBE(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 EBASHBRE)
Investments in associates and joint ventures REEATREELECZRE
(continued) (&)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is REERRREEREZRE
accounted for using the equity method from the date on BRI ERKBBEANTHRES
which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. EEZABEAEZEA
On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint BE - MBI E A RIAE
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the EZIRER - BEKARBH
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets AEEERMBEIEESIHNE
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, ErBEATFEZEM@MIBS
which is included within the carrying amount of the BRAEEE  FAKREEREE
investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net Ao AEBEEEAHBEEK
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the BEATFFEBHEERAZ
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised EME D - LEFMTEHE - D
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the BE AU B IR & B R B o TR o
investment is acquired.

The Group assess whether there is an objective evidence AEEN GRS AREERE
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may 2D RN e A =11
be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the FRRE - MEREBFBEEE
entire carrying amount of the investment (including KE(BEEE) 22 EAE
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 1S RIEBIR 5 ERIZE 365
36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing BEREERE —EEBBL
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair REAWELE((EAEERER
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any FEREERAZESE)EE
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, FREEETRENG - E#R
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount ZEAREBBETRDEERE
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is IR EBREER D 2 E M EE
recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that (BHEHE) ZEREBEZ
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently EAEE AR ZIBERE 2l
increases. OeREEAMRGMZERT

RIZEIFR 25 R 3657 R ©
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate or joint venture and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

J the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes other than
construction in progress as described below. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Properties and equipments in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purpose are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Sale proceeds of items that are produced while
bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management
(such as samples produced when testing whether the
asset is functioning properly), and the related costs of
producing those items are recognised in the profit or loss.
The cost of those items are measured in accordance with
the measurement requirements of IAS 2. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZEBHmRNERERA
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT BERISFTBER(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EXASFBE(E)
Investment properties REYE
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals REAMEADRBERAS MK
and/or for capital appreciation. EEARFHEMIFE 2 W

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at
their fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.Gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
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property is derecognised. 1835 o
Leases HE
Definition of a lease HEZZEZ

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of IFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

92

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group applies the practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office and dormitories that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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94

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market
rental rates are initially measured using the market rental
rates as at the commencement date. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not
included in the measurement of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value
model.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contract with Customers (“IFRS 15"”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Quarry

Quarry represents the expenditures incurred by the Group
on the (i) acquisition of rights to explore mines and (ii)
fulfilment of those specific conditions attached to such
rights such as overburden removing, geological conditions
improvement and geological exploration. The quarry
is stated at cost less amortisation and any recognised
impairment loss. The cost of quarry is amortised on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful
life or the period of the excavation permit of the quarry.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above) (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amounts of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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£ 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

3.2

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZEBHmRNERERA
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT BERESFTBER(E)

100

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates.prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. When a
fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, contract or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred
to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the
useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.
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102

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
including state-managed retirement benefit schemes in the
PRC are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises
any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another IFRSs requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to-employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that another IFRSs requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end

of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting

profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in

the foreseeable future.
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104

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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£ 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

2022F FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDIEE AT

AN
N

B 7% R 3k B AR R E R AN

EREHRGA)

3.2

EXRETBER(E)
SRIE(HE)

ETHEE
EHEEZTERAKTE

HEUTHREZEREERR
REESHPNAGTE

. B H RUWELA KRR
BZERBEATTHEZ
TREE Rk

. BHGRNIETBHE
EZBREREERXN
A RREEAS ZH

B o
B

HEUNTHREZEREERR
BAFEFAEM2E WS
(MZRFEFAEME2ER

3 it

. BB E R LA R
TREBEKBNZER
EARFAEZEME

. BRFERN I E B HIE
¥y

FIEREMEREELRIRAF
Bt NR&EFTE - TR IER
TREER - WRAKRELIF
FEEE RSB RBER
I REEREIREHK S B
RAZEBHaHPER ZHAN
(B - BIARSKERE A BiH
SRR H A 2 s 2 5 R
RERFEZERES -

107



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 454 B 73R 3= (15T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

3.2

108

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Debt instruments/receivables classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments/receivables classified as at
FVTOCI as a result of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method are recognised
in profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying
amount of these debt instruments/receivables are
recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI")
and accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI
reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised
in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment
to OCI without reducing the carrying amounts of
these debt instruments/receivables. When these
debt instruments/receivables are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other expenses, other gains
and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, bills receivables
at FVTOCI, amount due from an associate, amount due
from a joint venture and bank balances and cash) which
are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZEBHmRNERERA

110

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT BARSFTHRE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EARSFTBER(E)
Financial instruments (continued) SRITE(E)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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£ 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

3.2

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

3.2

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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£ 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

3.2

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial re-
organisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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£ 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

3.2

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. Trade receivables that are credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

3.2

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For collective assessment of trade receivables,
the Group takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the grouping:

o Debtors’ aging;
o Repayment history; and
o Past due status.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

3.2

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for investments in debt instruments/
receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, note receivables, other receivables,
amount due from an associate and amount due
from a joint venture where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these debt instruments/
receivables. Such amount represents the changes in
the FVTOCI reserve in relation to accumulated loss
allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another

entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified

to profit or loss.

2022F FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDIEE AT

~
’%T A\ H

3.2

B 7% R 3k B AR R E R AN

REFTBRE)

EXRETBER(E)

¢RI A

EHEE (&)

v) FEKERBEHREEE
1B(E)
B A RSP ERF AR A
2EEFENERT
H/REWFKRIBRE I -
AEBERBHAEMB R

MTAME@ERE #
18 58 R R HORL (B W s
K - HERURR R
fEM =& Eﬂﬂfﬂﬁlm
TH R E R B FIA
K Y é%’&?mlﬁf
M B T AR -
ZIEEE R LTE?E
%EE}EEEE o HR AR

NP EFARM 2 E R
SR EMERKTAR
B BREREAEME
Bl ER  TES
D Mﬁfi%xlﬁ/ﬁ*
WEERWEE &S]
Do %ﬁﬁﬁ"%ﬂﬁ
SRAEMEER SR
B ERRRE
REFERENZQFE
FTACE 2 1 W 5 1
28k -

KU RS BEE
ERAERSHE2 A KET
BAE e MAENA R
ZEAHHBBREEREET
B—ERKE - AREHREL

ATHMEE -

IR B AR B LR —
HeBEBER H ZREEZK
B £ B W K B KB 2 AT RY
ERBERSERANER o

ERIEBRIRR AT EGF AR
tErEKESENEFIAR
ﬁﬁﬂ' ’ %H'JE‘%I{#AT&QZF{EEI»
AR 2 E WS 2 Rt les
FRAEHMHOBERER -

117



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B 783 2= (13T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

118

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amounts due to joint ventures, amount due to an associate
and borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the
net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

o~
’%T A\ H

3.2

Bt 75 R 3Rk B A R E R AN

REFTBRE)

EXRETBER(E)

¢RI A
THEEREZTA
SHEREF Kt
mEBEERRT G LR
TARBANRHFZABTRE

MEEREESTAZEREDR
AT A AR -

E T A
EETEEERTENNGE

MBRERZAENSERZ
EAAK - ARABITZHER

IEEEH&HXFM%%”\IEW BRE
BRI R

KGR AT EZ THAE

TREB(BRERSREME
BESER JEH—F'EJ/\**A%W\
H HEBBURRITEE)H
1&%%,\5’“ﬂ+£&%%}i$

E+E S

AU
EHEEASERICHE
B - Rtk E RS - AEET
E.l\JJ:EEu TRAE o RILHE
wERMABEKAEREN K
Jﬁﬁﬁf‘fz%@bﬁ% SR RERR

HigeHEERCHEE
EREEASBERABSGE
AIoRHIENI TR R 2RI SH B 1
RerERF AR FREE
HHIHIEQF&/EM\ R
TREEHS Vﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ
5 BEFBRERETBMAR
RET

Annual Report 2022 | ASIA CEMENT (CHINA) HOLDINGS CORPORATION



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B #83R 3= (13T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provision for environmental restoration

The Group is required to incur costs for environment
restoration after the quarry has been excavated. Provision
for restoration costs were recognised when the Group
has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provision is measured at the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of each reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Such provision is measured based on the present
value of future cash outflows expected to be incurred to
settle the obligation (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). The limestone excavated from the
quarry is used for the production of cement. Estimates are
regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for new
circumstances.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the Group uses practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based
on debtors’ aging, repayment history and past due status as
groupings of various debtors taking into consideration the Group's
historical default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable and available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in notes 40(b) and 24, respectively.
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5.

120

REVENUE

0]

(i)

(iii)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

At a point in time F—rFRswsR
recognition:

— Sales of cement products and

5.

—IHENORE M X ERIE M

Wz

0]

REAFFENZWEDIF

2022
—E-C

2021

RMB’000
AR®FE

RMB’000
AEBTT

related products 9,361,624 11,427,735

— Sales of concrete —HEERT 252,706 328,173

Total ait 9,614,330 11,755,908
Performance obligations for contracts with (i) ZEFEAZEAEME
customers
Sales of cement products and related products and HEKEEDSRIGEEZUR
concrete (revenue recognised at one point in time) EEL (WBRE—BEEE

&)
The Group sells cement products and related products and AEEREFL KD HEEHEEK
concrete directly to customers (including distributors). SEEMBIEBEE S RRERL o
Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has EEMZEHEDEE - BNE
transferred, i.e. when the goods have been transferred ERERNERS NS TEE
out from the Group’s warehouse (delivery). After leaving FZHE (XA B RE RS -
the warehouse, the customers and distributors have full N BE REHTEa 2
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell RS ATREFARERE
the goods, have the primary responsibility when selling B WHREEEEI Y FTES
the goods, and bear the risks of obsolescence and loss AREDRERIEBL AR o
in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 30 to A HEEERE  KEEFZ
180 days for cement customers and 180 to 365 days for =EH—AA3021808 © MR
concrete customers upon delivery. BIEEEEH—KRA180%
3650 -

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to ARAGEIAEBRREERP K
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has BREmMBERRFREEER S
received consideration from the customer. £
Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) PEEEFAABTEANS
performance obligation for contract with EoRBE
customers
All performance obligations for sale of cement products and EENEESR  RRLTRAR
related products and concrete are for periods of one year ERCABHSE XY AE—

or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

FHIAT o HMBERS RS
HHF IS AR - LEIE
DEEZERTHNENZRS
E o
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OPERATING SEGMENTS

Internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief executive
officer, being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"),
for the purposes of resource allocation and the assessment of
segment performance focus on the revenue and operating results
of the cement business and the concrete business, respectively.
They are considered as the reportable segments of the Group
under IFRS 8. Information relating to assets and liabilities in each
segment is not included in the internal reports regularly reviewed
by the CODM.

The cement business segment and the concrete business segment
both include a number of operations in various cities within PRC
each of which is considered as a separate operating segment of
the CODM. For financial statements presentation purpose, these
individual operating segments have been aggregated into the
cement business segment or the concrete business segment by
taking into account the following factors:

o these operating segments have similar long-term gross
profit margins;

o the nature of the products and production processes are
similar; and
o the methods used to distribute the products to the

customers are the same.

2022F FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDIEE AT

DERE R
FRER(NEBLEREE)([TBY
BREE D BORSERMEHBESR
i 2R A ERER % 5 Bl R KR
76 TSR+ S Uk T AT B o
RIEE B RS LR E8 - HmiS
BAEESEHBRIEND - GHR
DEAERAEY B RHATEL
BhEEE RN NSWER -

HRES D #B MORRE T X% 0 59 B 18
AR B8 I [RIER TT # 22 B S 75 5
FEERRATEDERARENB L ZE
DE o REVIMBHRERZ BN - ZEHE
B EEE BT IR RR AR AK
REBDMBIORRLEB DB

. BEEEHBAEHEMES

. EmEEREERERE &

. AR P2 #HEMLZ AR °
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AT
o -

OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

DEHER ()
REERSH/OBEI D 2 WEREED
Mran T

#E20225F12A31HILLFE

Cement Concrete
business business Total Elimination Consolidated
KiR%% RALEE - H L o]
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ABBTT ARBTT AR%TT AR®TT AR®TT
Revenue Wrgs
External sales HoNHE 9,361,624 252,706 9,614,330 - 9,614,330
Inter-segment sales PEREEE 54,085 - 54,085 (54,085) -
Total Bt 9,415,709 252,706 9,668,415 (54,085) 9,614,330
Segment result DEbEE 777,971 33,723 811,694 - 811,694
Unallocated income AAEUA 23,378
 Central administration costs, RRITEAA -
*directors' salaries and other EZHE R AN
unallocated expenses AOEHT (91,297)
Share of profits of joint ventures ElhAROEET 6,812
Share of losses of associates ElEBEREER (4,516)
Finance costs BERK (57,070)
Profit before tax BEAEA 689,001
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE2021F12A3181LFE

Cement Concrete
business business Total Elimination Consolidated
K BRLTFER Fah fise b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Revenue Iz
External sales HiMEE 11,427,735 328,173 11,755,908 = 11,755,908
Inter-segment sales DEREEE 120,097 5 120,097 (120,097) =
Total it 11,547,832 328,173 11,876,005 (120,097) 11,755,908
Segment result PEEE 2,715,694 (34,367) 2,681,327 = 2,681,327
Unallocated income KAEUA 44,015
Central administration costs, RRATHAR -
directors’ salaries and other BEHERAM
unallocated expenses AoEEY (102,667)
Share of profits of joint ventures FERAEERR 10,097
Share of losses of associates ity NG 3 (16,086)
Finance costs BENA (51,915)
Profit before tax B RS 2,564,771
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
result represents profit or loss earned by each segment without
allocation of certain unallocated income, central administration
costs, directors’ salaries and other unallocated expenses, share of
profits or losses of joint ventures and associates, and finance costs.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales were charged at market price or where no
market price was available at cost plus a percentage of profit mark-

up.

Other segment information

DEPER ()

EHDEZ GEFBOREAREERHIEE3
Pt &5 IERAAR - D EEEIEE DA
FRER 2 Wom sk & 18 - MEREH Mpt oy BB
DEAMPA ~ Bibes R BB - RRTT
KX - EFHe REMARDERS
EIERLREMBERRGRMARBE
RAYER Z DBC © TR E R ALl 3k
BRI ELERRERE ZFTES
= o

7 BB S IR T E Sk (R T 8 ) AR
A3 MR EANAK R ULER

Hitbn BE

Cement Concrete
business business Unallocated Consolidated
KiR%% RALEE R =8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AR%TT AR%®TT AR®TT
2022 2022
Amounts included in the measure 3 EHIIELSHEE
of segment profit or loss: ERzEE:
Interest income on bank deposits ROTFHABMA (132,868) (3,146) (23,088) (159,102)
Government grants income B e (26,912) (130) (290) (27,332)
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 86,104 2,355 807 89,266
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, teE/MEnE  BER
plant and equipment R BE 2,717 27 62 2,806
Reversed of allowance for credit losseson &5 R Hi [EU IR 8%
trade and other receivables, net EREE (10,988) (19,238) (199) (30,425)
Exchange loss, net EREETFE l'y) = 4,210 4,252
Amounts that regularly provided ~ EHRTEET4EE
to CODM: Rtz eH:
Additions to non-current assets (note) REETHEEN ) 371,766 4,291 3,535 379,592
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. DEE R (1)
Other segment information (continued) HittpEER (&)
Cement Concrete
business business Unallocated Consolidated
KEES RRTER RAR Fa
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETTT ARETTL ARETTT
2021 20215
Amounts included in the measure  FEHLERRAE
of segment profit or loss: ERZ &R :
Interest income on bank deposits BOEFFISRA (96,941) (2,558) (21,867) (121,366)
Interest income on USD Notes ETREFISRA - - (19,851) (19,851)
Government grants income e (20,458) (114) - (20,572)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREE 90,142 2,109 7% 93,047
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HE/HMENE  BER
plant and equipment RiE BB 19,615 793 191 20,599
Loss on disposal of quarry BLEEEX 15,544 = - 15,544
. Loss onidle land recovered by the BIPRERERE L6
“government, net % 27,293 - - 27,293
Allowance for credit losses on trade and -~ X B REMEWETEEBX
other receivables, net EEEE 124,162 6,001 85 130,248
Exchange loss, net BEHEETE 194 e 3429 3,623
Amounts that regularly provided THRFTESTREE
to CODM: Rtz & :
Additions to non-current assets (note) NEERBEE ML) 353,858 5,475 3,690 363,023
Note:  Additions to non-current assets mainly include property, plant and Biat : EmBEEEIEYE  BERKZE B
equipment, quarry, investment properties, intangible assets and right- 5 REYE  BEEEEREHESL
of-use assets. E o
Geographical Information wEE R
The Group’s revenue by location of customers is principally derived NEBEIREZ A E| D 2R TER
from the PRC. The Group’s non-current assets (property, plant and B - REBZIERBEE(BIEY
equipment, quarry, goodwill, investment properties, intangible ¥ BERSE BL REVE-B
assets, interests in joint ventures, interests in associates and right- 2 \BIEAE S0 ENBUWA - B
of-use assets) are principally located in PRC. EREFNBMARFEAEEE)RF
o
Information about major customers BERETEREFZEH
No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total sales of PREFEAN  BEZEERIAEEH
the Group for both years. EHRFEERI0% °
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7. OTHER INCOME

~

HAWA

2022
k-~ ol

RMB’000
AR®TT

Interest income on bank deposits RITFRFEUA 159,102 121,366
Government grants income (note 41) BB (Hfat41) 27,332 20,572
Sales of scrap materials SHERER 12,905 7,152
Solid waste treatment services EEEEE WA 6,344 -
Rental income EaUA 2,920 3,148
Sales of raw materials HERMVE 1,822 -
Transportation fee income EaA 1,683 1,779
Interest income on USD Notes (note) ELEEFBRA
(Ki7t) - 19,851
212,108 173,868

Note:

In 2020, the Company subscribed USD Notes issued by five
independent private entities through a security agent in Hong Kong,
with an aggregate amount of US$368,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB2,401,163,000). These USD Notes carried interest at a fixed rate of
1.0% per annum with maturity of one year. Details are set out in the
published annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Biat : R2020%F - AL EJEBEE —FiESH
RARETHARE LR EEREET
ZIAZETTEHE R A 17 BELE FI R EWE
#4828 /5368,000,0003 7 (#T & A
F#2,401,163,000T) @ ZEZHRK
1.0% 2 BELEFIFit8 » BB HE—
F o BRIFHIE - IR A EBATTI#E
F20214E 12731 B IFFE 7 E# -

8. OTHER EXPENSES, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2o

2022
—E-F

RMB’000
UN:

HtW s & E1E

(Loss) gain on fair value changes on NAFEFESHEE

financial assets at FVTPL LB (BB W (23,009) 1,462
Exchange losses, net b 5 E5185E (4,252) (3,623)
Government penalties and related BT Sk R AEREM

surcharge (note) (K1) (4,207) (226,395)
Losses on disposal/write-off of property, H& #isEHE -

plant and equipment e ] St (2,806) (20,599)
Gains on fair value changes on WEYENTFEWE

investment properties (note 17) (Hiat17) 200 6,845
Reversal of consideration for acquisition 723 &) Y i & B 1Y &2 3]

of a subsidiary 2,614 g
Loss on disposal of quarry ERERE U B8 5k - (15,544)
Loss on idle land recovered by the ENUE FE T HiEk

government, net (note 22) R (HiE22) - (27,293)
Impairment loss on investment in an B & N TR EHRIE

associate (note 21) BRHF21) - (53,340)

(31,460) (338.487)

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, various local PRC
government competent authorities have conducted various independent
investigations in relation to environmental protection, production
process and labour safety in various subsidiaries of the Group, which
resulted approximately of RMB226,395,000 penalties for requlation
violation and related surcharges.

20224 FEHE | EMKIR (PE)EELAT

et - BZE20214612H31HILEE - ZE+
BB T & ST A E A B A A
ZIRERE FERERFAILZEE
TTEZHEBUFE  BHERZH R
BIHT 0 B & 5749 A B #5 226,395,000

I °
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9.

10.

Y

126

FINANCE COSTS

9.

BhE AR

2022
e

— T — —

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARETIT

RMB’000
AR®TT

Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEER S 52,327 46,954
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 4,743 4,961
57,070 51,915

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FRSHIRIST

2022 2021
= F —E=—

RMB’000

AREBTT

RMB’000
AR®TR

- Current tax: BNEAFRIA -
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT"”) — B EREH
; (TRZEPRISHLL) 246,238 702,949
(Over) under-provision in prior years in @ FERE M
‘respect of PRC EIT FriST A GER) T2 (23,112) 45,761
Deferred tax (note 32) SEIERIB (M1 232) 41,883 (5,242)
265,009 743,468

The Company is not subject to income tax in the Cayman Islands

or any other jurisdiction.

Neither provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax nor Singapore income
tax has been made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as the Group had no assessable
profit arising in these jurisdictions for both years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, pursuant to
the Enterprise Income Tax Law and Implementation Regulations
of the Law of the PRC, the applicable tax rate of PRC subsidiaries
is 25%, except for certain subsidiaries entitled to different

preferential tax rates.

Pursuant to “The announcement on Continuation of Enterprise
Income Tax Policy for Western Development” (the Ministry of
Finance, the State Administration of Taxation and the National
Development and Reform Commission [2020] No. 23), Sichuan
Yadong Cement Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Yadong”), Sichuan Lanfeng
Cement Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Lanfeng”) and Sichuan Ya Li
Transportation Co., Ltd. were granted a tax concession to pay
corporate income tax at a preferential rate of 15% from 1 January

2021 to 31 December 2030.

AR R BB S RS Rt 7
ERRE ST -

AR SR BN M B R | TS M

@ M EmEERER AR EBNER
RE IR FRIS TR B -

BZ2022412 A31HF2021F12 431
AUEFE  REB(PEARKMBELE
FRSBUR) RSP AR A MBI RMAE
BURE RIS - P EIF B 2 RlE A B
KR25%  EETHEBARIZE TR
BEBEK -

RIBCRIRIEE BB EMEH
BENAEIERHEESBLBIF[2020]
235%) - Ul gR AR A R A E ()l
geER |) ~ POl LA AR ()
M) R RRESERA &R T
HRAGER - W2021F1A1HE20304
12831 BIERI5% 2 EEHRETIT AN
TSR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 42 &

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 10. FriS®ix (&)

FAMSHRAX EFaEE M EMEE
Wan R FTRER A& A 2 SRR

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

2022 AOVA
—E_C
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Profit before tax B AR AR ) 689,001 2,564,771
Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% BRPBPEMEHRE25%
(2021: 25%) (20214F : 25%)
HECHIE 172,250 641,193
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  RRIHIFFE S 2 FiiE R/ &
for tax purposes 50,778 139,308
Tax effect of share of profits of joint EEAEERFIZ G E
ventures (1,703) (2,524)
Tax effect of share of losses of FEIRERE R AR 2 RIg s &
associates 1,129 4,021
Effect of tax concessions granted to FEMBARZETIE
PRC subsidiaries BEE (40,253) (83,554)
(Over) under-provision in prior years BAEFERER)T (23,112) 45,761
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RIERTRIBEIE 2 RiETE 55,909 424
Tax effect of deductible temporary AR TR ERE S
differences not recognised TR & 21,812 -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not  B)RSCRIAR FHERZ
recognised HIEEE (575) (1,069)
Recognition of deductible temporary w;‘a B AR FRER 2 o] #HF0
difference previously not recognised =R - (60,778)
Deferred tax on undistributed earnings Bﬁ%ﬂﬁjﬁiﬁ?}f&@ﬂ
of PRC subsidiaries ZIEEFIA 28,774 60,686
Income tax expense for the year 265,009 743,468

20224 FEHE | EMKIR (PE)EELAT

Details of movements in deferred tax have been set out in note 32.

R RSB BEAIFES2 ©
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1. FRERF

2022
e

— m——

RMB’000
AR®TT

Profit for the year has been arrived at S A% F AR IR T 51 & 18
after charging:

—0x - BE MR

Depreciation and amortisation
— Property, plant and equipment

2021

RMB'000
ARETT

(note 15) (K15t15) 742,406 790,434
— Quarry (note 16) —WE5 (it 16) 63,032 70,486
— Intangible assets (note 19) —HtmpEEEZE19) 1,571 1,631
— Right-of-use assets (note 22) —(EREEEN722) 35,301 38,579
Total depreciation and amortisation WE N HEEE 842,310 901,130
Less: Capitalised in inventories o FEBE AL (753,044) (808,083)
89,266 93,047
~ Staff costs, including directors’ BRERA  BIEEEMS
remuneration (note 12(a)) (K1t 12(a))
Salaries and other benefits e REMBET 539,128 579,891
Retirement benefits scheme RRERFT SR
contributions 43,764 37,351
Total staff costs R BN ETE 582,892 617,242
Less: Capitalised in inventories B FEEAME (403,392) (429,642)
179,500 187,600
Impairment losses recognised on TEE - BEMREERE
property, plant and equipment BARFTASEENAR
included in cost of sales 87,817 -
Auditors’ remuneration ZER RN & 6,000 5,600
Cost of inventories recognised BERERAS 2 FERA
as expenses (including the (BRIBIRIERE
provision for environmental AR #6,323,0005T
restoration RMB6,323,000 (2021: (20214 :
RMB13,684,000)) AR #13,684,0007T)) 8,237,584 8,075,943
Gross rental income from investment & & A S U
properties 1,095 1,043
Less: direct operating expenses incurred & : FFRELREYMERS
for investment properties that WA BEEEERE
generated rental income during
the year (78) (69)
1,017 974
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief
executive are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022

12.

Fees

e

RMB’000
AE®TR

Chief executive and TREERRTES

executive director

EENEENE

(a) E=EME
BENSENESERITRARZ
BT -

#E2022F12A31HILLFE

Salaries
and other
benefits

ek

R thig#
RMB'000
AE®TR

Retirement
benefits
scheme
contributions
BFREF
FHEIER
RMB’000
AE%TR

Total

ot
RMB*000
AER®TR

Dr. Wu Chung-lih (note a) RPFL W) 97 1,716 - 1,813

Mr. Chang, Chen-kuen (note b) SRIEE % 4(#5#b) 214 1,339 - 1,553

Executive directors BITES

Mr. Hsu, Shu-ping HRBELE 207 - - 207

Mr. Chang, Tsai-hsiung RARAE 207 - - 207

Mr. Lin, Seng-chang MEELE 207 1,080 - 1,287

Ms. Wu Ling-ling R@EatT 219 - - 219

Mr. LEE, Kun-yen (note ¢) T e (W atc) 115 - - 115

Non-executive director ~ FEHITES

Mr. Hsu, Shu-tong BRBREE 259 138 - 397

Independent non-executive HIFHTESE

directors

Mr. Tsim, Tak-lung Dominic EERLLE 259 - - 259

Mr. Wang Wei TERE 259 - - 259

Mr. Lee Kao-chao FRMEE 259 - - 259

Dr. Wang Kuo-ming TEBEBL 259 - - 259
2,561 4,273 - 6,834
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EEREEME(E)
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) E=ME(E)

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021 #¥20215F12A31HILLFEE

Retirement

Salaries benefits

and other scheme

Fees benefits contributions

Y RAGER
2k EtiE A st &R &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'00
ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETE

Chief executive and TRRERATES

executive director

Dr. Wu Chung-lih RepyEL 21 1,787 - 1,998
N <4 Executive directors RITEE
Mr. Hsu, Shu-ping RIBT %4 199 - - 199
Mr. Chang, Tsai-hsiung RAHERE 199 - - 199
Mr. Chang, Chen-kuen RIRELE 199 1,317 - 1,516
Mr. Lin, Seng-chang MEZLAE ol 2 199 701 - 900
Ms. Wu Ling-ling Rt of 21 - - 211
Non-executive director  JEHTEE
Mr. Hsu, Shu-tong RBREE 249 138 = 387
Independent non-executive HIFHITEE
directors
Mr. Tsim, Tak-lung Dominic s e 249 = 2 249
Mr. Wang Wei FREE 249 - - 249
Mr. Lee Kao-chao TREEE 249 = = 249
Dr. Wang Kuo-ming FEEET 249 = = 249
2,463 3,943 - 6,406
Notes: et
a. Dr. Wu, Chung-lih was resigned as the chief executive of a. R ELR2022F5H 10
the Company on 10 May 2022 and retired as the executive H EEFFHF AR L B] 7T B A8 % OF
director on 10 June 2022. R2022F6 410 H R FH
TTEE -
b. Mr. Chang, Chen-kuen was appointed as the chief executive b. SKIREB S ER2022F5H 10
of the Company on 10 May 2022. HEREZE A ZER AT
2.
€ Mr. LEE, Kun-yen was appointed as the executive director on @ FIAK T ER2022F6 410
10 June 2022. HETBBPTES -
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

12. EBKEEME(E)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEME(E)
(continued)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for FXRRZBTESHE T E
their services in connection with the management of the AREARAGEAEBEBRE
affairs of the Company and the Group. B R -
The non-executive director’'s emoluments shown above was EXFIRZIERNITESME
for his services as the director of the Company. DEETARAIKEKBR A

ERCRBER -

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments EXFTR 2 B IR ITE F B
shown above were for their services as directors of the SEFHREERARAES 2R
Company. HEA -
There was no arrangement under which a director or the FRWELHE R RITHAE
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration MEXREREEAME
during the year.

b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two directors (2021: two directors), details of
whose remuneration are set out in note (a) above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
(2021: three) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries and other benefits RIREFIFT B

RMB’000
AR®TR

RAEBRAERSFHALTH
B-HQ021%F : MB) BER
RIZEE e XM
QT - B TF=2(2021F : =
EINEZBIE T

2022 2021

=5 —E=—

RMB'000
ARETT

4,251 4,193

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BEZMENTFATEHE :

HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000

1,000,00177T—1,500,000787C
2,000,001 —2,500,00077T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of
the Company and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office during the year.
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13.

14.

132

DIVIDENDS 13. RE
2021
== T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETTT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders FRER BN KA T]
of the Company recognised as TR ZRE.
distributions during the year:
2021 Final, paid — RMB45.0 cents 2021 EBIR AL E
(2021: 2020 Final, paid — RMB51.1 BRARK45.00
cents) per share (20214F : 20205 K HA
REARES1.15) 705,083 800,661
A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 of RMB16.0 ERe Rt HEAE R ERIRNE
cents per share (2021: RMB45.0 cents per share) amounting to F2022FNAMBIFERPERES
approximately RMB250,696,000 (2021: RMB705,083,000) has BAR16.09 (20214 : BRARE
been proposed by the directors of the Company after the end of 45.09) - & A ARH250,696,0007T
. the reporting period. The proposed final dividend for the current (20214 : AR¥705,083,0007T) ° A&
' year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at FEEIR RN BB RN B E
the forthcoming general meeting. [ERFIRFERGHA - TAEE -
EARNlNGS PER SHARE ﬁ 14. BREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attrlb,_utable to RAREA NEEFREREFIZ TS
owners of the Company is based on the following data: * BEEE -
2022 2021
== T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARW®TT ARETTT
Earnings aa
Earnings for the purposes of basic STESREXRRT 2 BT
earnings per share (profit for the (RREEB A
year attributable to owners of the FEIEF R F])
Company) 420,072 1,768,307
Number of shares BE®
Weighted average number of ordinary st E&EAREREFZ
shares for the purpose of basic AR INAE T AR BX
earnings per share 1,566,851 1,566,851
No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did not HRAARRREFEHAREEAD
have any dilutive shares in issue during both years. BITEERG - WAR27|GREER
A e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ - BMENKREG

Furniture, Trucks,
Buildings fixtures loaders
and  Plantand  andoffice  andmotor  Leasehold Construction
structures  machinery  equipment vehicles improvement in progress Total

BALEE RE-RRR  HARMR
#F BREREE  RMOLG kiR k¢  ERIE it
RVBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RVBOOO  RMBOOD  RVBOOD  RMBOOO

AE¥TL  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR ARMTR ARETR

oSt 713
At 1 January 2021 MoE1E18 437509 12073071 377953 314,368 531 8364 17,176,719
Addiions TE 1450 250 800 28% - 276,309 281,705
Transfer &3 0 201,401 16,8 8,158 - (256,095) -
Transfer to quarry 2hopE - L - - - (13384) (13,384)
Disposals/wite-0ff HE /i (1305) (60,139) (391) (25,776) - - (122,881)
At 31 December 2021 MEANE 4316112 12214584 401,070 299,745 531 90,19 1732223
Additions HE - 440 1,000 3127 - 3416 376,983
Transfer &3 16,839 256,554 31,384 8,304 - (33171) -
Disposalsurite-of e /s - (11479) (14273) (6,289 - - (32,041)
At 31 December 2022 1#2022612R31R 4,362,951 12,460,099 419,181 304977 531 119439 17,667,178
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ ZRHFEREE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 ME1R18 1307192 7779830 287,719 175,084 31 - 9590216
Provided for the year Enih 126,104 620992 18838 24,486 14 - 790434
Fliminated on disposalsfwrte-off HHE /iR (7542 (46,922) (21,508) (23197) = - (99,169)
At 31 December 2021 MOEANE 1465754 8353900 285,109 176373 315 - 10281481
Provided for the year Ehih 131,625 561,709 25983 22,903 186 - 742,40
Impaiment loss recognised in HABRRERR

profit or loss 63,455 20868 29 3,065 = - 87817
Eliminated on disposalsfwrite-off HE /HEBHRE 5 (9,385) (12,826) (5,725 S s (27.936)
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12R31R 1,660,834 8,927,092 298,695 196,616 531 - 11,083,768
CARRYING VALUES e
At 31 December 2022 120226128318 2702117 3,533,007 120,486 108,361 - 119439 6583410
At 31 December 2021 MoENA3NE 280358 3,860,684 115,961 1331 186 90,194 7,04075
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 454 B 73R 3= (15T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

15.

134

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Buildings and structures are located in the PRC on medium term
leasehold land.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis
with the following useful lives:

Buildings and structures 20-40 years

Plant and machinery 10-20 years

Furniture, fixtures and office 5-15 years
equipment

Trucks, loaders and motor vehicles 5-15 years

Over the shorter of term of
the relevant leases or 5
years

Leasehold improvement

Impairment assessment

In 2022, due to the products of Wuhan Yaxin had a negative
gross profit, the management of the Group concluded there was
indication for impairment and conducted impairment assessment
on certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amounts of
RMB87,249,000. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment are estimated individually.

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment
have been determined based on their value in use. The Group
estimates the value in use of the property, plant and equipment
using a discount rate of 5.09%. The relevant assets were impaired
to their recoverable amount of nil, which is their carrying values
at year end and the impairment of RMB87,249,000 has been
recognised in profit or loss within the relevant functions to which
these assets relate during the year.

The Group leases out a number of properties under operating
leases. None of the leases includes variable lease payments. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, the cost and the accumulated
depreciation of properties amounted to RMB4,239,000 (2021:
RMB3,342,000) and RMB1,676,000 (2021: RMB1,171,000)
respectively.

15.

Y ~ s R e ()

13

ZEBFOMRPEZ PRGN -

AEWZ - BB RBRHEEE (ERETE
BROMIRBEAREIA T A A HiET &
wE -

gF 2052405

5% 5= M i 23 102204

KA -HER 5% 154

NG

BE - EHHKEAE S5EI15F

HEWERE A R ER
(5F 2
BEE

A

202F AR R EGEEMHEIRAE
Ao AEBEREBRAGFERETE
HERME(EE A AREES7,249,000 T AYED
mE - BB RBREETT T RERE -
z%\@%&%ﬁZﬂW@éﬁﬂmm
E_o

Y% B MR E 2 B £ 58 TR R
HEFEREEET - AEFEIA5.09%861R
RGEEME - BENMREZFHEE -
HHEEECREZSEA KR SEAS
BERFARNEEE  MREARE
87,249,000t ENF NIEZ L B EER
ZHABATHAE NN B S R HERR o

AREBBBEKLEHELTHLEZEY
¥ o (M HESTEEERENK -
HZE2022F12A31HIEEE - WEK
AR Z2FHITED Rl A AR 4,239,000
(2021 F : ARK¥3,342,00070) &
AR¥1,676,0007C (20214 : AR
1,171,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

16. QUARRY 16. &5
RMB’000
AREFIT
COST jo%.
At 1 January 2021 202141818 1,482,374
Additions NE 14,745
Transfer from property, plant and equipment Y% - BB MR EE 13,384
Disposal BE (16,875)
At 31 December 2021 & 2022 2022%12A31H%2021¥12A31H 1,493,628
AMORTISATION e
At 1 January 2021 20211 A1H 482,800
Provided for the year FANEE 70,486
Disposal BE (1,331)
At 31 December 2021 2021412 H31H 551,955
Provided for the year FNEE 63,032
At 31 December 2022 %2022%12H31H 614,987
CARRYING VALUES RE{E
At 31 December 2022 2022%12A31H 878,641
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12H31H 941,673

Quarry is amortised over the shorter of the estimated useful life or
the period of excavation permit of the quarry. Quarry is amortised
on a straight-line basis over 5 to 30 years.

20224 FEHE | EMKIR (PE)EELAT

TEISRAaT ] 5 A 4 B sk IR IS AR R R
BEHYHA SRR A - RSN E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REWY=
RMB'000
AREBT T
FAIR VALUE LFEE
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1A1H 123,247
Additions (note) EhncaEE) 2,194
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss R IEzE R RER A FEE 11 6,845
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12H31H 132,286
Additions (note) EncaEE) 1,656
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss  RIEzE R FER A FEIE 1 200
At 31 December 2022 7¥2022512A31H 134,142
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s Bzt : REZ2022F12H31HK20214F12
PRC subsidiary obtained properties from their trade debtors as full A31HIFFE - KEFFEHTE 2 7]
settlement of their trade balances and these properties were recognised A FZF RS — B4 ER EWT
as investment properties at their market value when the Group IH - BB ERATEERABREY
.~ completed the property registration process. 2 AEFE TR Y EZTCEF -
The investment properties are held under medium-term leases in KEDERFTRUATERAHEERTE - I
PRC and are rented out under operating leases. The fair value of N EHE R - NEEMR2022F12
the Group's investment properties at 31 December 2022 have A3MBIREME 2 N EERBERT
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date M EEESAT ([ EERTT])ETT
by Dehenham Tie Leung Real Estate Appraiser Office (“DTZ") (2021: HERZEEFE(2021F  BER
DTZ), an independent qualified professional valuer not connected 17) e BiERITR —REAREBEME
with the Group. BN A BRBEMER -
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best PEETEATER MEZEaNE
use of the properties is their current use. EREREBAIARE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

held by the Group in the

consolidated statement

of financial position 2022
REMBRR AT
AREGACRRIR o b
RMB'000

AERTR

Fair value
hierarchy

AFERE

Valuation
technique
#ERER

IERARR

17. REWEE)

Significant
unobservable input(s)
EXTIRE

BARE

Relationship of
unobservable input(s)
to fair value
FTRESA
BRELTEZRE

Commercial property units 15,400 1779  Llevel3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the ~ An increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan E= approach time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
frmIlz B E ERUE: such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment
the comparable and the property, of property by the same percentage
RIMB14,407 (2021: RMB16,079) per increase, and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorarea (/R BN HERANFRESE A
basis MZEEMERTEEM - K27 -
BHER M \TELEERTY
¥7@0BE LENRERIRZ A
PFERAE  RIHEEREREST
FRARE14407T (20215 :
NEH#16,07970) 2ERHE -
Commercial property units 22,750 2910 Lewel3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the ~ An increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan F=H approach time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
frRmIz ExE ERIRTE stich as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment
the comparable and the property, of property by the same percentage
RMB18,692 (2021: RMB18,824) per increase, and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorarea  (EFIZ B HERENERRAZAAMLE
basi. IMZREMFATEEM - K27 o
BUHER M ATELENEETY
£ BE  NENRERIEE - A
IFERAE - RIHEEREREET
FRARB18,692T (20215 -
ARB18824T) ZERHE -
Commercial property units 5,202 581 Level3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the A increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan £=4 approach time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
N rdsE2ES ERIRE such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment

the comparable and the property, of
RMB19,801 (2021: RMB20,102) per

property by the same percentage
increase, and vice versa.

square meter on saleable floorarea  (EFI B HERENMERRAZAA LS

basis. MZREMERTEEM - R2HR -
BUBER MATERBNEERY

$7RH  ENRERIRR - fi

DAL  RTREERERET

FRAEB198017C (20215 :

AR®0,1007) ZREHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 17. REWZE(E)

Investment properties

held by the Group in the Relationship of
consolidated statement Fairvalue  Valuation Significant unobservable input(s)
of financial position 2022 2021 hierarchy  technique unobservable input(s) to fair value

RRMERRERD fEERER EXFURR FURREA
SREREZRANR ZBITE “EO-F ATERG FERARE  BAEE BERATEZRE
RMB'000  RMB'000
AERFR  ARETR

Commercial property units 11,830 1,940 level3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the A increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan R approach time, location, and individual factors, ~ would result in an increase in the fair
fram)l 2 E s EEIRE such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment

the comparable and the property, of property by the same percentage
RMB10,597 (2021: RMB10,696) per increase, and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorarea R Z EfSEEEE MR EASEALE
basi. IZRENZNTFEEM - RZHHA o
BUHER @ ATEHRIMEELY
o £ - B RERRE b
¥ DRARAR  EUHERREEST
ARARE05977T (20215 :
AEB10,6967C) ZE%HE «

~ Commercial property units 11,690 12,060 level3 Directeigjqparison Unit sale rate, taking into account the ~ Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan ] approach time, location, and individual factors, ~ would result in an increase in the fair
vz F s ERERE such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment
the comparable and the property of property by the same percentage
RMB19,187 (2021: RMB19,793) per increase and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorarea Iz EfrSEERENFRAZEALE
basi. MZRENELTEEN  RITH -
EHER M ATEL BEELY
EvBRE  NENRENRER
IHARAE - BUHEERREST
FRARE19,1877 (20215 :
ARE19,7937) ZERHE -

Commercial property units 2,060 2010 Level3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the ~ An increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Sichuan E=i approach time, location, and individual factors, would result in an increase in the fair
frmIz B E ERMEE such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment

the comparable and the property of property by the same percentage

RIMBI,304 (2021: RMBY,079) per square  increase and vice versa.

meter on saleable floor area basis. ~ FRZEABERENFRASH L
BfffER M ATELBRYEEZN  MoREMELTEEN R o

£7EBE  NENRENEE  f

PHARAE  FTHEERARRET

FKARE93047 (20215 :

NEB90797) 2 EERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

held by the Group in the

consolidated statement

of financial position 2022 2021

VEITE
technique

fEERER

Fair value
hierarchy
FRHERRE RS
FRABHCRANR ook

RMB'000

ABRTR ARETT

LR

Commercial property units 3,490 3460 level3 Direct comparison
located in Sichuan £=4 approach
frRm 2 EEn% BRENAE
Commercial property units 2,920 - lewel3 Direct comparison
located in Sichuan =0 approach
i 3ES BEUBE
Commercial property units 14,530 15,25 Level3 Direct comparison
located in Wuhan R approach
ENHEz BENE BRI

2022%F FEHE | EMKR(PE)EERAT

IERARS

17. REWEE)

Relationship of
unobservable input(s)
unobservable input(s) to fair value
EXTTER FUBREA

BARE BRELTECEE

Significant

An increase in the unit sale rate used
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
property by the same percentage

Unit sale rate, taking into account the
time, location, and individual factors,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparable and the property of

RMB12,430 (2021: RMB12,323) per increase and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorares  BRZBLEERENRRAZEA LS
basi. MZREMFATEEM - k27 -

BiiER M ATELENEETY
£7EBE  UENRENRE
IPEREE  FTHEERERET
FANRE124307T (2015
ARE12337) 2 BEHE

An increase in the unit sale rate used
would result in an increase in the fair
such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment
the comparable and the property of property by the same percentage
RMB7,391 per square meter on saleable  increase and vice versa.
floor area basis. PR BN HERENERRZEM L

BUHER MAIATELRNERLY  MZRENEATEEM R o
SRR ENRENRR - fi
IFERAE  RHERREREET
IRARET 0 Bk E -

Unit sale rate, taking into account the
time, location, and individual factors,

Anincrease in the unit sale rate used
would result in an increase in the fair
value measurement of the investment
property by the same percentage

Unit sale rate, taking into account the
time, location, and individual factors,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparable and the property of

RMB16,642 (2021: RMB17,472) per increase and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorarea R Z EfSEEEEMREASEALE
basis. MZRENELTEEM R2HH -

BiER M ATELENEETY
£7EBE  UENRENRE  f
IPEREE  FTHEERERET
K ARE16,642 (2015 :
AREVTATTL) 2 BEHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 17. REWHE(E)
Investment properties
held by the Group in the Relationship of
consolidated statement Fairvalue  Valuation Significant unobservable input(s)
of financial position 2022 hierarchy technique unobservable input(s) to fair value
FRHERRE RS fHEHER EXTURE FIRERA
FEARRCRENR 3_C ATERR IERABE  BARE HRELFECRE
RMB'000
AE®TR
Commercial property unit 44,210 41580 Level 3 Direct comparison  Unit sale rate, taking into account the A increase in the unit sale rate used
located in Shanghai R approach time, location, and individual factors, ~ would result in an increase in the fair
fii Eg 2 EEE EREE such as frontage and size, between value measurement of the investment

the comparable and the property of property by the same percentage
RMB154,176 (2021 RMB144,807) per  increase and vice versa.
square meter on saleable floorares  BRZ BLEERENRRAZEA IS

bass. MZRENERTEEM RZTH -
. EHER AT AL ETY
i ‘ A BE  NENREREZR - A
o MFRERAE  BIREERAREY
ARARE54,17670 (20015 1 AR
G F1448077T) ZEEHE -
%I'her:étwere no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the‘.'i_e,ar. ERMEFRREBASERE =R -
18. GOODWILL : 18. BZ
AOVA
RMB’000
ARETTT
COST [5%. 3
At 1 January and 31 December M1A1BX12A318 693,000 693,000
IMPAIRMENT BERE
At 1 January and 31 December MR1A1H&12A31H (138,759) (138,759)
CARRYING VALUES IRHE{E
At 31 December M12HA31H 554,241 554,241
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated AETRENR BECESEEZER
to the Group’s subsidiary which constitute a CGU. The carrying MEAT  BATSBaEKR—ERES
amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU is as follows: EXBMN([BeEASEMN]) - ZF5He

ELXBMES R BHEREENT

2021

RMB’000
ARBTT

Sichuan Lanfeng )l 554,241 554,241
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

18.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the CGU for the purpose of
impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation.

The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period (2021:
5-year period) and discount rate of 12.6% per annum (2021:
11.4%). Growth rate of 1.0% (2021: 1.0%) is extrapolated for
the cash flows of the CGU beyond the 5-year period (2021: 5-year
period). This growth rate is based on the cement industry growth
forecasts and the production quota adopted by the government.

Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and budgeted costs. Such estimation is based on the CGU'’s
past performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, management
of the Group determines that there is no impairment on the CGU.
The directors of the Company believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of CGU's to exceed its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount
of the CGU. The directors of the Company believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not
result in impairment.

2022F FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDIEE AT

18.

B2 (&)

B EEEIN - K~ BB RRERE
ERERENETEEERMEREEN
AR SELBETRENS -

SERSELBL Y IKESERIRE
EREEEEET T -

nALy—r/ﬁ?ﬂiﬁﬁEii?ﬂi/ﬁ/u%5iﬁﬂﬁﬁ
(20214 : SFHIE) 2 BFEE B 2
W RETER NIRRT F12.6%

(20214F + 11.4%)5H5E - BHZSTH
(20214 : SFHE) 2R EHERA

BFEEEERTFE1.0%Q2021F : 1.0%)
HEET o IERERIRIBCEEERIBAGT
g BTBEXKEEZFHRAEER
Eﬁtﬁﬁﬁ{“ﬂﬁ@ FEZEERBHABRE

fﬁ/ﬁ&iﬁ 5@$Ziﬁimb)\///luﬂj
mﬁﬂ ZIEHETRBERSELXEN
BARAMEREEHMSER 2TEHE
ﬁ o

BE2022912 A31H K20214812 431
ALEFE  AEEERERTREES
BAERE - EFAE - TRLEHESR
AR RS TS FIREE
HEMREEBHEATRESE -

AP RESNREEL B 2 RE
= ZKQTi%.: 5 ZERR M
BEAEMNE(LIH T EEHURE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

19.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

19.

HttELEE

Software
R
RMB’000
ARETT
COST 5% 3
At 1 January 2021 720211818 41,276
Additions INE 1,187
Write-off e (751)
At 31 December 2021 72021412 H31H 41,712
Additions nNE 953
Write-off e (1,407)
At 31 December 2022 12022%12A31H 41,258
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION REts
At 1 January 2021 720211 A1H 36,454
Provided for the year FREE 1,631
- Write-off He (751)
At 31 December 2021 7202112 H831H 37,334
Provided for the year FNEE 1,571
Write-off HE (1,407)
At 31 December 2022 120224128318 37,498
CARRYING VALUES lﬁﬁ{.
At 31 December 2022 7#2022%F12A31H 3,760
At 31 December 2021 72021412 H31H 4,378

208

142

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Cost of unlisted investment in joint

The software is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

20.

KRB ERFRIELEN

HZEMHRE RS F R -

\eE R

2022
B F

2021

RMB’000
UN:

RMB'000
ARETT

ventures B Z AR 81,559 63,559
Share of post-acquisition profits and RN 1R S T &
other comprehensive income, net of H b2 mEBRA
dividends received (HBREWIRE) 35,676 36,288
Accumulated impairment losses NEEEZ Rt
R EREE (32,595) (32,595)
84,640 67,252

Annual Report 2022 | ASIA CEMENT (CHINA) HOLDINGS CORPORATION



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20. RAeBEIREXR(E)

Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting REHEEER  AEEEELEY
period are as follows: BT
Country of
establishment/ Proportion of Proportion of
Form of principal place ~ Class of ownership interest voting rights Principal
Name of joint ventures entity of operation  capital held held by the Group  held by the Group  activities
ERALER/ SRERS XA
SELREN R TERENY it e FrAgsLn BRELH IERK
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZE-ZF “I--F ZBITE —3--F
Wuhan Asia Marine Transport Sino-foreign equity - PRC Registered capital 50% 50% 50% 50%  Provision of
Corporation Ltd. ("Wuhan Asia’) ~ jointventure EYEMEL transportation
RERTHERRAA PIaE senice
kirt% REEERHK
Hubei Xinlongyuan Mining Company ~ Sino-foreign equity  PRC Registered capital 40% 40% 40% 40%  Production and
Limited (*Hubei Xinlongyuan") jointventure BaEfER sales of lmestone
Ry EERBERERAA fag EERLERRA
Btk
Jiangyi Ruiya New Material Co., Ltd.  Sino-foreign equity  PRC Registered capital 45% 45% 45% 45%  Production and
IEREMMEARAE jointventure EhER sales of limestone
hiaE EERLERRA
Rirtx
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s BUENEBLSEOE B ERBES
significant joint venture is set out below. The summarised financial AT o AT ERIE AR BRI
information below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ I MEEARE Y AZ XK RE
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs. Fr&%E o
The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in BZELSS ¥ F R ENGSE
these consolidated financial statements. FERE R AL o
Wuhan Asia RERED
2022 APA|
g
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETTT
Current assets mENEE 36,247 48,636
Non-current assets IERENEE 91,328 69,411
Current liabilities nEBE (22,237) (15,705)
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20. eI RER(E)

Wuhan Asia (continued) RERD(E)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following: it EERBEHSRERIEUNTRIA
2022 AOVA
= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Cash and cash equivalents BEREEEEY 16,405 36,079
Current financial liabilities (excluding };lébééﬂfé{ﬁ
trade and other payables and (TMER S R EMPER R
provisions) 1%) 721 931
Revenue Was 99,683 89,373
Profit and total comprehensive income A3 Fll & 2 E WA 458
for the year 6,920 9,126
Dividends received from the joint BREEREFAZIRE
__ venture during the year 1,963 1,643
The above profit for the year LMF RN EETEIE
include the following:
Depreciation and amortisation PTE N 3,237 2,898
Interest income FLE U A 364 554
Income tax expense FTiSHiA > 2,510 3,276
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 20. RAeBEIREXR(E)

Wuhan Asia (continued) HERIDT(E)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to i AR B RG-S ISR RN RE
the carrying amount of the interest in Wuhan Asia recognised in RREELEZESRAEZHER

the consolidated financial statements:

2022 2021

= —E -

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TT ARETTT

Net assets of Wuhan Asia NERGEEFE 105,338 102,342
Proportion of the Group’s ownership  {EAEBERRER

interest in Wuhan Asia P tERE RS 2 L 51 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's AEERRERTZ

interest in Wuhan Asia RERIRE(E 52,669 51,171

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not ENFEXSELEERER

individually material

2022 2021
= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT

The Group’s share of post-tax profit and 7~ B fE (k% M &

total comprehensive income FERABE 3,352 5,534
Aggregate carrying amount of the TEBRZEEEHE

Group's interests in these joint ¥ EERAE

ventures 31,971 16,081
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REE QR ED
2021
—E—— —EFE-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREBTT
Cost of unlisted investments in 1) AN
associates FEEMIREK A 726,190 726,190
Share of post-acquisition profit and FEMR U EE 1% S T &2
other comprehensive income HAeb 2 A 126,974 131,490
Impairment loss NERIEEEEN (53,340) (53,340)
799,824 804,340
Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period RIREEIRAE R - KEFEBENTZ
are as follow: HIEWT
Country of
establishment/ Proportion of Proportion of
Form of principal place ~ Class of ownership interest voting rights Principal
Name of associates entity of operation - capital held held by the Group held by the Group  activities
ERRIER/ S5 EFH 34l
SELRER 117 TERENY it e AL RRELH IERK
2022 2021 2022 2021
E-CF —Z--% ZBCCE —3--F
Yuan Ding Sino-foreign equity  PRC Registered capital 40% 40% 40% 40%  Property leasing
B9EZ (15 ARAT jointventure  FRE B4 nERY
HieE
Rz
Hubei Zhongjian Yadong Sino-foreign equity  PRC Registered capital 40% 40% 40% 40%  Production and
Concrete Company Limited jointventure R EhER sales of concrete
("Hubei Zhongjian) HHGE FERLERRAL
HLPETRRRTERAT it
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's BRAEEBE AR ZYBETES
associates are set out below. The summarised financial information AR o AT B & R E AR R R
below represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial RS RE R R 2 B A R SRR
statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs. FT/RENEE -
The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these BN Bl A E R B BT SRR N
consolidated financial statements. ABR o
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21.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Yuan Ding

Yuan Ding was established in 2013 to undertake the commercial
property development and operation. The Group is able to exercise
significant influence over Yuan Ding because it has the power to
appoint two out of the seven directors in Yuan Ding under the
provisions stated in the articles of association of Yuan Ding.

On 31 December 2021, the management of Yuan Ding decided
to change its business model to a lessor instead of operating
the commercial property by its own. The commercial property
was reclassified from property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets measured at the cost model to investment
properties measured at fair value, and the difference amounted
of RMB389,353,000 between the fair value and the carrying
amount of the property upon the transfer was recognised in
other comprehensive income by Yuan Ding. Upon the change of
business model, the goodwill amounted of RMB53,340,000 was
fully impaired in 2021.

21.

REZENT) 2w (E)

Rg

RER2013F KT NERZEEEYE

BB B - AEEALMEESMEINE
T2 EAARSBATERPFRE A

EEERERRLtRBREEPITMA -

202112831 2R EBERER
EEBARALAA  MIEBTTEERE
EVE c mEVERAUKTERFEN
Y  BEMEREMMEAEEESTH
HAURABEAEZREEDE W
¥ hBEARAGBE BNEERY
=% 5 AR #389,353,0007T & SHE
RREMG A RSP REBKEA N E
B B A R#53,340,000 772021
FREERIE -

2022 2021
—=E=-
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
Current assets TRENEE 277,576 289,469
Non-current assets IERENEE 1,672,682 1,679,175
Current liabilities mENBE (4,265) (11,085)
Revenue WS 21,111 49
Loss for the year FAERE (11,565) (41,754)
Other comprehensive income FREMEEIA
for the year - 389,353
Total comprehensive (expense) FAZEGEZH)
income for the year WA 4B %8 (11,565) 347,599
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21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 21. REE QTR (&)
Yuan Ding (continued) =R (E)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to i AR B G A M ISR RN E
the carrying amount of the interest in Yuan Ding recognised in the RZ R BHERRMEE 2 YR

consolidated financial statements:

2022 2021

== —E - —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT AREBT T

Net assets of Yuan Ding RBEEFE 1,945,993 1,957,559

Proportion of the Group’s ownership  {§AREBERRBTERE

interest in Yuan Ding e 7 el 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group's REERNER  E=REE

interest in Yuan Ding 778,397 783,023

Aggregate information of an associate that is not EHNFEXRELEFDESR

i_n?ividually material
O

2022 2021
= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT

The Group’s share of post-tax profit and AEEEEEFIR2E

total comprehensive income WA 4258 110 616
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRZEBE D
Group's interests in an associate Z R IREE 21,427 21,317
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22. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

22. FRHEEE

Ports
#0A

RMB'000
ARBTT

Leased
properties
HEME
RMB'000
ARBTT

Leasehold
lands
HELH
RMB’000
ARETTT

As at 31 December 2022 1202251283108
Carrying amounts ERTNE] 95,421 964 652,119 748,504
As at 31 December 2021 120215128318
Carrying amounts FEE 102,771 4,284 676,750 783,805
For the year ended 31 #E2022%

December 2022 12A31HLEE
Depreciation charge TEER (7.350) (3,320) (24,631) (35,301)
Expense relating to short-term leases GEIEERAE K B

and other leases with lease terms 3t +—EARNEMZ

end within 12 months HinfE MY = 1,009 - 1,009
Expense relating to leases of FREEEEEREZMAY

low-value assets, excluding short-  (TREEREBEEZ

term leases of low-value assets RHE) = 5 - 5
Variable lease payments not included kit A\HEBEEZ

in the measurement of lease AERENR

liabilities 2,530 7,834 - 10,364
Total cash outflow for leases HERSTERE 10,315 11,950 = 22,265
For the year ended 31 #E2021%

December 2021 12A318LEE
Depreciation charge HEER (6,190) (3,628) (28,761) (38,579)
Disposal of right-of-use assets RECARAE = (223) (2,183) (2,406)
Expense relating to short-term leases 75 #34E £17E & Jx A £

and other leases with lease terms ~ #:F+—AARERZ

end within 12 months HiHEZHAY = 553 < 553
Expense relating to leases of EREEBEEEREZHY

low-value assets, excluding short-  (TEEEEEEEZ

term leases of low-value assets RHHEE) 3 5 & 5
Variable lease payments not included FKit AEBEHE2

in the measurement of lease A EAEIR

liabilities 3,070 12,989 - 16,059
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRERE 9,753 16,813 x 26,566
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRAREE = 322 49,486 49,808
Idle land recovered by the B EREE i

government - - (27,293) (27,293)
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22.

7

150

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 22. ERAEEEE)
During the year ended 31 December 2021, a leasehold land HE2021F12A31HIEFEERN - BT
with carrying amount of RMB27,293,000 was recovered by the BEABEERZER  WOHETHAR
government according to the relevant law and regulations. #27,293,0007T °
For both years, the Group leases various offices, ports and lands RREFE @ AEERHELEREZM
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term WAE - BARTH - HEANIRETE
of' 1 year to 34 years (2021: 1 year to 34 years). Lease terms are BAR 19 2344 (20214F © 15 E34%F)
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of FRR] 0 MEQN T PRl AR S 4% Uk
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and ¥ o AR AR EEEmABRSAEN
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group EMEF R IEE - REFEHRE R E T
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for BRI RER - AEBERSL Y
which the contract is enforceable. TERIWETE A LR RHEIT 2 B -
The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all BRI E A AR #55,429,0007T (2021
leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying amount & AR¥S7,414,0007T) 2 FHE T3
of RMB55,429,000 (2021: RMB57,414,000) which the Group is in (REBDAEREBES)IN - AEED
the process of obtaining. BLET B E T HEVS TP R -
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices and KE Bl EHR B AE MBS A
- dormitories. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the portfolio of & o M2022F12 A31BHI2021F12 4
* short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to 318 - EHEEMS ,\J:L'LHHTHE
which the short-term lease expenses disclosed above. X 2R HERASER
In addition, lease liabilities of RMB94,879,000 are recognised with AN - B E2022F12A31BIEEE -
related right-of-use assets of RMB96,385,000 as at 31 December EREEE B AR4,879,0007T
2022 (2021: lease liabilities of RMB101,023,000 and related right- THE(E BEE E AR 96,385,0007T
of-use assets of RMB107,055,000). The lease agreements do (20214 : FHE B EAKRE101,023,000
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the T FERAE A E AR 107,055,000
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be L) c REBEARENEEEE Lok
used as security for borrowing purposes. RigzIN - HEBZETRINERZRZEL -
HEBETSERBIRER -
INVENTORIES 23. F&
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Spare parts and ancillary materials T RECR 146,929 143,198
Raw materials BRAE 393,445 604,766
Work in progress TR 171,732 147,114
Finished goods I 193,406 245,675
905,512 1,140,753
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

24.

R 5 K EAB YRR

2022 2021
o - ~ S T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT

Trade receivables from contracts R MEWFRIE
with customers 661,973 895,555
Less: Allowance for credit losses S EEIELEE (287,693) (314,946)
374,280 580,609
Other receivables Hib el k18 35,011 34,079
Less: Allowance for credit losses o EERREE (9,552) (9,552)
25,459 24,527
Bills receivables at FVTOCI FEUERITE B 257,848 760,936
Notes receivables A GSEE 2 210,734 337,379
Advances to suppliers BV EEAEN 166,370 342,776
Refundable deposits B 39,024 25,152
Prepayments for utilities AR RUR 26,625 55,488
Value-added tax recoverable AR [ F7 50,881 15,694
Interest receivable from banks FEYERITHIE 101,439 37,852
1,252,660 2,180,413

As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB812,143,000, net of allowance for
credit losses of RMB246,850,000.

The Group has a policy of allowing a credit period of 30 to 180
days for cement customers and 180 to 365 days for concrete
customers whereas longer credit terms are allowed to certain
selected customers with good credit histories.

20224 FEHE | EMKIR (PE)EELAT

R2021F1HA1H  (ERFEITH
AHREIZR D ERFEAEARE
812,143,000 C (EHIBR{E BB B E A
R #246,850,0007T) °

AEBBRRAHFR TIOREF30E180
BEERELTtEFI180E365H 2 E
B WETEAGBRIFEECHINER
?ﬂﬁéﬁ:@iwﬁg}f HERTEREE
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24, X RHMEWRIEE)
(CONTINUED)
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of TRAERZEWFIB(EBHNKREEIRELX
allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice dates: BE B RS HMEERRBERT
ZERE T
Cements Concrete Total
kil REL ait

2022 2021 2022 PAA 2022 2021
B T4 B T4 ZB--E —T-_—fF

RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARBTRT ARETT

0-90 days 0£90H 213,138 348,095 33,230 59,008 246,368 407,103

91-180 days 91£180H 62,994 105,261 25,504 25,594 88,498 130,855

181-365 days 181%365H 804 2,223 25,577 32,784 26,381 35,007

Over 365 days 365H M £ 9,580 2,144 3,453 5,500 13,033 7,644

286,516 457,723 87,764 122,886 374,280 580,609

s ¥ . .

~ As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s trade R2022F 12 A31 8 » XEEXRSHE
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount W FR I8 45 64 B R UK R BOR B+ o 8B
of approximately RMB10,384,000 (2021: RMB4,367,000) and BEEESD R A AR 10,384,000 7T
RMB3,453,000 (2021: RMB5,500,000) for cement and concrete (20214 : AR¥4,367,00070) & A
segment, respectively, which are past due as at the reporting date. FR 3,453,000 7T (2021 F : AR
Out of the past due balances, approximately RMB10,384,000 5,500,0007T ) Z FEMFIR - REAE
(2021: RMB4,367,000) for cement segment has been past due wE - BAERIEAEST o KR RIRE
90 days or more and is not considered as in default as the Group + 535 BI1#4910,384,0007T (20214 -
holds collateral over part of these balances in which the estimated AR ¥4,367,0007T ) B BB 90K s LA
value of collateral exceeds the overdue trade balances. - ArEEFEH 2B BT M

TEREHELD - BN EEHEER
B 5 EWRIA
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24.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)
Bills receivables at FVTOCI

As part of the Group’s cash flow management, the Group will
discount bills receivables to financial institutions or endorse
bills receivables to suppliers before the due for payment, and
derecognise the discounted and endorsed bills receivables on the
basis that the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards to the relevant counterparties. Thus, bills receivables at
FVTOCI are managed within a business model whose objective is
both to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell. Therefore,
these bills receivables were subsequently classified as debt
instruments at FVTOCI upon adoption of IFRS 9.

The following is an aged analysis of bills receivables at FVTOCI, net
of fair value remeasurement under the requirement of IFRS 9, at
the end of the reporting period:

24.

R 5 REMEYR ()
AT EH AR 2ERE 2 BR
BITE

ERASERGREEIE 8D - K
S EREIH RAT R AR TT RIBRAR
EETORMBBEIKRKIRITRES S
THER  WEASECELAEEMA
RBMEIHFZBETTE - RILHER -
it - BAFEF AR 2 E S 2 8
WERTTRIBR A —EAWELS RER SR
EMHESBRAREREERN NET
EIE o FIL - R ERBIRITRENEA
B SR E ERIEIR D BRILAF
Bt AHMEEREZEHTA -

TRAERSHREBRAFESAEME
[ e sk 2 FEUCER 1T R 4% (FNBR BIRR B 75
WELANFORRER T2 A FEEH
FTE) ZRE DT

0 to 180 days

0£180H

257,848 760,936

The bills receivables at FVTOCI are all issued by reputable banks
of good credit quality. The management of the Group considered
the credit risk of these bank issued bills is insignificant and no
impairment was provided on them at the year end.

Transfers of financial assets

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group has
transferred bank issued bills receivables to its suppliers to settle its
payables. At 31 December 2022, the Group has also discounted
some bills receivables to banks.

The Group considers the issuing banks of the bills are of good
credit quality and the risk of non-settlement by the issuing banks
on maturity is insignificant. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group has transferred and does not retain
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of these
bank issued bills. Accordingly, the Group has derecognised these
bank issued bills receivables and the payables to suppliers in their
entirety.

As at 31 December 2022, the discounted bank issued bills and
endorsed bank issued bills were nil and RMB609,378,000 (2021:
nil and RMB672,696,000), respectively.

All the bank issued bills receivables discounted to banks or
endorsed to suppliers of the Group have a maturity date of less
than one year.
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BAHER AR 2 E S 2 BUERTT
SEREHHRERARFIRITET - A
SEEEERSZFRITRENEAR
BRI - ERREIRRELER

TREEER

MW20225F12 A31H % 20214912 A 31
A ANEBEHBRITHEHZEALIESE
ECE TR A BT ROE - Bk
202212 A31H » ZEBE IS #3650
RN E B EE T IRT -

AEERBLERBRITERAREE
HERY  RERTIHTEELNZE
BBE - RAREEERES - AEED
PREBRERAERNAEES RN
[\ e Wes o BRI - ANER I HERRIA B UK
REEHEFRYBHER ZEMNK
g o

# 1202212 A31H » BLhIR 2 iR 174%&
HIEZEMEEEE 7 IRITR K EES R
T Kk AR¥609,378,0007T (2021 4F:
& AER672,696,0007T) °

FIEMRTRITXESERTAEEH
EREZRE - BIMBHE—FUR -

153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24, X RHMEWRIEE)
(CONTINUED)
Notes receivables R RRE
The following is an aged analysis of notes receivables presented TERRABRERREFFLRIEAMZ
based on the dates of notes issued by the customers: BRER DT -
Cements Concrete Total
Kilé REL &%

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-—-F ZBZZ —E-—-F ZBZZ —E-—F

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETRT ARRTR ARETR

0-90 days 0%90H 98,475 154,827 - - 98,475 154,827
91-180 days 91%180H 112,259 182,552 - - 112,259 182,552
210,734 337,379 - - 210,734 337,379

As at 31 December 2022, notes receivables are received amounting 1M 2022F 12 A31H B EZBEHEZEE
‘.ir:_tO?RMBZ'|0,734,000 (2021: RMB337,379,000) with a maturity 210,734,000t (2021 : 337,379,0007T ) X &A
'~ period of less than one year. HARR N HBiR —4F o

Détails of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables % 5 & E i i U 30 T8 BB 7R A5 5 IS SR P 5F
are set out in note 40. : 40 °

R 2
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25. AMOUNTS WITH RELATED COMPANIES 25. EW(M)BEEATRE &
ESN
(@) Amount due from an associate ;) JE Wi B N B 2R 1S

2021

RMB’000
AEBTT

Hubei Zhongjian (trade related) LR (R 5486) 7,778 7,944

The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and aged
within the credit term of 90 days.

B AEEMATE - E
BEHIA908 -

(b) Amount due from a joint venture (b) EWREELETIE

2022 2021

— T — —

RMB’000
AR®FT

—E -
RMB’000
ARETIT

Hubei Xinlongyuan IR
(non-trade related) —3ER S 5,461 6,217

The amount represented the dividend receivable from
Hubei Xinlongyuan, which was unsecured and non-interest

bearing.

(c) Amounts due to joint ventures

&R R YO 1L B RERE
HETFEZEE -

(0 ENEELENRE

2022 PAOYA

—E__f T4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREFIT

Wuhan Asia (trade related) RERI(ZZIEE) 17,213 10,481
Hubei Xinlongyuan (trade related)  #1tZER (X 5E) 2,354 3,745
19,567 14,226

The amounts were unsecured, non-interest bearing and
aged within the credit term of 90 days.

ZREREEWRATER E
EHIR90A -

2020%F G E R | EEMAKIR(FRED) AR ) .



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

25. AMOUNTS WITH RELATED COMPANIES 25. EWR(F)BEATNRE &
(CONTINUED) (&)
(d) Amount due to an associate (d) EABEEQITRIE
2022 2021
—E__
RMB’'000 RMB'000
JT ARETTT
Yuan Ding (non-trade related) =B OGERH1EE) 256 -
The amount was accrued rental expense, which was ZHBERENHESER - MERETE
unsecured and non-interest bearing. B
26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 26. RITHBKREASE
The Group EE
The bank balances and cash include bank deposits with 7R2022F 124318 » IR1TEH#R KRS
an original maturity of over three months amounting to PERIBAA=ZFEANLE—FUR
RMB930,023,000 (2021: RMB1,531,677,000) as at 31 December #F1777 KA R 930,023,000 (2021
2022 and the remaining balances of RMB7,970,425,000 (2021: & AR¥1,531,677,0007T) @ E#psE
RMBS5,963,681,000) were bank balances and cash with an original #%H AR #7,970,425,000 7T (2021 4F -
maturity of three months or less. ds AR#5,963,681,0007T) AREIHA A
“REAKA T ZRITEBRRIRS o
The bank balances with fixed interest rates which range from LA JE B 1.00% Z 3.99% (2021 F :
1.00% to 3.99% (2021: 0.2% to 3.99%) and floating interest 0.2%%3.99% ) %)% /2.0.01%%£0.85%
rates which range from 0.01% to 0.85% (2021: 0.01% to 0.3%) (20214 : 0.01%E0.3% )zt B ZR1T
amount to RMB7,024,245,000 (2021: RMB6,393,732,000) and @R Rl B AR ®7,024,245,0007T
RMB1,876,203,000 (2021: RMB1,101,626,000), respectively. (20214 : AR #6,393,732,00070) &

4 A R #1,876,203,000 7T (2021 4F -
AER%1,101,626,0007T) °

The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in REEREREEERNGEEEUINE
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant BEECRITEBEIESHINNT

group entities are set out below:

2022 PAOYA
—m—— —E-—F

— T

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT

Denominated in United States dollars ~ LAZETTEHE

("UsD") 3,130 720,009
Denominated in Hong Kong dollars A ITEHE
("HKD") 3,982 2,902
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26.

27.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)
The Company

The bank balances and cash include bank deposits with an original
maturity of over three months amounting to RMB1,000,000 (2021:
RMB516,855,000) as at 31 December 2022 and the remaining
balances of RMB14,158,000 (2021: RMB202,051,000) were bank
balances and cash with an original maturity of three months or
less.

The bank balances with fixed interest rates which range from
1.00% to 1.80% (2021: 0.03% to 1.60%) and floating interest
rates which range from 0.05% to 0.45% (2021: 0.03% to
0.2%) amount to RMB1,000,000 (2021: RMB708,126,000) and
RMB14,158,000 (2021: RMB10,780,000), respectively.

The Company’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies are set out below:

Denominated in USD AETTEHE
Denominated in HKD LA TTEHE

26.

RITHERNIBE(E)

¥ /N

M2022% 128318 @ RITEH R
SBEERINPEA=ZBANUNLE—FMN
WER1TTF KA R ¥ 1,000,0007T (2021
£ : 516,855,000 ) © H& &8 A
R 14,158,000 70 (20214 + AR
202,051,00070) AREEHBA A =@ A
SA T ZIRTTEHRRIAD ©

LA E B 1.00% & 1.80% (2021 F
0.03% &£ 1.60% ) & % B 0.05% &
0.45% (20214 : 0.03% % 0.2% )sT &
ZIRITE D B4 A AR 1,000,000
£ (20214 :+ AR #708,126,0007C)
R4 ANE#E14,158,0007T (20214 = A
FR#10,780,0007T) ©

AEERAEEEERINGEER NG
BAHEZ RITRB IR T

2022
et = <

RMB’000 RMB'000

UN: ARBTT

968 714,000

3,974 2,894

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

The Group and the Company

FEREEIE (HiE)

Unquoted fund investment (note)

27.

URAnREEFTEEHEZH
ANEREZNERERE
REERARDT

2022
e

— T — —

2021
B
RMB’000
AREBTT

RMB’000
AR®FT

117,156 65,202

Details of the fair value measurement for financial assets measured at
FVTPL are set out in note 40.

Note:

2022%F FEHE | EMKR(PE)EERAT

Wit - KRR EEFEARZETAZHE
BN EBEENLA BEFTEFIER

Htat40 -

157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. RHRHMENFIE
2022 2021
—E-—F —_=F=——
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT
Trade payables X5 RN IR 260,952 435,631
Accruals e+ B 110,686 230,228
Mine reserve fund payable FEN R ERE S 299,724 299,724
Staff wages and welfare payable JEERE T & RAEH 96,969 137,127
Value added tax payable FERTIE{ER 7,603 44,754
Construction cost payable FETIEERRR AR 46,519 40,410
Other taxes payable HAbFERTHIE 33,498 51,230
Interest payable FEASFI & 3,604 1,178
Consideration payable for 20145 IR BE — A
acquisition of a subsidiary in 2014 N EPNE DR 6,681 9,295
Government penalties payable FERTER AT E15R = 131,056
fundable deposits from suppliers JERMtERE RS 51,690 25,555
Other payables H & FIE 30,322 70,163
948,248 1,476,351
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented TRABXGEMZBRENEZEEREER
based on the invoice dates: H SHRAE RRERAYZRED -
2022 2021
k-~ o —E-—%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
0-90 days 0Z290H 212,450 424,170
91-180 days 912180H 18,611 7,048
181-365 days 181£2365H 21,494 4,413
Over 365 days 365H M E 8,397 -
260,952 435,631
Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade RGENRBEFTERERFIREBZER
purchases. The average credit period for trade purchases is 30 to NRIE - RGHEE 2 FHEEHRAR30
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place £90H - AEBFIEMBKRREEIK
to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. XK BRATBERNZFEREEHRAX
it e
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. &RE&

2022 2021

—m—— —E- 4

— T — — =

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT

Receipt in advance for sales of cement W EIKEE fa 32 & RTUIE

and related products 147,700 183,174
Receipt in advance for sales of concrete U FI|38 &% + 32 & A s 1% 441 774
148,141 183,948
As at 1 January 2021, the balance of contract liabilities amounted HE2021F1A18 - R EHREAR
to RMB229,310,000. AR#229,310,0007T ©
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in TRERAEEERNK AR EZ L E
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. HELSRAEEHE  URENFFER

RHOBHEBEZREIE -

Sales of

cement

and
related Sales of

products concrete Total
KiRE & BRE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TT ARWTT AR%TT

For the year ended 31 #%X2022%12A31H
December 2022 IHFE
Revenue recognised that was BROBABRS
included in the contract TEEINEREEF
liability balance at the
beginning of the year 183,174 774 183,948
For the year ended 31 #X2021%¥12A31H
December 2021 IFE
Revenue recognised that was REWA B E
included in the contract TEFEINEREEF
liability balance at the
beginning of the year 228,791 519 229,310
Typical payment term which impact on the amount of contract HERRNERBESHEELETENHR
liabilities recognised is as follows: BNFART
The Group enters into goods supply contracts with customers and AEBEZFIIVEMHRESR @ Wik
receives advance payments from customers which are interest-free. BEFEEZENFIE - EAKEER
When the Group receives a deposit before the delivery of goods, NEMz KR EER - EiTEaRFA
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, WBHELESRAE  5ERHEEE RER
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the MR ABBTESSEAL -

amount of the deposits.
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30. BORROWINGS
The Group and the Company

Bank borrowings — unsecured and
unguaranteed

R
AEERAAT

30.

2022
—B-Cf
RMB’000
AR®TT

2021

RMB'000
ARBTT

RITRE - EERREER

2,375,646 1,468,963

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s bank

borrowings are repayable:

‘T'»C': o
.. Within one year

EEEFMZREERNT

2022
—E__F

2021

RMB'000
ARBTTT

RMB’000
AR®FT

—FR 1,014,000 1,118,299

Within a period of more than one year 88— F TR IBRE
~ but not exceeding two years 1,361,646 350,664
- 2,375,646 1,468,963

~ Less: Amounts due within one year B AR T ZEARNEERE L

shown under current liabilities FBERRBDEER) (1,014,000) (1,118,299)

Amounts shown under non-current ERHEBHE NS
liabilities 1,361,646 350,664
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30. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 30. fEE(4&)
The interest rates of bank borrowings are as follows: IRITEEFERETWT -

a3
Carrying Carrying
amount Interest rates amount  Interest rates
EEE FE REE A
RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TT ARETR
Fixed-rate RMB bank borrowings ~~ ARMEEHE 1,791,000  2.15% to 3.51% 672,000  3.06% t03.15%
2.15%%3.51% 3.06%%£3.15%
Fixed-rate USD bank borrowings TR EEE 69,646  5.09% 796963 0.67% 100.70%
0.67%%0.70%
Variable-rate RMB bank borrowings AR EF B2 E 515,000  2.48% to 3.29% - NA
2.48%E3.29% TER
2,375,646 1,468,963
The Group’s and the Company’s borrowings that are denominated REBEERE L E B AN BRI
in currencies other the functional currencies of the relevant group T~

entities are set out below:

PAOYA
—E-_fF —E -

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT

usD =TT 69,646 796,963
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31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HEAE
2022 2021
= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETIT
Lease liabilities payable: BEfERAHE
Within one year —FR 6,112 6,068
Within a period of more than one year AH—4F A+ BTBBME
but not more than two years 3,310 6,188
Within a period of more than two years AEREMN - BTBBAESE
but not more than five years 10,872 10,388
Within a period of more than five years AEARFIA 74,585 78,379
94,879 101,023
Less: Amount due for settlement with & : 3I/ERBIB &2
12 months shown under current R+ @B REH
liabilities ©E IR (6,112) (6,068)
Amount due for settlement after 12 SIEIERBAGBEZR
" months shown under non-current T E A& B EAEE 2 8
Y liabilities 88,767 94,955

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 4.75% to 4.90% (2021: from-,,éh‘75% to
4.90%). %

HEAREE & B/ INEF L EEF
R B4 T5%Z%E4.90% (20214 : 4.75%

Z4.90%) °
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32. DEFERRED TAX

32.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting presentation purposes:

IR
A2FURAUBINRRE - HTIETH
BAERABOEY - $HB2EME
ZIBIERIBEADATIOT |

2022 2021

—E-CfF —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT

Deferred tax assets FEFIBEEE 161,804 175,706
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEE (51,615) (63,255)
110,189 112,451

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and the movement thereon during the years:

FACHERTERECHBE(RBIEER
TERAEEBIIA T

Fair values  Allowance
adjustment  of expected
onassets creditlosses  Adjustment Undistributed
acquired of trade on earnings of
in business and other additional PRC
acquisition  receivables  quarry cost  subsidiaries Others Total
R
KEREER RaREM S WERETFLRE
ATEAE EEREEE HXAE ZEPEEF Hit &i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ANREFT ARETTL
At 1 January 2021 RANE1A18 (14,497) 69,053 - (32,679) 41518 63,395
Withholding tax paid BAEIH 3 = g 433814 - 433814
Credit (charge) to profit
or loss AR BE 793 12,621 60,778 (60,686) (8,264) 5,242
At 31 December 2021 RA0NE12A318 (13,704) 81,674 60,778 (49,551) 33254 112,451
Withholding tax paid BB = = - 39,621 - 39,621
Credit (charge) to profit st AHIRE)B&
or loss 793 (3,600) (2,599) (28,774) (7,703) (41,883)
At 31 December 2022 2022512318 (12,911) 78,074 58,179 (38,704) 25,551 110,189
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32.

164

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have
been enacted at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of unrecognised
deductible temporary difference was RMB87,249,000 (2021: nil)
arising from the impairment of the property, plant and equipment
in Wuhan Yaxin, while the unused tax losses were approximately
RMB253,606,000 (2021: RMB31,668,000) available for offset
against future profits. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the unused tax losses with approximately RMB7,184,000 were
expired. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
stream.

The unused tax losses will expire as follows:

32.

ESERE ()
IEERUEA E R R EIR SN s BRI
HEE B2 MR RBUL - REE
FRBRAENEEA ERM 2 BKT
% o

MN2022F 128318 ARETEY
¥ BEAREREBEELEZ AERR
BEHNEHZENEEREEAARE
87,249,0007T (20214 : &) » MR F|
RABEEEL A AR253,606,0007T
(20214 : AR¥31,668,0007T) @ A
ARG AR FE - HE20229F12 A31
HILFE - HARET,184,0007T2 &
FEREEECEIE - |V EETE R &
FOBEFR - MAEBE T ERAFIBTRIE
EERRIECHEEE -

ABABRIBEBRRZA T FRER :

2022 2021

—2__
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®ETT
2022 20224 = 8,970
2023 20234 12,017 12,531
2024 20244 3,928 3,928
2025 20254 4,544 4,544
2026 20264 1,695 1,695
2027 20274 231,422 =
253,606 31,668

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by Group’s PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31 December 2022, deferred
tax liability has been provided in respect of RMB758,280,000 (2021:
RMB991,040,000) undistributed earnings of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries. Deferred tax has not been provided in respect of the
remaining temporary differences attributable to the undistributed
earnings as the Group is in a position to control the quantum and
timing of the distribution thereof, deferred taxation is only provided
to the extent that such earnings are estimated to be distributable in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax in respect of the undistributed
earnings of the Group’s associates and joint ventures in the PRC
have not been provided as the amount involved is not significant.

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of undistributed
earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in respect of which
deferred tax liability has not been provided for were approximately
RMB13,735,691,000 (2021: RMB12,941,698,000).

BEFPECEERZE 0 B20084F 1
A1B# ANEEZHBHRWFEARA
MATHREUE FIE R 2 B 8 &4y FEm
o 202212 A318 » EfAE
BEREHBARZADKEBFMAR
& 758,280,000 7T (2021 F : AR ¥&
991,040,0007T ) E BT 1B & & &
& - AR AEREATIEH RS RE R
B - BAER A D IRB R 2 85 T E S
EREHRERERE  MENEGHEE
AR ARRD IR ZIER T FE{EH
FREFR AR - MRS RRETK
WM ERAEBNFRZBHE A RE
B EZ R IRE M E H IE T E
ﬁ o

202212 A318 » KEBEFEHEA
RAIREHBELERBEEREZ RS IRE
M ARZE 7 B4 B AR #13,735,691,000
JC (2021 F : A R ¥ 12,941,698,000
JT) °
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33. PROVISION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL 33. RERERE
RESTORATION
Environmental
restoration
BR%KE
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1 B 2 8% 38,161
Provision for the year FREAE 15,757
Settlement for the year FREE (2,073)
At 31 December 2021 72021512 431 B 2 &8 51,845
Provision for the year FREE 22,178
Settlement for the year FNFE (15,855)
At 31 December 2022 #2022 128310 IL &R 58,168
According to the regulation issued in 2009 by the Ministry of Land RIEE + &8 2R 2000 F 8 M 7 5k
and Resources (B + &R &), the user of quarry should undertake HoOBSEREARERENRECE
the obligation of environmental restoration. After taking into £ o ZERNR2020F F 2047 FHIRG A
account the quantity of limestone excavated and the timing of A7 FEREE MIRBIRIERTE - A%
environment restoration in between 2020 to 2047, a provision B2 B EIRIE IRIE A A 2 B AN HE R B
has been recognised for the costs expected to be incurred for the o REREER AT L L EHE
environmental restoration. Addition in provision is recognised as FIRA 2 SERK N -
cost of sales of the related limestone excavated.
34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. A

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

Authorised:
At 1 January 2021,
31 December 2021

Shown in the
consolidated

Number financial
of shares Amount statements as
REfHME
BE® RE BERT
HK$'000 RMB’000
FHL AREBTIT
BREE BT LR
ETE
R20214 K20225

1TA18 - 12A318

and 2022 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRHE
At 1 January 2021, M20215 20225
31 December 2021 1H18 ~12A318
and 2022 1,566,851,000 156,685 140,390
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35. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35. K&EHE
The Group as lessor AEBEREBEA
Gross rental income earned was RMB3,172,000 (2021: HE2022F12A31HIEFEARARKRR 2
RMB3,353,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group WA B ARYES172,0007T (2021
leases its property, plant and equipment under operating lease F : AR¥E3,353,0007T) - AEERE
arrangements. The leases typically run for an initial period of one KEHETHHBEDE  BELRK
to nine years (2021: one to nine years). None of the leases includes - HEMBRE A —ENF(2021F :
variable lease payments. —ENF)  FBEHENTEEHE
B
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: R BEHEBEREWOT ¢
2022 2021
—E—— —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AREBT T
Within one year FA 1,950 2,028
In the second year E_F 1,637 1,426
,ir,:--,r'yn the third year F£= 1,665 1,419
*In the fourth year FUF 1,509 1,453
In the fifth year ERHE 1,331 1,509
After five years HBm T F 2,994 4,101
s 11,086 11,936
36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EAREIE

2022 PAOYA
—E-_fF —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT

Capital expenditure contracted for WEEYIE « RS MR
but not provided in the consolidated GEHEMNEESS T

financial statements in respect of B ISSRR (B )
the acquisition of property, plant - VN
and equipment, right-of-use assets 57,692 44,623
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ST

38.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit plan operated by the government of
the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense charged to profit or loss of approximately
RMB42,882,000 (2021: approximately RMB36,145,000) represents
contribution paid/payable to the schemes by the Group in respect
of the current accounting period. As at 31 December 2022,
contributions of RMB5,476,000 (2021: RMB5,449,000) as at 31
December 2022 have not been paid over to the schemes.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Other than disclosed in elsewhere, the Group had also entered into
the following significant transactions with related parties during
the year.

37. RKERIEE
AEERNREZ BEHAERERLE
RIEREHBIAKE - it BImREIRATE
i o AN EAABRFE KA IEE
B D LR AREFIE B - AR
HERIES - AEEAMRNEFE
B — BT AIFH A -

FTABZE 2 ARSI AR 42,882,000
J0(20214F : #J AR¥36,145,0007T)
BAEERAS T HBMRESEE
/BB 2 3% o 720224 12 A 31
H #ZE2022F12 A3 B2 HRARE
5,476,0007C(20214F = AR¥ES5,449,000
AN NG S A N

38. BEALXRS

FREMIBTREZEEI - NERENE
WITERBEA LRI LA TEARS ©

2022 2021
ot Jofent- —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Joint ventures: BEMRE
Wuhan Asia FOERTE
— Transportation expenses — BT 98,743 89,277
Hubei Xinlongyuan it EEER
— Purchase of goods —BEE® 31,169 35,236
Associate: SN
Hubei Zhongjian iBldasE =
- Sales of goods —HEE® 7,224 13,146
Yuan Ding RE
— Rental expenses —HeMX 929 -
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEABSEH

The remuneration of directors and chief executives was as follows:

R HEBAET

Short-term employee benefits

EEREBITBABZHBT

2022 2021

—E__F —E=—

RMB’000
AR®TR

RMB'000
ARETT

6,834 6,406

The remuneration of directors and chief executives is determined
by having regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.
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39.

407

168

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the relevant periods.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt that includes
the borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in note 30 and note
31 respectively, net of bank balances and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves
and retained earnings.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure from
time to time. As a part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of
the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, the issue of new shares, new
debts or the redemption of existing debts.

iy

‘-izerANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

39.

40.

X REE
AEEEEEEAUBRRAEE AN 2 E
BB E  WEBEB(LER LR
HAARBREILNBIRE R - REEER
KA B BRI s & -

AEBZEARBRREHFR(BR
DRI 0N REZEEREE
BE)  HIBRRITEBKLARTEEA
FEiGHEm (B D BITRA - HiE LR

B A) o

SRR BEANRIE - (ERMTZ—
#Bo  BEEEEEARKAREREARN
R - AEESIRIEE=ES
EIRMEBUE ~ BT - AR
CEREEY  FOEBREBEARE -

o =
a. SR ITEER

2022
—E-C

PAOPA

T —F
RMB’000

AREFIT

RMB’000
AR®FE

The Group M
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost ~ LABEEARK AT ER S BLEE 9,664,623 8,515,038
Bills receivables at FVTOCI WARBEFEBEEED)

FTAEMARE WK

SRIEE 257,848 760,936
Financial assets at FVTPL AR EBESEAHES

STABEEENEREE 117,156 65,202
Financial liabilities EMAaR
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  # $5A% Zx 3,205,647 2,586,078
Lease liabilities HEBE 94,879 101,023
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. &I E(4E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2REREEAERBE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables, financial assets
measured at FVTPL, bills receivables at FVTOCI, amount
due from an associate, amount due from a joint venture,
amounts due to joint ventures, amount due to an associate,
borrowings and bank balances and cash. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks

The Group's activities expose it primarily to foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk. Market risk exposures are further
measured by sensitivity analysis. Details of each type of
market risks are described as follows:

(i) Currency risk

Certain bank balances and cash (note 26) and
borrowings (note 30) of the Group are denominated
in USD and HKD, being currencies other than the

AEEZIZSRMTABRER
Z N EAMRW IR - X5 MHE
fEMFKIE - MAREENE
BEEHFTAZHESZNSH
BE NURAARBEFENEK
RITRE - BRBERBRE
BRERE  BHAZEERERK
- ERNEBIE  BE
RITHERERE - ZFEHMT
B2 BN EMEREE - #%
FeRMTEARBZRERBRE
™ 5 R (R & & b & &
) FEERBRERBDE R
B o R ARRE R B 2 BRR 3T
wmr e EREEREREEZT
B - HEOR Ko B A R SR BUE

BEE -

miS Ak
AEEXBHRHCERERER
PE R L e M R E R o TSR
B — S UABRE D MEE -
EEMERARFBRALT

(i) KEmkE
REEETFRITERKL
W4 (HsE26) @ &R
TEE(KEE30) LAE

functional currency of the relevant group entities, T([Ex]) RET(HE
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. gt ) (ENFE EE B E L1
BEEMLAIN 2 B ET
B WASEEmHINE
2B
The carrying amount of foreign currency MEBUINEABZE
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the MEEEMABGEMNER
reporting dates is as follows: BEHNOT :
Assets Liabilities
gE &R
2022 2021 2022 PAVA
—E_CF —E-—F ZE_CH —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARET T AE%TR ARETT
usD e 3,130 720,009 69,646 796,963
HKD BT 3,982 2,902 - =
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40.

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risks (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, management of
the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to 10% (2021: 10%) increase and decrease in RMB
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2021:
10%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management'’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign

s exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 10% (2021: 10%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit where RMB strengthened
10% (2021: 10%) against the relevant currency.
For 10% (2021: 10%) weakening of RMB against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit post-tax and the
balances below would be negative.

ERT A (&)
b LHMAMEEEBERKE
(#)
45 B ()
() AR
AEEE AR B INEY

R AMEFEE
SMNERBE - AENFE
i Z B EARINE R

B -

TRHAVWAEEBUAR
B HIEBEINE Z210%
(20214F : 10% ) 38R
82 BURRE - RE L
R10% (20214 : 10%)
BEEBYHERLIEA
BEHH IR 2 BB FTVERTS o

BRESIMERTEARE
BHNEEE > WHERE
B R A EITE AN
FEREEN10% (20214 -
10%) e EHRRAR
S AEEEAEI0%
(20214 : 10% ) By )
2NN o AR A8
FEKEE10% (2021
F10%)  afeXHE
EREZHRFEUT

HRE AR -
Impact of USD Impact of HKD
RIZRE BTk E

2022
—B_CF

RMB'000
ARBTT

2021 2022 2021
—E-—F —E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AERETR AREFTT

Post-tax profit oot SlyEd 6,690

7,734 (398) (290)
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. ERITE(E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREAREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Market risks (continued) iR (&)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate bank balance (note 26),
borrowings (note 30) and lease liabilities (note 31).
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances
(note 26) and variable-rate borrowings (note 30).
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate or TAIFX3 arising from the

(i) FIEmMEE
REBZ AFEMNERR
B B BUIR 1T 45 ok (Bt
F£26) « BEE(HFE30)
FEEaEMEINE
B - NEEJNEE B
7 BIRTT R (P FE26)
MEBEE(HFE30)Z
BEREF AR - &
EEZEEREMNERR

Group's borrowings. The Group manages its interest REZEFRNRERE
rate exposures by assessing the potential impact BEECEBRITAE

arising from any interest rate movements based on
interest rate level and outlook. The management will
review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and
floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable
range.

Interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

RENERHFBRITH
EHRBAEZRE - K
S ERB AR X
KRBT 5 9 (7] Kl
ERHRELNEERE
KEBREMNERR - &
I FE S TR E E ST B
) 3 B 18 SR L R AR
HEABHER -

PABESHAX AR GTHE 2 & @t
BEMBMALRELT

2022 PAOYA
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Interest income FEUA
Financial assets at BN AZ S B E
amortised cost 159,102 141,217
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40.

172

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risks (continued)

b.

(ii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest expenses on financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost:

40. ERTE(E)

b. (ﬁgﬁ)ﬂ@[‘ﬁ%‘ﬂﬁ%&ﬂ%

i mk ()

(i) FIERBE &)
TRABENNEXE
VAR SEPK ANFTE

2022 2021
B T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREETTT
Interest expenses FEZ W
Financial liabilities at BEp Az 2R AR

amortised cost

52,327 46,954

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2021: 50
basis points) increase or decrease in interest rate
of variable-rate bank balances and a 50 basis
points (2021: 50 basis points) increase or decrease
in interest rate of variable-rate borrowings are
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

Bank balances

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2021: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2022 would increase/
decrease by approximately RMB7,552,000 (2021:
RMB4,205,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate bank balances.

BRE o T AR IR M B
ELA RBHE R 2
BEREHRTEEERTE
WA BB E R FIRTT
ZIRITEE R 2 FI R AR
MET - REBEDIT
TRENFESHEEE
AzABESRIT AR
BEREFEEHREE - KB
DITAREB G E T BIR
1T TR R -
{55 FA # Hn =k 38 4 50 18
H 2 (20214 : S0fAE
2 REREEREHF
KA B B) 2 71 -

RITAEER

& FE L5, T #50
EE 2 (20214 : 501@
o) mMATEEME
HHEFTE  AAEE
REZE2022F12A31H
HFEZBRERE RS
g AREE
7,552,000 7T (2021 4F
AR #4,205,0007T)
FTERBAERZER
ITHERME Y 2 PR RS -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risks (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

Borrowings

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2021: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2022 would decrease/
increase by RMB2,575,000 (2021: nil). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate borrowings.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risks or manner in which it
manages and measures.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets, except that the credit risks associated with certain
trade receivables is mitigated because they are secured
on properties in which the estimated fair value of the
properties exceeds the carrying amounts of the related
trade receivables respectively.

2022F FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDIEE AT

40. ®RITE (&)

b.

cREEEEEERKE

(#8)

iRk ()

(i) FIEREHE)
=4
& AR 58, T 50
EE 25 (20214 : 501@
B mABEEME
HMEFE  AIAEE
REE2022F12A31H
FFEZBRRE RS
W N AR
2,575,000 (20214 -
AREZ)  EBRAX
EEFEEBEMYZF
RER

74 4 [ 5 L 4 ) LR
S R T
BEAED -

FEERBRKRETG

202212 A31H K%2021412
A318 @ Tt kZSHEHEE
REBERSAEERB 22
BE  AEEMmEBHEESIE
BB ZZNEERR - Y
EEaMBRABRESSE
BERcHEEZEETE - &
EETFEEMIER R EMM
EREE  NEZHHESHE
EMENEERR  BHZS
EWRBERBENEERRE AT
B AENBEITABAAE
ROEBRIMEERER  EFR
BEMBIANAABEBARS
FEBGRIERBREEE o
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40.

174

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed once a
year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. In
addition, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in IFRS 9 to measure the credit loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for trade receivables that are credit-impaired
are assessed individually, the Group determines the ECL
on the remaining balances by using a provision matrix
grouped by common risk characteristic. As part of the
Group'’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
aging, repayment history and past due status to assess the
impairment for its customers in relation to its operation
because these customers consist of a large number of
small customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The estimated
loss rates are estimated based on historically observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort, such as economic data and
forecasts published by governmental bodies and industrial
information published by relevant institutions. At every
reporting date, the historically observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

40. ®RIITE (&)

b.

(ﬁgﬁ)ﬂ@l‘ﬁ%‘ﬁ BERBE
FE R KR E G ()

KEEFSHHIELEZXBIE
{4

SEEREEERR  AEH
ERECEZE—HABREE
EEERBELIZEES - NE
HEAMELH - AREKA
AEBEEFRERTHEER
FRFEEEAREAETEFPZE
EHE  UEF-REHNTP
EERERFFR - ZIMNBIRTE
MBI IR T - AR ERENIR
178 - BUCEEIER o Bl
5 ARREERREERR
EAER D © Us - NEED
BRANBIR I R EERIE W 2
B ERFFELZHERES
B - [RAEBERREENE
REER RS (BEE) 2
R 5 EWFIAIN - NEE R
12 AR 2 R R MR RO B AR
fEREE SRR TR HE S &8 -
ESAEBEERREIEN —
My NEBEERERAR
e ~ ERESL KA B KAF
HEPEALLHENEE
ARELEFPEEAEARH
REBRFHERNER  HRXR
BEP KA KGRI A B 8
RIAMBE N © HETBEXRRIE
EFARHEHAN 2 ELER
BHRMGE - ARBANHT
WER AN 1 BRI B 2 A/
EMEERHEHL AR - fINBUT
PR D 2 RO BUR AN TR R LA
KRAABBERM 2 TEER -
ES-—HEEY  ELEBRE
MR GESHFME - X EEA
BIEER 28 -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Notes receivables

The credit risk on notes receivables is minimal since the
settlement parties are reputable or high credit rating
company or state-owned enterprise.

Other receivables

For other receivables, management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The management believes that there
was no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL.

Financial assets at FVTOCI

Financial assets at FVTOCI were all bills receivables. Since
the issuers were reputable banks of good credit quality,
the management of the Group considered the credit risk of
these bank issued bills is insignificant and no impairment
was provided on them at the year end.

Amounts due from an associate and a joint venture

No allowances for credit losses was made to these balances
since the Group consider the probability of default is
minimal after assessing the counter-parties’ financial
background and creditability.

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks or financial institutions.

2022F FEWE | EiMKiR(PEDIEE AT

40. ®RITE (&)

b.

(ﬁgﬁ)ﬂ@l’ﬁ%ﬁ BEERBE
(SR R RE A ()
BRHRER

MR EH T BB EE TR
SERFOAAREELE -
BN E R AT EE
BRA o

R EW T
SLEMEKKIAME - BIEE
REBEHEETE  BELR
REBZEENRFEEERIAR
BEEBXHBZAREEN ¥
Ho A W KR 2 AT Y Bl 1 HE AT
EHRERIFS - BEEERR
BYIATERIAR - ZEHIAZ
EER R EABEZIEN - MA
SEERE+_EABEHAEE
BRI E R -

HRFEHARMBR2EB RS
eHEE
BRAFEFARMBEEREZ
TREEH/EYERITRRE -
HRETARERREZIER
T AEEERERARZER
TRITEBRZEARREE
BEARARFHERE LS

BER—RHELAR—EE
BRKE

R AKEENGEHF ZHB
ERRAEERABRENZH
REMEMR (R - AL 4 OB (E 1
o

RITHEER
HREF I REERFRITH

TREE  BRITERKRZEER
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. E@MITE(E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE R NBET (&)
Bank balances (continued) RITHER (FE)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment REE 2 AFEERB TR
comprises the following categories: HBEATER

Trade receivables,
bills receivables at

Internal FVTOCI and notes Other financial
credit rating Description receivables assets/other items
RHEBRE » L2AR
REFEARSEEA
Rtz &R ER
MEB{E SR i TRENERRE HitteMEE HER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
5 default not credit-impaired
A;ﬁ?f B HFHzEORBRBE FHEHEEEE TEAEREEER
- TEEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates  Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
but usually settle the amounts . . not credit-impaired
BELE BEBALERIBARRER  BEFE 2HRAGESRE T EARREESR
RmESRE —WREERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

information developed internally or
external resources

ATEE BBBANHE c EHNFSNE RN 2 PRBEEER FHEBEEESE
BRAR - EERRBEZM - VEEERE —WREERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the assetis  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B8 FRBERTEELREERE EHEBEEEE FHESEEER
—EERE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of

recovery
s FRBERNEBABABREABREE MHEBTRE MiHEBTE

BASEYEEREYR 2 A
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. ERITE(E)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREAREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE R NBETG (&)
Bank balances (continued) ERITHZER (#8)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of —F%fﬁﬁllzﬁ’i@%@ﬁﬁﬁzr
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL ERE - WAEETEBREEES
assessment: BaTE -

Internal
credit 12m or
rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

AERER +EA%

il RMRBERER REmeE
RMB'000  RMB’000

AR®FRT AR®TR

Financial assets at FVTOCI
AR BENFEREEZEHTA
Hifr e WESmEE

Bills receivables at FVTOCI 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL 257,848 257,848
UNARBENEAEZEHTA 1K\ > HEHEEER
Hibir B W EWGERTTR R

Financial assets at
amortised cost

RUSETHENENEE
Bank balances 26 Note 1 12m ECL 8,900,448 8,900,448
RITEEH BsE1 +TZEABEEE
&8
Other receivables 24 Low risk 12m ECL 165,922 165,922
H A e YRIR i +gfﬂﬁ%%§
718
Notes receivables 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL 210,734 210,734
BEZR KRB 2HRBEEEE
Trade receivables 24 Note 2 Lifetime ECL 546,147
(provision matrix)
RS REWGRIR FisE2 > HEHEEEE
(B fEEE)
Loss Lifetime ECL 115,826 661,973
- credit-impaired
[t ZHEHERER
—EERE
Amount due from an associate 25 Low risk 12m ECL 7,778 7,778
JRE LBt 2 R R N +TZEABEEE
&5
Amount due from a joint venture 25 Low risk 12m ECL 5,461 5,461
e S ERIE i +E?HE%EA
718
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40.

178

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.

Finan

cial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit

risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Bank balances (continued)

Internal
credit
rating
REEE
LR

Financial assets at FVTOCI
MR BESE BEBEIA
Hibir A WMmHemEE

40. ERTE(E)
b. %@ﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁ%&ﬁ%
= e BB R R E 5T AE ()
HiTaEER (1)

12m or lifetime ECL

Gross carrying amount

%

FEER RHAE
RMB'000

ARBTT

RMB'000
ARBTT

Bills receivables at FVTOCI 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL 760,936 760,936
AR BEFEEEEEHTA e 2 HTEHEEEE
Hipsr A SR UERT TR
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RESBFHENSREE
Bank balances 26 Note 1 12m ECL 7,495,358 7,495,358
RITEE S LiEEa TZEAEHEE
B8
Other receivables 24 Low risk 12m ECL 87,531 87,531
H el zIa 1K /& +EEHE%EE
18
Notes receivables 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL 337,379 337,379
[SEESE e +-@EABEMEE
&1
Trade receivables 24 Note 2 Lifetime ECL 804,122
(provision matrix)
RPEWGRIA FiaE2 > HEREEER
(BtfEoERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL 91,433 895,555
— credit-impaired
il > HEREREER
—ZERE
Amount due from an associate 25 Low risk 12m ECL 7,944 7,944
JEURBE & N B FRIR KR TEAEHEE
B8
Amount due from a joint venture 25 Low risk 12m ECL 6,217 6,217
JEW & & (b2 FRIR i T-EAEHEE
g
Notes: K1zt :

The counterparties are licensed banks with high credit ratings
and the risk of default on liquid funds is limited.

For trade receivables, the Group applied the simplified
approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for trade receivables that are credit-impaired
are assessed individually, the Group determines the ECL on
those items on a collective basis, grouped by common risk
characteristic.

1. HF 5 RIERRE B IFERT  RBER
ZEHRBRER o

2, BX DU 5 - DB B R
EERFE O BIE T EL B2 BB 5 B
BEBERAERE © B FBTLEBERRNES
JEWAAIBS) - REEZR AR B IF27—EE
EZERE ZEHEEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. ERITE(E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREAREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE R NBETG (&)

Provision matrix — debtors’ aging

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for
its customers in relation to its operation because these
customers consist of a large number of small customers
with common risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit
risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors that are credit-
impaired with gross carrying amounts of approximately
RMB115,826,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB91,433,000) were assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

PR IEAERE — B RERA 2 RRES
EAAEEFEERBERE 2 —
B o ANEEE LA RE W IR B2 AR
RTIHEEEREFPEBZR
B WWIERZEEPEEK
sAFHBERREBEHRZ PR
F o RURMEFIREASLIF
RIS A R BFIENEE S -
TREEEBERE2HBEHESR
EERN(CREEEERE)EH
TS EWFRIBE 2022412 A31
HK&2021F12 A31 BiR B
EEFEEERBZER - ©
2022F 12 A3 BEREAELY
B AR #115,826,0007T (2021
£ AR#91,433,0007T) 2 f&
R BERKREBELEH LR
HEERBSEREI TG

2022 2021

= —E-—F
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
FHERE ZTRMERE THEEXR IHENGUE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥%TTT ARETT
0-90 days 0%90H 9% 271,514 9% 428,671
91-180 days 91£2180H 26% 120,165 18% 162,027
181-365 days 181£365H 75% 103,790 64% 124,909
Over 365 days 365HM 74% 50,678 87% 88,515
546,147 804,122
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. ERITE(E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) ZER R NRET L (E)
Provision matrix — debtors’ aging (continued) FROFAERE — B TR 7 RRES (#5)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical HEHES R DRIEERFZEAZ
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors TEHIFRAZ FEPEBRELNR
and are adjusted for forward-looking information, which miket » WHBANLEAIKE
included the gross domestic product of the PRC and the R R 8 %% 1 BN A] R4S 2 AT RE 1E
industry sector index in the coming financial year, that BRELFAZE  BFFEREHNEH
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping NEEEENT —BHBREET
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant EIEE - AEBETHEMATE
information about specific debtors is updated. SR NRBRREEERBRIEZ
TERE R VEE ST -
As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided HE2022F12831HILFE -
RMB171,867,000 (2021: RMB223,513,000) impairment REBREBERERRE AR
allowance for trade receivables, based on the SEWFTEFREARE
provision matrix. In addition, impairment allowance of 171,867,0007T (20214 = AR
RMB115,826,000 (2021: RMB91,433,000) was made on 223,513,000 7T ) B (B %45 -
e debtors which are having financial difficulty. HEBBERERTERERR
BREEBAGTEREEFEAR
#115,826,0007T (20214 = A
[R91,433,0007T) °
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRIIFBREBEB T ED ER
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the RHEKFZBE L HESHEE
simplified approach. BB EE -
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2HEHY 2R
ERER EREBR
(FEERRE) (fRRR{E)
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT
As at 1 January 2021 20211 A1H8 168,675 78,175 246,850
Transfer to credit-impaired  {ZE & (72,989) 72,989 =
Impairment loss recognised B &R RE E B 158,937 38,397 197,334
Impairment loss reversed B OREEE (31,110) (36,000) (67,110)
Write-off G| - (62,128) (62,128)
As at 31 December 2021 7202112 A31H 22385113 91,433 314,946
Transfer to credit-impaired {EE & (25,286) 25,286 -
Impairment loss recognised B2 SRR EEE 92,984 18,849 111,833
Impairment loss reversed B [EFEEE (119,344) (22,914) (142,258)
Recover of write-off e - 5172 38172
As at 31 December 720225F12831H
2022 171,867 115,826 287,693
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Provision matrix — debtors’ aging (continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are
mainly due to:

2022
Increase/(decrease) in
lifetime ECL

—_——
— ——

EMRMERGE
B/ (&)

(not credit-
impaired)
(EEHERE)
RMB’000
AR®TT
Trade debtors with gross IFEAEARE
carrying amounts of 115,826,000 JT
RMB115,826,000 (20214 : AR¥E
(2021: RMB91,433,000) 91,433,000t )
defaulted and transferred 7% 5 fEU A
to credit-impaired ERWERE
ZERE (25,286)
Settlement in full of trade  BEESEHREBEAR
debtors with a gross #664,929,0007T
carrying amount of (20215 : AR¥
RMB664,929,000 685,783,0007T)
(2021: RMB685,783,0000 7 X FEWFIAE (119,344)
New trade receivables with ~ BEFIZ8(E AR
gross carrying amount of 495,469,0007T
RMB495,469,000 (2021%F : AR
(2021: RMB715,607,000) 715,607,0007T)
ZITER F WA 59,244

40.

TR T A (&)
b. (ﬁgﬁ)ﬂlﬂﬂﬁ%‘iﬂ BERBX
EE AR R R E T ()

FRIBIERE — ISR R Z RS (/7))

B E 5 RFRBREENES
TEEAN

2021
Increase/(decrease) in
lifetime ECL
—E-—F
> HEMREEEE
i,/ G )
(not credit-
impaired)
(EEERE)
RMB’000
ARETTT

(credit-
impaired)
(BiEHR{E)
RMB’'000
AR®TT

(credit
impaired)
(BEERE)
RMB’000
ARETT

25,286 (72,989) 72,989

(22,914) (31,110) (36,000)

- 91,091 =

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has recovered
RMB3,172,000 of the trade receivables that were written
off before.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group wrote off a trade
receivable with the gross amount of RMB62,128,000
when there was information indicating that the debtor is in
liquidation.

2022%F FEHE | EMKR(PE)EERAT

A2022F12A31H » REEW
BZRFFHEARZREERIAR
#3,172,0007T °

EREEMBREBEARENGE
REER  REBEHERFE
WskiE o 20214124318 -
A5t AR®62,128,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. ERITE(E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) ZER R NRET L (E)

182

Provision matrix — debtors’ aging (continued)

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowance
that has been recognised for other receivables.

FRIBIERE — ISR R Z RS (7R)

TRERTOHERSEMEYK
FIRKBENESE

Other

receivables

12m ECL

HtiFEd AR

EHEGR

RMB'000

ARETTT

As at 1 January 2021 202151 A1H 9,755
Impairment loss recognised ERERREEE 228
Impairment loss reversed R AEVERIEY 5t (204)
Write-off paskic! (228)
As at 31 December 2021 & 2022 #2021%12022512A31H 9,551

Liquidity risk REBESRK

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The directors of the Company monitors the
utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants. As at 31 December 2022, the Group and the
Company have available unutilised banking facilities of
RMB9,785 million (2021: RMB12,236 million).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities
based on agreed repayment terms. The tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest dates on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. The weighted average interest rate for
the variable-rate borrowings has been calculated using the
interest rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.

REERDESARMS - K
SEERREFEEEGRE

DWBNAEBLEE RS NE
%%FWK$ A ROREIR &

//ILE/&@J ?\/E i$§tT gb

BEEZBR  THEERE
KEH %z§2022¢12ﬂ31
B AXEBRAQG®KER
HRITIRIEFEE A AREEI7.85
Br(20214F : AR¥122.3618
JL) °

TREBETERFHFINEAEH
FITEEMBBERBRESOEF
H o TRIRBAKEAIAEAN
FEFABzZemABREREG
iﬁﬁﬁ%muifﬁﬁi ° Ti’%@%ﬂ
BERAERERE - ZEBE
2 DNAE g A R A & i H
MEERER ZFIRHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 7 2= Mt 5
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. €T A(E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREAREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRK(E)
Liquidity tables Vil k£

Weighted Less 3 months Total Carrying
average than to 15 Over undiscounted  amount at
interest rate 3 months 1 year years Syears  cashflows  31.12.2022
#2022%

i R ZfR 5 12ANA
FitE ZfA £ -E5f EflL GReREeR  <BECE
RMB'000  RWB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ABRTRT  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRFR  ABWTR  ARRTR

2022 2022

Trade and other payables RGREMENTE - 810,178 - - - 810,178 810,178
Amounts due to joint ventures  ERAEA$ETR - 19,567 - - - 19,567 19,567
Amount due to an associate EFBEcETE - 256 - - - 256 256
Variable interest rates borrowings ~ #5E& 2.96 - - 533,093 - 533,093 515,000
Fixed interest rate borrowings TERE 2.85 692,428 331,665 881,709 - 1,905,802 1,860,646
Lease liabilities HEak 4.76 2,829 6,915 29,364 134,450 173,558 94,879

1,525,258 338,580 1,444,166 134450 3442454 3,300,526

Weighted Less 3 months Total Carrying
average than 1-5 Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate 3 months years 5 years cashflows — 31.12.2021
20215

12A318

=R : —Enf RERE LEAEH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  AR¥TR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

2021 2021%
Trade and other payables RERAMENTE - 1,102,889 = 5 - 1102889 1,102,889
Amounts due to joint ventures  ERAZAEZE < 14,226 o - - 14,226 14,226
Fived interest rates borrowings &5 2.08 251,655 881,421 361,019 - 1,494,095 1,468,963
Lease liabilities HEEE 476 2,619 8,280 31,732 141,762 184,393 101,023
1,371,389 889,701 392,751 141,762 2,795,603 2,687,101
The amounts included above for variable interest rate MRS RS RE T 2 et F=RE
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject ZENEREHER - Al L IESTES R
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to BEZEENERTESTEINEE B8 o

those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of
the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 40. €T AE)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2HREREEEEREXE
policies (continued) (&)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are BEREMEEUAFETEZ
measured at fair value on a recurring basis rEEEREEATE
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair AEBRDEHMEERSRE
value at the end of each reporting period. The following HRIEAFETE - THRIEHR
table gives information about how the fair values of these FRNEETZEeREER
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation BRI FT A < M ERIT
technique(s) and inputs used). R AEE) 2 &R -

Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 31/12/2022 31/12/2021  hierarchy and key input(s)
20225 20214

ERIRE 12A31H 12A318 2FEER FHERTREERANRE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®TET

Unquoted fund investment 117,156 65,202  Level 2 Net asset value as published
cadly by the fund manager
e FFEERESRE E_R HeEB AR BEFE
Bills receivables at FVTOCI 257,848 760,936  Level 3 Discounted cash flow method
{ was used to capture the
B present value of the expected

future economic benefits
to be derived from the
ownership of bills receivables.

UAnEEFEHEZE) F= RAMRARE REAETER
STAR bR et /& FEUGERTTRIR AP EL
WIRTTRIE Z IR BE M IR

'TE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

41. GOVERNMENT GRANT INCOME

41.

BT BIUR A

2022 2021

—Eg——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TIT ARBTIT
Value-added tax refund (note a) REBRT (Mita) 23,443 13,684
Others (note b) Bl (HfiEb) 3,889 6,888
27,332 20,572

Notes: Bt -

a. Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group received refund of value-added a. TR FETF A BB A A gt AR B A o]
tax from the relevant PRC tax authorities for purchasing reusable W & FH T U R R A B R TR B2
materials. It was granted quarterly when the total reusable materials IEEFRF o % 8] 11T FHAT LS FE
consumed were more than 20% or 40% of the total materials 48 BB R B A B R T FE R R A8 BB 20 %
consumed for production. There were no other specific conditions B440% - BRI ERESIZ EF R -
attached to the grants and, therefore, the Group recognised the grants B B R A A IR F
upon approval being obtained from the relevant PRC authority. I TR B R JELS o ] B B i B 1E

b. The amount includes certain incentives to attract foreign investment b. P EEE I R T B AR S S

from the relevant PRC tax authorities in the form of profits tax refunds.

2022%F FEHE | EMKR(PE)EERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

42.

186

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 42.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

REEBELENREYR

TRAGAKERERELSNHAES
8 SRR MIFREEE - BELD
ELNBERRSREIAKRERE
BetsEFaleRnEXRTORAR
BRPHRDIRE

Lease Dividends Interest

liabilities Borrowings REVEL (S EVEL Total
HERR &R REftBe R FERHFIR ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®ETT ARETT ARETT ARETR

(note 31) (note 30)

(Hiz#31) (Hi£30)
At 1 January 2021 ®2021F1A18 104,435 2,972,159 - 1,765 3,078,359
Interest expenses (note 9) MEZH(H:29) 4,961 -3 - 46,954 51,915
_ﬂ?’vidends declared ENe) - - 834,432 - 834,432
- Financing cash flow BEEHRENE (9,949)  (1,503,196) (834,432) (47,541)  (2,395,118)
New lease entered HAEEMA 1,576 - - - 1,576
- At 31 December 2021 2021124318 101,023 1,468,963 - 1,178 1,571,164
Interest expenses (note 9) MEZH(H:E9) 4,743 e = 52,327 57,070
- Dividends declared BIRRE 4 - E 706,968 - 706,968
Financing cash flow BETYRERE (10,887) 906,683 (706,968) (49,901) 138,927
At 31 December 2022 1202251283180 94,879 2,375,646 - 3,604 2,474,129
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

43. SUBSIDIARIES 43. BT
(a) General Information of subsidiaries () MBAT—RER
Place of Class of
incorporation/ shares/ Paid up issued/ Proportion Proportion
registration/ registered  registered of ownership of voting
Name of subsidiaries operations capital capital : interest held power held Principal activities
MBI/ ER BERT/ FLTRHE L
MEARAHR E2hh FEROER ERES s RRRELA IERE
2022 2021 2022 2021
Z8_CF "T--F ZBTTE 5-F
Perfect Industrial Holdings Pte., Ltd. British Virgin Islands ~~ Ordinary 89,719,535 100%  100%  100%  100% Investment holding
FERTEE EER £T9,719535 REER

Oriental Incustrial Holdings Pte., Ltd. Republic of Singapore ~ Ordinary US$838,043,787 100%  100%  100%  100%  Investmentholding
("Singapore”)

R AAE Lk F71838,043,787 RERK
(T3 1)
Asia Continent Investment Holdings Singapore Ordinary 1S$288,846,900 100%  100%  100%  100% Investment holding
Pte., Ltd.
it LEk 571.288,846,900 RERHK
Shanghai Ya Li Cement PRC Registered 15$15,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
Products Co., Ltd.2 capital
HEENKERRERA: P LR 715,000,000 RERHERRL
Jiangxi Ya Dong Cement PRC Registered US$356,104,433 95% 95% 67% 67%  Manufacture and sale of cement
Corporation Ltd! captal products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
IRERKEARAF P EER £71356,104,433 RERHENEER  BE-
REEEHREEER
Wuhan Ya Dong Cement Co,, Ltd2 PRC Registered US$36,140,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
RERRIRARAR: hEl EER £7136,140,000 HEREEKRER  BH
RREEHREEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 43. MIBAT (&)
(@) General Information of subsidiaries (continued) (a) MBAT—RER(E)
Place of Class of
incorporation/ shares/ Paid up issued/ Proportion Proportion
registration/ registered  registered of ownership of voting
Name of subsidiaries operations capital capital interest held power held Principal activities
e BRET/ SO FOFH
RELREH BENE RN EREE g FRRELA IERH
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZE-CF _T--F ZBCCE T--F
Jiangyi Ya Li Transport Co., Ltd.! PRC Registered RMB12,500,000 97.4%  974% 100% 100%  Provision of transportation services
capital
IRGAEEERAT e Lk AR%12,500,0007T REEERY
Oriental Holding Co., Ltd.2 PRC Registered 15$204,191,400 100% 100%  100% 100%  Investment holding
.f'::’? ‘ capital
BRREARAT: 48 £k 7204191 400 RARR
Nanchang YélLConcrete Produce Ltd. PRC Registered RMB60,000,000 95% 95% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
§ i capital da '
BEBIEREROT T el AREOO0OE yERHEEL
Nanchang Yadong Cement Co,, Ltd.! PRC Registered RMB90,000,000 125%  725% 67% 67%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
BETRKEARAA LG Lk AR90,000,0007 HERBEKRER AR
Blap e
Hubei Yadong Cement Co,, Ltd 2 PRC Registered U5$154,800,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furace
slag powder and related
products
RETFKERRAF hEl EEk 371154,800,000 HERHENEER  BH-

SEEBHRIAES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

43. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 43. HEBAR (&)
(@) General Information of subsidiaries (continued) (a) MBAT—RER(E)
Place of Class of
incorporation/ shares/ Paid up issued/ Proportion Proportion
registration/ registered  registered of ownership of voting
Name of subsidiaries operations capital capital interest held power held Principal activities
el &R/ #Raf/ FOFRGHE g <N
RELFER o g FisRfhEN ERES g FRRELA IERH
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZBCCE _T-o-F ZBCCE CTo-E
Sichuan Yadong Cement Co., Ltd.2 PRC Registered 15$368,340,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
B ERAERRA R el EER £7368,340,000 HERHENEER  BH-
Bl
Chengdu Yali Cement Products Co,, Ltd.2  PRC Registered U5$4,100,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
capital products, clinker, blast-furace
slag powder and related
products
RATKRERERAR: hE LRk %74,100,000 HERBEKRER  BE-
REEEHRAEER
Huanggang Yadong Cement Co., Ltd2 PRC Registered US$86,170,000 100%  100%  100%  100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furace
slag powder and related
products
ERDRKRERAT el R 786,170,000 HERKENEER  BH
REEEHRATER
Hubei Ya Li Transport Co,, Ltd.? PRC Registered RIMB13,000,000 100%  100%  100%  100% Provision of transportation Services
capital
M EHERER LA i LRk AR13,000,0007 RUESRE
Sichuan Ya Li Transportation Co,, Ltd.? PRC Registered 543,500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Provision of transportation services
capital
) IEHE R AR AR hEl LER £713,500,000 RERRY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

43. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 43. MIBAT (&)
(@) General Information of subsidiaries (continued) (a) MBAT—RER(E)
Place of Class of
incorporation/ shares/ Paid up issued/ Proportion Proportion
registration/ registered  registered of ownership of voting
Name of subsidiaries operations capital capital interest held power held Principal activities
e #RET/ FORRHEE FOFH
RELREH BENE FERAER EREE e FRRRLA IERK
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZE-CE "Z--5 ZBICE “Z-o-F
Yangzhou Ya Dong Cement Co., Ltd.? PRC Registered 15$35,530,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
AMERARARA R hEl LB £735,530,000 RERBENEER BH-
by SN RS
Sichuan Yali Cement Products Co,, [td2 ~ PRC Registered 15$3,300,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
; g capital
LIk ESEER L i Lk 2733000, SERAERAL
Wuhan Ya Li Cement Products Co,, Ltd2 ~ PRC Registered RMBﬁ0,00ﬁ;OOO 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of concrete
Capital
RECNKRERARAR kT Lk ARE60,000,00070 HERBERRT
Wuhan Yaxin Cement Co., Ltd 3 PRC Registered RMB90,000,000 90% 90% 67% 67%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furace
slag powder and related
products
RECEKRERAR: el Lk AR%90,000,0007T ERBEKEER 2
REEEHRATER
Taizhou Yadong Building Material Co,, Ltd2  PRC Registered USD16,000,000 100%  100%  100%  100% Saleand storage of cement
Capital product
FMEFRIBRAT: hEl LEk $7116,000,000 HERERKEER
Sichuan Lanfeng Cement Co., Ltd.2 PRC Registered RMB600,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
MRSk EARAR: el Lak AE® HERBEKRER AR
600,000,000 REEEHRAER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

43. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 43. B AT(E&E)
(@) General Information of subsidiaries (continued) (a) MBAT—RER(E)
Place of Class of
incorporation/ shares/ Paid up issued/ Proportion Proportion
registration/ registered  registered of ownership of voting
Name of subsidiaries operations capital capital interest held power held Principal activities
el &R/ #Raf/ FOFRGHE LA
MEAEEHR E2hE FEROEN ERES RRRELA IERE
2022 2022 2021
ZE-C g
Sichuan Lanfeng? PRC Registered RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of cement
capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
I RERIARARR hEl Lk AE® 100% 100%  BERESKEER BH-
20,000,007 REEEHRAER
Ruichang Yadong New Material Co., Ltd." ~ PRC Registered RMB2,000,000 95% 100%  Sale and storage of cement
capital product
REERAMHARAT G EER AR2,000,0007 HERLRENH
Jiangling Yadong Building Materials PRC Registered RMB280,000,000 85% - Manufacture and sale of cement
Cement Co., Ltd3 capital products, clinker, blast-furnace
slag powder and related
products
IRSRRIRARAR hEl LER AE# BERBENRER BH &
280,000,007 EREnLAEER

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

3 This company was established in the PRC in the form of
foreign-invested enterprise.

i This subsidiary is directly held by the Company and it held
Oriental Industrial Holding Pte., Ltd. and Asia Continent
Investment Holding Pte., Ltd. of 100% which indirectly held
the remaining subsidiaries.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

2022%F FEHE | EMKR(PE)EERAT

F ZRBRF BRI BINEER
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1 ZAT RN (R B %
BRAREERE  #HRTHE
X B #1 100% i # 2 Oriental
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

43. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 43. BT (&)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEEARFERERZIE
have material non-controlling interests EME D RFE
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREREBEREEFRER
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling ZAREBIFEEENBARE
interests:

Place of Proportion of Proportion

Incorporation ownership of voting right held by

and principal interest held by Profit allocated to Accumulated

place of non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests interests

ERBINER FERNEEE FRREERE ARG it

BELR4AH TEEEHE ZHRREEL ZRRRLA ikl i
2022 2021 2022 A 2022 2021 2022 2021
ZB-CF -Z--% ZBCCE -F--% IZBCIE -E--& IZBLZE —F--k
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT ARMTR ARETR

Jiangxi Ya Dong Cement PRC 5% 5% 33% 3% 23,085 54662 337,016 313931
' Corporation Ltd. (note) :
oy IEGRAREROAMZ) 4B

i ] v ]
: i
Individually immaterial subsidiaries b (19,165) (1,666) 66,389 87439
with non-controlling interests
BEFAREL R EENEAR

3,920 529% 403,405 401370
Note:  Summarised financial information in respect of the above Bl : BBt E A SR
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out BB G EERE
below. The summarised financial information below represents BHET o X TR EER B
amounts before intragroup eliminations. BAYHEEFECZHZ %

&8 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

43. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 43. MBAT (&)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b) BEEARFEREZZIER
that have material non-controlling interests BB ARFE(E)

(continued)
Jiangxi Ya Dong Cement Corporation Ltd.

SIARKEHRA R

2022 PAOYA
ol Sk - —ET-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Current assets MEEE 3,968,751 4,332,703
Non-current assets IEmMENEE 3,402,279 3,605,008
Current liabilities mEIAE (589,445) (1,624,635)
Non-current liabilities ETBEE (41,259) (34,454)
Equity attributable to owners RARIEE ANEEER
of the Company 6,403,310 5,964,691
Non-controlling interests IR 2 337,016 313,931
Revenue g 4,276,029 5,172,820
Expenses 53 (3.814,325) (4,079,571)
Profit and total comprehensive F R F
income for the year 461,704 1,093,249
Profit and total comprehensive RAREE AEERT
income attributable to owners
of the Company 438,619 1,038,587
Profit and total comprehensive R R 2R PR % A
income attributable to non-
controlling interests 23,085 54,662
Dividends paid to non-controlling  [M3EE AR E 2R AR .
interests - 20]522.5
Net cash inflow from operating KERENATSIR & R
activities 604,980 986,210
Net cash inflow from investing HEIEEFE
activities ReIFEE 345,835 425,313
Net cash outflow from financing B EB TR S R
activities (462,865) (81,804)
Net cash inflow BeRAFEE 487,950 1,329,719
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 73R < 13-

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %2022 12 A31H IEFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. BEBARRB)MBARRERZ
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY =
Information about the statement of financial position of the BEARRNREAREE BHBAR
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: WK ERBIE
2022 2021
—=E=-
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSET ERBEE
Unlisted investment in subsidiary KB AR ZIELETRE 8,231,182 8,231,182
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Interest receivables FELTF B, 18 526
Dividend receivable FEW A A 196,386 416,229
Financial assets at FVTPL AR EE B EE ST
AZHiEsmemEE 27 117,156 65,202
Bank balances and cash RITERR 26 15,158 718,906
. 328,718 1,200,863
~ CURRENT LIABILITIES mEnARE
Borrowings — due within one year TER= 30 1,014,000 1,118,299
Other payables Hib e oE 3,673 1,207
Loans from subsidiaries (note) WEARIEE (Haz) 853,764 1,761,942
1,871,437 2,881,448
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mE(RE)EE
BE (1,542,719) (1,680,585)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT  &FE#(E
LIABILITIES =54 bR 6,688,463 6,550,597
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FmENARE
Borrowings — due after one year EE 30 1,361,646 350,664
NET ASSETS HERE 5,326,817 6,199,933
CAPITAL AND RESERVES AR EE
Share capital A% A 34 140,390 140,390
Reserves e 5,186,427 6,059,543
TOTAL EQUITY REHE 5,326,817 6,199,933
Note:  The loans from subsidiaries were unsecured, interest bearing at 2.47% Wit : WEBRFIEERESELAE  KEFIF
and 2.62% (2021: 2.28% and 3.31%) per annum and repayable on 247% 22.62% (2021 F : 2.28% =
demand. 3.31% )i B RBIZE(EE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 43 & B 753k < M1 zF
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z=2022% 12 A31H L F &

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Movement in the Company'’s reserves

Share
premium
B fRislR
RMB'000

ARETIT
(Note)
(Hiat)

44.

BEAR QB MBRRRERZ
BRI (&)
RE2H

Other
reserve

FLfth Gk
RMB’000

ARETTT

Retained
earnings Total
RE&F &t
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETET

At 1 January 2021 M2021F1A1H 1,308,721 2,073,316 3,167,561 6,549,598
Profits and total FREF &

comprehensive income FAREEWALE

for the year - - 310,606 310,606
Dividends recognised as ERED KL

distribution (note 13) WRE(Hr5t13) (800,661) - - (800,661)
At 31 December 2021 202151 H18 508,060 2,073,316 3,478,167 6,059,543
Loss and total comprehensive 4 RE18 I & A2 E A AN

expense for the year pabc] - - (168,033) (168,033)
Dividends recognised as REDIRZ

distribution (note 13) WRB(BiE13) (508,060) - (197,023)  (705,083)
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12A31H - 2,073,316 3,113,111 5,186,427

Note:  In accordance with the Cayman Islands Companies Law, share premium Kzt : RIEFEHERNGL  RGHEZLD

is one of the Company'’s reserves available for distribution.

2022%F FEHE | EMKR(PE)EERAT
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Financial Summary

MBEEE

RESULTS ¥

For the year ended 31 December

H#E12A310LLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

—T-)\F T-NF —ZT-TF —T—_—F IZBZZ
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT AREFTT ARETT AER®TR

Revenue Wk 11,330,347 12,608,716 10,823,753 11,755,908 9,614,330
Profit before tax IR 3,383,150 4,350,080 3,686,761 2,564,771 689,001
Income tax expense PS> (882,360)  (1,119,984) (936,352) (743,468) (265,009)
Profit for the year FEREF 2,500,790 3,230,096 2,750,409 1,821,303 423,992
Attributable to: AT AR
Owners of the Company RATIER A 2,420,839 3,147,340 2,668,708 1,768,307 420,072
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR RS 79,951 82,756 81,701 52,996 3,920

2,500,790 3,230,096 2,750,409 1,821,303 423,992

ASSETS'AND LIABILITIES EEREE

At 31 December
®+=-BA=+—8H
2020 pAA 2022

—E-EF —T-—F -
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AER¥TT

Total assets BERE 20,722,346 23,985,754 21,634,251 21,416,855 21,146,284
Total liabilities BfEEE 8,280,000 9,342,760 5,103,023 3,743,015 3,755,420
12,442,346 14,642,994 16531228 17,673,840 17,390,864

Equity attributable to: VAR AL REfh iR -
Owners of the Company AL AR A 12,087,909 14,263,801 16,149,083 17,272,470 16,987,459
Non-controlling interests IR 354,437 379,193 382,145 401,370 403,405

12,442,346 14,642,994 16,531,228 17,673,840 17,390,864
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